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Aurizon is a gold producer with a growth strategy focused on developing 
its existing projects in the Abitibi region of north-western Quebec, 
Canada, one of the world’ s most favourab le mining jurisdictions and 
prolific gold and base metal regions, and by increasing its asset base 
through accretive transactions. Aurizon`s corporate office is located 
in Vancouver, British Columbia and its operations office is located in        
Val-d`Or, Quebec. Aurizon shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange 
under the symbol “ARZ” and on the NYSE Amex under the symbol “AZK”. 

Cover Photo: Children of Aurizon employees
Inside Photo: Employees and contractors at Casa Berardi Mine 
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Sylvain Lambert  & Éric Dubé, contractors at Casa Berardi 
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President’s Message

Dear Valued Shareholders and Stakeholders,

It has now been almost a year since I began 
my role as President and CEO of Aurizon 
Mines Ltd.  The deep-rooted values that drew 
me to the Company are also the values that  
continue to be fundamental to the success of  
Aurizon. 
 
I believe that the attributes of achieving success 
are having a strong and unencumbered  
balance sheet, solid positive cash flow, a great 
corporate culture and good people, a rock  
solid reputation and a producing mine in one 
of the world’s most mine-friendly jurisdictions. 
Aurizon embodies each of these.

The Company has 1 1 properties in Quebec  
including Casa Berardi, our operating gold 
mine, the Joanna property , where we expect  
to complete a feasibility study by mid-year  
2012, and a growing project pipeline with  
properties at various stages of exploration and 
evaluation.

My predecessors have established a very solid 
platform from which we are now executing 
a growth strategy to de-risk and become an  
intermediate gold producer. With $213 million 
in cash at year end, continued strong cash  
flow from Casa Berardi into the future, and an 
undrawn $50 million credit facility, Aurizon has 
the flexibility to fund capital and exploration 
projects whilst maintaining a strong financial 
position. 

We will continue to fund organic growth as  
we have been doing up to now , and we will  
also be on the lookout for potential acquisition 
opportunities that may complement our 
organic growth profile.

2011 was clearly a great year for us. Gold  
production at Casa Berardi was up 16 per cent 
compared to 2010, producing 163,845 ounces 
for the year, at very respectable unit operating 
costs of $537/oz. W e have been investing in  
equipment and infrastructure to achieve and 
sustain a mining rate of 2,000 tonnes per day. 
We will be making a significant investment 
at Casa Berardi to further develop the lower 
levels and new lateral areas of the West Mine 
to maintain a solid production profile going 
forward. Three major capital projects will be in 
progress at Casa Berardi this year, with a total 
estimated expenditure of nearly $80 million,  
fully funded from operating cash flow.

We are also investing $9.4 million in continuing 
to explore at Casa Berardi in 2012, $3.6 million 
in exploration at Joanna and $9.7 million to  
actively explore our other Quebec exploration 
properties and create further value for our  
shareholders.

The challenges that face us are recognizing 
that we need to grow our operations to more  
than just one cash flowing asset, and we need 
to ensure that we have the people who can  
help us do that.

Our Casa Berardi mine is a wonderful asset,  
but it alone will not support our ambition to  
become a mid-size gold producer . We need 
more cash-flowing assets. By the same token, 
we need to have the right people in place to find 
and develop new mines. This is a challenge  
facing the entire mining industry , with many  
experienced professionals nearing retirement 
and too few mid-career people to fill their 
places. But I believe that our corporate culture 

PRESIDENT’S
MESSAGE TO 
SHAREHOLDERS

George Paspalas
President & CEO
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President’s Message

and our prospects as a mining company will  
not only help us retain the excellent team  
we now have, but also attract the new talent  
we will need in the years to come. Looking  
ahead, I see Quebec remaining among our  
best prospects for growth simply because it  
is a mining friendly jurisdiction, with a great  
geological endowment. Beyond that, we 
will also look at the rest of Canada, North  
America, Mexico and some other regions in 
the rest of the Americas.

Just as important is the need to meet social,  
environmental and economic performance,  
and for Aurizon Mines having a licence to  
operate means far more than just meeting  
basic regulatory requirements. 

I can undeniably say that it has been a  
busy year on all fronts including global  
development.  It is with pride that I introduce  
Aurizon’s first integrated report aligned with 
the GRI reporting framework. This report 
represents one of the many concrete actions  
that our team has worked hard to accomplish. 
We see this report as our first public step to 
disclose our overall performance.

Over the next years, one of our objectives will 
be to continue to strengthen our data collection 
processes in order to introduce additional 
performance indicators in our following  
reports. Our stakeholders have told us the  
type of information they are expecting us to  
disclose and we have heard the message. 
 
We recognize that the support from our local  
communities is critical to our success. An 
upcoming milestone will be the completion  

of the feasibility study for Joanna. W e are 
approaching stakeholders’ participation and 
public consultation with enthusiasm because 
we are convinced that this process will  
enhance Joanna’s regional contribution.

Mining companies today simply can’t ignore 
the realities of the rapidly changing social and 
financial dynamics of the industry. We have an 
obligation to our shareholders to steward their 
investments to the best of our ability, but if we 
don’t consider our impact on the environment 
and the communities in which we operate, we 
are not meeting that obligation.

While Aurizon has for several years based its  
operations on a Global Development Policy 
Mission Statement and 12 Key Principles  
designed to promote sustainable development 
in the performance of the company’ s mining 
activities, this year, we have included our first 
GRI Global Development Report as part of  
this report.

Aurizon is committed to its 12 key principles 
of sustainability; it’s what our joint venture 
partners tell us, it’s what analysts and investors 
say, and it’s what our staf f experience every  
day.

Mining today requires stronger social  
responsibility: respecting investors’ objectives, 
such as production targets, economic returns  
and adherence to regulatory requirements.  
But it also demands that operators meet  
higher environmental standards and pay more 
attention to community needs – and that is  
what sustainability means to Aurizon.

“I believe that the attributes of achieving success are having a strong 
and unencumbered balance sheet, solid positive cash flow, a great 
corporate culture and good people, a rock solid reputation and a 

producing mine in one of the world’s most mine-friendly jurisdictions. 
Aurizon embodies each of these.” 

George Paspalas
President & CEO

I firmly believe that gold will be a strong 
performer over the medium to long term and  
that Aurizon will benefit greatly from that 
performance. 

I am confident that Aurizon will continue to 
meet its milestones in 2012 as it moves closer 
to its goal of becoming an intermediate gold 
producer.

Our mission statement is to maximize  
shareholder value through the responsible  
growth and development of multiple gold  
assets.

In closing I want to thank the entire Aurizon 
team for making this a great Company , I 
would also like to extend my gratitude to our  
Chairman, David Hall, and to the Board of 
Directors for their support and advice over the 
past seven months, and I thank our valued 
shareholders for their support and conviction 
in investing in Aurizon.

March 15th, 2012
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Chairman of the Board’s Message

Dear Fellow Shareholders
 

2011 was another strong year for gold and 
for Aurizon. Gold reached new highs and 
Aurizon achieved record gold production, 
record earnings and record cash flow.

As we look into the future, the fundamentals 
for gold should continue to be strong as the 
Euro zone continues to deal with debt issues 
and fiscal imbalances, and the US economy 
struggles to recover .  This will provide 
continuing stimulus for strong investment 
demand, particularly from Asia, and central 
bank purchasing from those nations that are 
underweight gold reserves. 

Aurizon has built a strong foundation to 
capitalize on opportunities presented 
by buoyant gold prices, but relatively 
undervalued equities compared to previous 
gold bull markets. We have a strong balance 
sheet, sound production base, excellent 
exploration portfolio, strong management 
team and dedicated workforce.  W e are 
delighted to welcome George Paspalas as 
our new Chief Executive Officer. George 
brings extensive executive and operational 
experience to Aurizon, and his successful 
track record and leadership skills will be 
invaluable in building our growth profile, 
establishing new opportunities and 
capitalizing on other initiatives.

We are pleased with Aurizon’s achievements 
thus far, but are also aware of the many 
challenges that lie ahead for the mining 
industry. In addition to traditional issues, 
such as environmental and health and safety 
standards, one of our key priorities will be the 
social acceptability of our mining projects. 
We will remain attentive to our stakeholders 
and endeavour to set environmental and 
social performance objectives that are 
relevant and that will result in concrete 
and tangible actions.  We believe firmly in 
supporting the communities in which we 
operate, respecting the environment, and 
treating our employees and families with 
dignity.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge our 
directors for their contribution and wise 
counsel, our employees for their dedication, 
and our shareholders and other stakeholders 
for their continuing support.  We are well 
positioned to achieve the next phase of 
Aurizon’s growth and an exciting future 
awaits !

David P. Hall 
Chairman of the Board
March 15th, 2012

 

CHAIRMAN OF 
THE BOARD’S  
MESSAGE TO 
SHAREHOLDERS

David P. Hall 
Chairman of the Board
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Gold Trends

Gold price volatility continued in 201 1, reacting to frequent changes in investor risk 
sentiments.  The price of gold started the year at US$1,325 per ounce, peaked at US$1,920 
per ounce in early September and finally closed out the year at US$1,520. 

The outlook for gold in 2012 remains very positive in an environment of continued European 
sovereign debt issues, concerns about US government debt levels, volatile commodity 
prices, and low interest rates.  In addition, central bank purchases of gold may continue 
as a means of diversification from the US dollar.  World economic recoveries will also be 
supportive for gold jewellery demand.  

Gold prices are likely to be very volatile in 2012 given the dramatic increases that have 
occurred in gold prices in recent years.
 

Ian Walton
Executive Vice President and CFO       
  

GOLD
TRENDS

Ian Walton
Executive Vice President and CFO      
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Financial Highlights

FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS 

2011 2010 2009*
Production Achievements
Gold production (ozs) 163,845 141,116 159,261
Gold sales (ozs) 165,250 139,950 159,275
Ore milled (tonnes) 698,123 722,745 688,676

Financial Results (Cad$ 000s)
Total revenue $259,999 $178,743 $175,560
Net Profit 43,931 17,240 36,706
Operating cash flow 121,297 50,020 71,822

Financial Position (Cad$ 000s)
Cash and cash equivalents 213,486 139,341 113,098
Working capital 197,810 152,550 101,666
Total assets 418,381 336,543 323,293
Long-term obligations - - 705

Share Data
Earnings per share $0.27 $0.10 $0.23
Weighted average shares outstanding 162,623,135 160,249,688 156,265,947
Shares issued and outstanding – December 31 163,073,027 162,145,702 159,008,607

CONVERSION TABLE:  
1 METRE (M) = 3.2808 FEET (FT), 1 HECTARE (HA) = 2.4711 ACRES
1 KILOMETRE (KM) = 0.6214 MILE, 1 GRAM (G) = 0.0322 TROY OUNCE (OZ)
1 TONNE (T) – 1.1023 TONS (T), 1 GRAM/TONNE (G/T) = 0.0292 OUNCE/TON (OZ/T)

*DATA FOR 2009 IS PRESENTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH PREVIOUS CANADIAN GAAP AND IS NOT REQUIRED TO BE RESTATED TO IFRS
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Investor Information

KEY STATISTICS   - As of December 31, 2011

Shares Issued 163,073,027

Fully Diluted 173,983,052

Cash Balances $213 million

No Debt

Unhedged

Market 
Capitalization $918 million

52 week range: Cdn TSX $4.87 - $7.58
US NYSE Amex $4.57 -$7.77

Aurizon  Mines Ltd. 2011 Trading 

 

AZK:4.61 HUI: 476.33

NYSE AMEX: AZK 5-Year Chart vs. HUI (AMEX Gold Bugs Index)
Week of Mar 19, 2012

 

ARZ.TO: 4.56 SPTTGD: 337.01

TSX: ARZ 5-Year Chart Vs. TSX Global Gold Index
Week of Mar 19, 2012

INVESTOR
INFORMATION
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Name of Section 

FINANCIAL

2011 HIGHLIGHTS

CASA BERARDI MINE

JOANNA PROPERTY

CORPORATE DEVELOPMENTAWARDS

Record GOLD production of 

163,845 ounces

$213 million                                   Cash $260 million                                     Revenues

No Debt
$121.3 million                                   operating cash flow72% increase in operating profit margin

US$50 million revolving credit facility – untapped

Measured and indicated 
mineral resources increased 81% to 
1,495,000 ounces of gold

Drilling confirms the continuity 
and potential extension of the 123 Zone

Hosco In-Pit Measured and Indicated 
Mineral Resources increased by 
31% 

Drilling Programs Continue to Confirm the 
Continuity and Extension of the Heva and 
Hosco Mineralization

Option agreement signed with 
Tres-Or Resources on the Duvay 
property situated in the Abitibi 
region of Quebec, which is in close 
proximity to the Duverny property

The Department of Health 
Commission and Safety (CSST) 
awarded Aurizon two Innovation Awards for developing 
an adjustable handle with Dumas Contracting and 
designing a safe removable tire cage with LJL Mécanique

Mineral reserves replenished in 2011, 
totalling 1,459,000 ounces of 
gold  as at December 31, 2011
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Name of Section 

Drilling confirms the continuity 
and potential extension of the 123 Zone

PLANS AND OBJECTIVES 
2011 Plans & Objectives 2011 Accomplishments - Outcome 2012 Plans & Objectives
Casa Berardi
•	Achieve	165,000	ounces	gold	production •	Achieved	163,845	ounces	–	a	record! •	Achieve	155,000	–	160,000	ounces	gold	production
•	Perform	mining	activities	in	accordance	with	
safe	and	well	planned	mining	practices,	in	
compliance	with	all	appropriate	regulations,	and	
the	highest	environmental	standards

•	Introduced	the	“Observe,	Control	and	Act	program”	
to	build	awareness	amongst	our	employees	and	
contractors

•	This	initiative	is	ongoing	and	our	objective	is	to	continue	
to	improve	our	performance	to	be	better	than	the	Quebec	
mining	industry	average

•	Improve	Health	&	Safety	performance,	by	
achieving	a	reduction	in	the	severity	and	
frequency	of	lost	time	accidents

•	Casa	Berardi	supervisors	were	recognized	by	Quebec	
Mining	Association	for	achieving	a	total	of	100,000	and	
50,000	hours	respectively	without	lost	time	accidents

•	This	initiative	is	ongoing

•	Commence	Shaft	deepening	at	west	mine	in	
accordance	with	development	plan	and	budget

•	Contract	for	shaft	deepening	awarded	in	Q1	and	
commenced	in	Q2	to	provide	access	to	the	lower	
portion	of	the	113,	118	and	123	Zones

•	Continue	shaft	deepening	at	the	west	mine	to	reach	the	
ultimate	depth	of	1,080	metres	by	Q1	2013

•	Improve	equipment	utilization	and	availability •	New	equipment	was	purchased	and	the	underground	
maintenance	area	was	completed	

•	Efficiency	of	equipment	utilization	and	availability	has	
been	increased,	additional	equipment	to	be	purchased

•	Maintain	mineral	reserves	and	upgrade	quality	
of	mineral	resources

•	Mineral	reserves	were	replenished	and	measured	&	
indicated	resources	increased

•	Maintain	mineral	reserves	and	upgrade	quality	of	mineral	
resources

Exploration
•	Complete	phase	1	drill	programs	on	Marban	
and	Fayolle	and	complete	mineral	resource	
estimates

•	Phase	1	drilling	completed	on	both	Marban	and	Fayolle •	Phase	2	programs	have	commenced	with	34,000	metres			
of	drilling	planned	for	Marban	and	7,000	metres	planned	
for	Fayolle	
•	Resource	estimates	to	be	completed	on	both	properties	

•	Initiate	drill	programs	to	test	targets	on	Patris,	
Opinaca,	Wildcat	and	Rex	south	properties

•	Drill	programs	initiated	on	the	properties	 •	Drill	results	are	to	be	reviewed	and	continuation	of	
exploration	programs	are	planned

Joanna 
•	Complete	a	final	feasibility	study	on	the	Hosco	
deposit

•	Final	feasibility	study	on	Hosco	was	delayed	and	
additional	studies	and	cost	optimization	plans	were	
initiated	in	August

•	Feasibility	study	work	on	the	Hosco	deposit	continues	
with	completion	of	the	study	anticipated	by	mid-year

•	Initiate	permitting	process,	including	submission	
of	all	required	applications,	maintaining	
excellent	relationships	with	all	stakeholders

•	Permitting	delayed	until	feasibility	and	environmental	
impact	studies	are	complete
•	Core	list	of	stakeholders	developed
•	Working	with	a	collaborator	to	assist	in	connecting	with	
the	First	Nations	communities	in	our	operating	areas

•	Permitting	will	be	initiated	once	the	feasibility	and	
environmental	studies	are	completed	
•	Continue	to	solidify	our	relationships	with	our	
stakeholders

•	Drilling	to	evaluate	the	potential	of	the	Heva	
deposit	and	complete	updated	mineral	resource	
estimate

•	In	June,	an	updated	mineral	resource	estimate	was	
completed	for	the	Hosco	deposit
•	In	August,	assay	results	were	released	from	the	
exploration	and	drilling	program	of	the	Heva	and	Hosco	
sectors

•	$3.6	million	exploration	program	in	progress,	comprising	
24,500	metres	of	drilling	in	the	area	of	the	Heva	deposit	
to	evaluate	the	surface	potential	along	a	2.5	kilometre	
stretch	of	the	Cadillac	fault	west	of	the	Hosco	deposit

Corporate Development
•	Pursue	corporate	opportunities	and	property	
acquisitions	or	other	transactions	to	increase	
mineral	resource	and	reserve	base

•	Option	agreement	signed	with	Tres-Or	Resources	on	
the	Duvay	property	in	the	Abitibi	region	of	Quebec

•	Continue	to	focus	on	organic	growth	within	the	Abitibi	
regions	whilst	evaluating	accretive	opportunities	within	
the	Americas	to	enhance	reserve	and	production	profile
•	Target	exploration	projects	that	offer	better	opportunities	
to	reach	advanced	stage	development	within	a	1	to	3	year	
period

Note:  For further information on the above, please refer to the mineral properties section of this report that starts on page 12.
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Photo Credit: Sharon Piggott
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Mineral Properties 

QUICK FACTS
PRODUCING MINE 
(WITH FURTHER EXPLORATION UNDERWAY)

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY

CASA BERARDI JOANNA
Ownership: 100% Aurizon 
Location: 95 km north of La Sarre, Quebec
Mineral: Gold
Mining: Underground and planned open pit
2011 Mineral reserves: 1.5 million ounces
2011 Measured and indicated resources: 1.5 million ounces
2011 Inferred mineral resources: 0.6 million ounces 
2012 Estimated gold production: 155,000 - 160,000 ounces
2012 Estimated cash costs: US$600 per ounce

Ownership: 100% Aurizon 
Location: 20 km east of Rouyn-Noranda, Quebec
Mineral: Gold
Mining: Planned open pit
2011 Mineral reserves:1.0 million ounces
2011 Measured and indicated resources: 2.245 million ounces*
2011 Inferred mineral resources: 0.3 million ounces
2012: Feasibilty study expected mid 2012
* Inclusive of reserves

FAYOLLE
Ownership: Aurizon can earn up to 65%
Location: Destor-Porcupine fault in the Abitibi region, Quebec
Mineral: Gold
2011 Drill results: Best results included 14.9 g/t over 30.0 metres 
and 60.0 g/t over 6.0 metres 
2012 Exploration planned: 7,000 metres of drilling with the 
objective of testing the lateral and down-dip extension
2012 Plans: Updated mineral resource estimate 

OPINACA-WILDCAT
Ownership: Aurizon can earn up to 65%
Location: Eleanore gold camp in the Opinaca region, Quebec
Mineral: Gold
2011 Exploration: 5,000 metres drilling on Opinaca and 2,000 
metres drilling on Wildcat
2012: Evaluating drill results and data

DUVERNY
Ownership: 100% Aurizon 
Location: Centered on a mafic volcanic belt associated with the 
Chicobi fault corridor, near Amos, Quebec
Mineral: Gold
2011: Exploration program: Geophysics, prospecting & soil 
surveys  
2012 Plans: Exploration program  to include 6,000 metres of 
drilling using shallow holes to test gold in soil anomalies 

EXPLORATION PROPERTIES

MARBAN
Ownership: Aurizon can earn up to 65%
Location: Malartic gold camp in the Abitibi region, Quebec
Mineral: Gold
2011 Drill results: Best results included 9.8 g/t over 5.8 metres 
and 906.2 g/t over 2.9  metres
2012 Exploration planned: 2nd phase to include 34,000 metres 
of drilling
2012 Plans: Updated mineral resource estimate

REX SOUTH 
Ownership: Aurizon can earn up to 65%
Location: 145 km southeast of Puvirnituq, Quebec
Mineral: Gold, Silver, Copper, Tungsten
2011 Exploration results: Currently being reviewed 
2012 Exploration planned: Evaluating and prioritizing numerous 
prospects for future drilling 

PATRIS
Ownership: Aurizon can earn up to 60%
Location: Cadillac gold camp in the Abitibi region, Quebec
Mineral: Gold
2011 Exploration: First phase drill program complete  
2012 Exploration planned: Follow up to be considered 

DUVAY
Ownership: Aurizon can earn up to 65%
Location:  Chicobi fault corridor about 17 km north-east of 
Amos, Duverny township, Quebec
Mineral: Gold
2011 Exploration program: Bulk sampling to assess the gold 
nugget effect
2012 Plans: Interpret results to move towards drill program

KIPAWA
Ownership: Farmed out REE (Rare Earth Elements) as of July, 
2011 to Forum Uranium Corp. 
Location: 100 km south of Rouyn-Noranda, Quebec
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Mineral Properties

PROJECT LOCATION MAP

rex south  
[AZIMUT-ARZ]	
EARLY	STAGE	EXPLORATION	opinaca - wildcat

[EVERTON/AZIMUT	-	ARZ]
EARLY	STAGE	EXPLORATION

patris
[MIDLAND	-	ARZ]	

EARLY	STAGE	
EXPLORATION

duverny
EARLY	STAGE	
EXPLORATION	

kipawa 
FARMED	OUT	REE	TO	FORUM	
URANIUM	CORP	JULY,	2011

duvay 
[TRES-OR-ARZ]	EARLY	
STAGE	EXPLORATION

casa berardi 
producing mine
RECORD	2011	
GOLD	PRODUCTION	
163,845 OZ 

fayolle
[TYPHOON	-	ARZ]	

ADVANCED	STAGE	
EXPLORATION

joanna
FEASIBILITY	STUDY	

IN	PROGRESS

marban
[NIOGOLD	-	ARZ]
ADVANCED	EXPLORATION	

quebec, canada

Val	d’Or	Technical	Office

Montréal

La	Sarre

Rouyn-
Noranda

Puvirnituq
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Mineral Properties

RESERVES & RESOURCE SUMMARY 
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2011

PROJECT 
PIPELINE

EARLY STAGE 
EXPLORATION

ADVANCED 
EXPLORATION PRE-FEASIBILITY FEASIBILITY PRODUCTION

CASA BERARDI
JOANNA
MARBAN
FAYOLLE

REX SOUTH 
OPINACA-WILDCAT

PATRIS

DUVERNY
KIPAWA

DUVAY

Mineral Resources Measured & Indicated Inferred 

Property Ownership Tonnage Grade 
grams/tonne Gold Ounces Tonnage Grade 

grams/tonne
Gold 

Ounces

Casa Berardi  100% 10,867,000 4.3 1,495,000 4,947,000 3.9 616,000

Joanna 100% 58,610,000 1.3 2,520,000* 17,330,000 1.5 826,000

Total Mineral Resources 69,477,000 4,015,000 22,277,000 1,442,000

Mineral Reserves 

Property Ownership Tonnage Grade grams/
tonne Gold Ounces

Casa Berardi - Underground 100% 4,685,000 6.7 1,007,000

Casa Berardi - Open pit 100% 3,796,000 3.7 452,000

Joanna - Hosco 100% 23,648,268 1.3 995,586

Total Mineral Reserves 32,129,268 2,454,586
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Mineral Reserves

Measured & Indicated Mineral Resources

Inferred Mineral Resources
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* Inclusive of reserves
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Casa Berardi is generating significant cash flow for the Company, funding capital and exploration expenditures whilst continuing 
to build cash on the balance sheet and providing a solid foundation for growth. Since December 2006, when the mine re-commenced 
operations, 803,000 ounces of gold have been produced.

Mineral Properties - Casa Berardi

RECORD 2011 
GOLD PRODUCTION 
163,845 OUNCES

CASA BERARDI 
GOLD MINE 

Casa Berardi consistently delivers reliable production, and continues to generate positive exploration results.  

AURIZON’S FLAGSHIP OPERATION -
STRONG CASH FLOW, INVESTING FOR GROWTH

Record gold production from Aurizon’s 100% owned Casa Berardi mine for the year ended December 31, 2011, totalled 163,845 
ounces at US$537 per ounce from the processing of 698,123 tonnes at an average grade of 8.0 grams of gold per tonne. Recoveries 
for the year averaged 91.2%.  Actual gold production was in line with the Company’s 2011 guidance of approximately 165,000 ounces 
and total cash costs of US$535 per ounce.

For the year, Aurizon reported a replenishment of mineral reserves and an 81% increase in measured and indicated resources. 
 
Mineral Reserve and Resource highlights include the following:

• An increase of 12% in mineral reserves, before mining depletion.  Net of mining depletion, mineral reserves at December 31, 2011 
totalled 1,459,000 ounces of gold.

• An increase of 81% in measured and indicated mineral resources to 1,495,000 ounces of gold and a decrease of 18% in inferred 
mineral resources to 616,000 ounces of gold.

• A significant increase in probable mineral reserves in Zones 118 and 123; Zone 118 with an increase of 44% to 301,000 ounces 
of gold; and Zone 123 with an increase of 92% to 226,000 ounces of gold.  Zones 118 and 123 remain open down dip.

• A significant increase and conversion from inferred to indicated mineral resources in Zone 160:  indicated mineral resources of 
366,000 ounces for the open pit; and indicated mineral resources of 75,000 ounces for underground.

• An increase of 159,000 ounces of gold in the measured mineral resources of the South West Zone due to a re-interpretation of 
the data and an updated resource calculation.

CASA BERARDI MINE
MINERAL RESERVES AND RESOURCES SUMMARY

as at December 31,
2011 2010 2011

Tonnes Grade 
Grams/tonne

Gold 
Ounces Tonnes Grade 

Grams/tonne
Gold 

Ounces

Gain (loss) 
ounces net of 

2011 Production
Mineral Reserves
Proven and Probable
   Underground 4,685,000 6.7 1,007,000 4,057,000 7.7 1,005,000 2,000
   Open pit 3,796,000 3.7 452,000 3,796,000 3.7 452,000 0
Total Mineral Reserves 8,481,000 5.3 1,459,000 7,854,000 5.8 1,457,000 2,000
Mineral Resources
Measured and Indicated  
  Underground 5,115,000 6.5 1,063,000 3,766,000 6.3 759,000 304,000 
  Open pit 5,752,000 2.3 432,000 715,000 2.9 66,000 366,000 
Total Measured & Indicated 
Resources

10,867,000 4.3 1,495,000 4,481,000 5.7 825,000 670,000 

Inferred Mineral Resources 4,947,000 3.9 616,000 3,981,000 5.8 748,000 (132,000)
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In 2012, Aurizon will continue to invest in the future of Casa Berardi 
and has budgeted $80 million for capital expenditures (including 
$9.4 million of exploration), which will be funded from operating 
cash flow. Three major capital projects will be undertaken in 2012: 
shaft sinking, construction of a paste backfill plant to maximize the 
extraction of high grade ore from Zone 1 13 and to allow greater 
mining flexibility, and continued replacement of mobile equipment.  
Capital expenditures are comprised of the following:

Capital Expenditures 2012 Budget (in millions)
Sustaining capital $29.2
Shaft deepening 16.7
Property, plant & equipment 10.4
Paste backfill plant 12.0

Tailings pond 2.3
Exploration 9.4
Total $80.0

Sustaining capital expenditures at Casa Berardi are budgeted to 
be $29.2 million and will include continued development of the 
lower portions of Zone 118 and 123.  

In 2012, $16.7 million is budgeted for the deepening of the West 
Mine production shaft a further 285 metres to provide access 
to the lower portion of the 113, 118 and 123 Zones.  The shaft, 
currently at a depth of 795 metres, will reach its ultimate depth of 
1,080 metres in the first quarter of 2013 and will provide access 
at the 1,010 metre level to develop a drift from the shaft to Zones 
118 and 123.  

Mining equipment replacement and fleet expansion to support 
the expanded development activities is budgeted at $10.4 million.  
A further $12.0 million will be invested in the construction of a 
paste backfill plant and $2.3 million will be invested on raising the 
tailings pond for future capacity.

In 2012, $9.4 million will be invested on exploration at Casa 
Berardi which will include approximately 88,000 metres of surface 
and underground diamond drilling.  Up to 3 surface and 5-7 
underground drill rigs will be active.  The Company expects to 
capitalize these costs as the primary objective of the drilling will 
be to improve the quality of the known reserves and resources as 
well as exploring for extensions of these structures.

Surface exploration will include testing of the following:
•     Eastern extension of the Principal zone
•      Northwest extension of the Lower Inter Zone in the West mine
•     Extension of Zone 123 at depth
•     Southern area of Zone 123 at depth
•     Potential of the southern area between the Principal and the   
      East Mine
•     Extension of Zone 160.  

Underground rigs will primarily focus on infill drilling of the Lower 
Inter, and Zones 109, 113, 118, and 123.  In addition, exploration 
drilling will be performed on the Principal, 118 and 140 Zones.

The Casa Berardi mine is located 95 kilometres north of La Sarre, 
Quebec and sits on a 37 kilometre stretch of the Casa Berardi 
fault. 

Gold deposits are located along a five kilometre east-west 
mineralized corridor. They include the East and West mines, 
and the Principal Zone. The Casa Berardi gold deposit can be 
classified as an Archean sedimentary-hosted lode gold deposit. 
The gold mineralization occupies a structural zone centered 
on the Casa Berardi Fault, which corresponds to a continuous 
graphitic sediment layer.  Mineralization in the form of wide quartz 
veins and quartz veins stockwork with sulphides dissemination 
can occur on both sides of the fault forming a 150 to 500 metres 
wide potentially mineralized environment. 

CASA BERARDI - PRODUCTION RESULTS SINCE 2006

CASA BERARDI – EXPLORATION IN PROGRESS
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Mineral Properties - Joanna

JOANNA 
GOLD DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 
FEASIBILITY STAGE  
EXCELLENT LOCATION – GEOGRAPHICALLY AND STRATEGICALLY

Extending 6 kilometres along the Cadillac Break, the property is 
located 2 kilometres northeast of the Rouyn-Noranda airport and 
20 kilometres east of the city of Rouyn-Noranda.  The project 
comprises 155 claims covering 42 square kilometres, is located 
near the highway and railroad, and has hydro power access within 
2 kilometres.  

Updated Mineral Resource Estimate

In June of 201 1, an updated in-pit mineral resource estimate was 
completed for the Hosco deposit and integrated the results of the 
drilling programs that took place during the last three quarters of 
2010 and January 2011 in the lateral and depth extensions of the pit 
outline of the Hosco Deposit-Joanna Gold Project, as defined in the 
Pre-Feasibility Study of December 22, 2009, and also included 230 
additional new holes.  

• At a cut-off grade of 0.5 grams of gold per tonne, in-pit measured 
and indicated mineral resources have increased by 537,000 
ounces, a 31% increase when compared to the last estimate 
released on July 5, 2010 and now total 2,245,000 ounces of 
gold for the Hosco deposit only.

• In-pit inferred mineral resources at Hosco stand at 284,000 
ounces, a reduction of 97,000 ounces when compared to July , 
2010.

Subsequent Drilling

Assay results were released in August 2011 from the exploration 
and drilling programs of the Heva and Hosco sectors at the Joanna 
project.  Seventy-nine new holes totalling 21,082 metres were 
completed at Heva, Heva East and in the western limit of the pit 
shell at Hosco.  Significant results were intersected in the majority 
of all holes. 

Heva

On Heva, gold is located within several lenses on the south side of 
the Cadillac Fault, dipping approximately 60 degrees to the north 
and forming an envelope of between 30 and 60 metres in thickness.  
In addition, the main lenses of Zone P are located on the footwall of 
the Cadillac Fault up to 30 metres from the fault with mineralization 
taking the form of several grey quartz veins developed in sediments 
and ranging in size from a few centimetres to approximately a metre.  
The veins appear to be associated with a weak sulphides content.  
Locally, gold has been remobilized inside the Cadillac fault.

Fifty-eight new holes totalling 15,830 metres were completed with 
the objective of increasing inferred resources using drill spacing of 
50 metres.  The area tested covered 1.5 km along strike with targets 
between 0 and 200 metres below the surface.  All the new drill holes 
confirmed the results from previous holes and the extension of the 
mineralized zones.

Forty-four of the holes totalling 1 1,841 metres were drilled 
approximately 5 to 300 metres laterally from the former Heva 
underground workings. Thirty-nine of those holes returned between 
one and six dif ferent mineralized intersections corresponding to 
minimum cut off parameters of 0.5 grams of gold per tonne over 5 
metres. The best result was 2.0 grams of gold per tonne over 30.7 
metres (true width) in hole JA-1 1-845 (See news release dated 
August 11, 2011).

In addition, fourteen holes totalling 3,989 metres were drilled at 750 
to 1,000 metres east of the former Heva workings and at the same 
distance west of the Hosco pit shell limit. In this area, only scattered 
assays from historical holes indicated the presence of a consistent 
gold bearing mineralized system.  The best result was 2.2 grams of 
gold per tonne over 25.6 metres (true width) from hole JA-11-921 
(See news release dated August 11, 2011).

Recent results received on Heva demonstrated the potential for the 
project in terms of surface resources with average grades higher 
than at Hosco.  The results also show that there is potential to define 
higher grade mineralization that is similar to what is found along the 
Cadillac Fault.

Hosco West

Twenty-one new holes totalling 5,252 metres have been completed 
with the objective to increase open pit indicated resources (as 
reported in the Aurizon news release dated August 11, 2011) using 
drill spacing of 25 metres.  The area tested covers 0.5 km along 
strike with targets between 0 and 200 metres below the surface.  
The maximum distance reached by the drilling pattern is 140 metres 
from the indicated resource contour.

The best result was 2.8 grams of gold per tonne over 32.2 metres 
(true width) in hole JA-1 1-917. This mineralized interval was 
intersected at 35 metres from the western limit of the indicated 
resource at a depth of 100 metres below surface.
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Feasibility Update

Feasibility study work on the Hosco deposit continues with 
completion of the study anticipated by mid-year .  Additional studies 
and cost-optimization plans that were initiated in August 2011, 
including a review of the mining sequence and layout of the surface 
infrastructure and further detailed environmental work, as well as 
studies on waste and tailings characterization for potential metal 
leaching, optimization of civil works, and selection of the optimal 
daily processing rate, are in various stages of progress. The results 
of the various studies will be incorporated into the feasibility study.

The feasibility study will incorporate a reserve update based on the 
increased mineral resource estimate of 2,245,000 ounces of gold 
(or 54.1 million tonnes at an average grade of 1.29 grams of gold 
per tonne) reported in the Company’s news release dated June 13, 
2011, up from the 1,286,000 ounces of gold (or 30.1 million tonnes 
at an average grade of 1.33 grams of gold per tonne) on which 
the Pre-Feasibility Study (December 2009) for the Hosco deposit 
was based.  It will also be based on the selection of the autoclave 
recovery process and processing of the ore on-site at Joanna, both 
of which are expected to significantly reduce project risk.  

While some studies are still in progress, based on its review of 
information currently available the Company believes that the 

feasibility study is sufficiently advanced to conclude that the 
projected capital and unit operating costs will be significantly higher 
than estimated in the December 2009 Pre-Feasibility Study , due in 
part to the change in the scope of the project, the expanded mineral 
resource base, the selection of an autoclave process and a decision 
to process the ore on site. Readers are cautioned, however , that 
the Company’s expectations are based on available information 
concerning feasibility study work that is not complete and has not 
been the subject of third party review.  See further information under 
“Forward-Looking Information”. 

In addition, the Company has initiated a $3.6 million exploration 
program, comprising 24,500 metres of drilling in the area of the Heva 
deposit which contains 270,000 ounces in measured and indicated 
resources, (4.4 million tonnes at an average grade of 1.9 grams per 
tonne) and 421,000 ounces in inferred resources 7.7 million tonnes 
with an average grade of 1.7 grams per tonne) as reported in the 
Company’s news release dated January 11, 2012. The program will 
evaluate the surface potential along a 2.5 kilometre stretch of the 
Cadillac fault west of the Hosco deposit.
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Mineral Properties - Marban

MARBAN 
ADVANCED EXPLORATION

Initial drill program completed with a significant mineralized system discovered outside the known limit of the former deposit
TWO NEW ZONES IDENTIFIED WITH HIGH-GRADE POTENTIAL

Partnered with NioGold   

Aurizon signed an option agreement with Niogold Mining Corporation 
(“Niogold”) in July 2010 on the Marban property located in the 
Malartic gold camp in the Abitibi region of Quebec.  Aurizon may 
earn up to a 65% interest in the Marban property , which comprises 
forty-two mining claims and three mining concessions covering 
976 hectares in the center of the Malartic gold mining camp.  The 
property covers 3 kilometres of a 1 kilometre wide favourable gold 
bearing deformation zone punctuated by historic production, current 
mineral resources and exploration potential.  

In 2011, drilling within the Marban deposit confirmed the continuity 
of the mineralized zones near surface as well as their extensions 
below the former Marban mine.   In addition, two new gold zones 
were discovered surrounding the former Marban mine, “High Grade 
Western Zone” where values of 9.8 grams of gold per tonne over 
5.8 metres and 906.23 grams of gold per tonne over 2.9 metres 
were reported; and the “Eastern Down Dip Zone” where values of 
5.9 grams of gold per tonne over 3.6 metres and 179.5 grams of 
gold per tonne over 1.2 metres were also reported.  Both new zones 
open new high grade potential at depth for a potential underground 
mining operation.

Shallow exploration fence drilling between the Norlartic and Marban 
deposits intersected gold mineralized intervals up to 600 metres 
east and along strike of the Norlartic deposit/Norbenite Shear Zone 
with values up to 10 grams of gold per tonne over short intervals.

The first phase of the program  August 2010 – August 2011 consisted 
of 50,253 metres of diamond drilling (170 holes, 8 extensions) at 
a total cost of C$6 million.  Drilling was distributed between the 
Marban (41,270 metres) and Norlartic (4,319 metres) deposits 
and exploration drill hole fences between the two deposits (4,664 
metres).  

In 2012, a $4.9 million second phase program will include 34,000 
metres of diamond drilling on the Marban deposit, an updated 
mineral resource estimate and basic technical studies.  

Second Phase Objectives:
Improving the quality of Marban near surface resources

The most recent drill results demonstrated that there is a higher 
grade gold distribution around the Marban deposit in distinct zones.  
Different areas of the deposit have been identified for delineation 
above  250 metre vertical depth using a 25 or 50 metre drill hole 
spacing.  The objective is to improve the quality of the known 
resources and to increase the potential to find more mineralized 
corridors within a pit shell and decrease the stripping ratio.  

Developing a mineral inventory below -250 metre vertical depth

This objective targets the identification of new gold resources inside 
the Marban structural zone.  Preliminary interpolation on the Eastern 
Down dip Zone indicates a strong potential to identify gold resources 

between a vertical depth of -350 
and -600 metres.  The mineralised 
structure is considered open laterally 
and downdip.

New holes and wedging from previous 
holes are planned at vertical depths 
of 300 metres to 1,000 metres to test 
the consistency and extension of the 
Eastern Down Dip Zone at an average 
drill hole spacing of 50 metres. 

Technical program
In addition to drilling, the 2012 
program will include metallurgical 
work, hydrological characterization 
and geotechnical  studies.  

Updated Mineral Resource 
Estimate

An updated resource estimate is 
targeted for the second quarter. 
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FAYOLLE
ADVANCED EXPLORATION
DISCOVERY OF NEW GOLD BEARING TRENDS
2011 drill program was able to delineate high-grade mineralized trends

Partnered with Typhoon

Aurizon entered into an option agreement with Typhoon Exploration 
Inc. (“Typhoon”) in May 2010 on the Fayolle property which is 
located 20 kilometres north-east of Rouyn-Noranda, Quebec and 
10 kilometres north of Aurizon's Joanna Project in Quebec.  The 
property comprises 39 mining claims covering 1,373 hectares 
across the Porcupine-Destor Break, one of the most productive gold 
bearing structures of the Abitibi Belt.  

Aurizon may earn a 50% interest in the Fayolle property, subject 
to an underlying 2% net smelter royalty , by incurring expenditures 
of $10 million, and subscribing for $2 million in common shares 
of Typhoon, over four years.  Aurizon can earn an additional 15% 
interest for a total interest of 65% by either delivering a feasibility 
study or spending an additional $15 million on the project.

Fayolle Deposit

The 2011 drill program included a total of 42,384 metres in 120 holes 
at cost totalling $5.7 million, with the drilling divided evenly between 
deposit expansion (21,988 metres) and property wide exploration 
(20,396 metres).  During 2011, a total of 37 surface diamond drill 
holes were completed and confirmed the interpretation of mineralized 
structures that host the higher grade area of the deposit.  The 
interpretation challenges that were identified during 2011 have been 
addressed with the deposit boundary now extending 300 metres in 
all directions and by using a combination of structural interpretation 
and grade modelling. Closed spaced drilling during the program 
resulted in the completion of the geological modelling of the deposit, 
which is a preliminary step to a resource calculation estimate. The 

2011 drilling program also established extensions of the mineralized 
system at surface approximately 1 kilometre east and 500 metres 
south of the Fayolle deposit resulting in the identification of four new 
mineralized trends.

Exploration Potential - 
New Trends Defined on the Property:

The new trends are named the V ang Trend, Vang Extension, Paré 
Trend, and the Fayolle Extension.  These trends are limited by a 
regional stratigraphic contact between a sedimentary unit and an 
altered intermediate dyke swarm embedded in tectonically brecciated 
komatiitic flow.  This context, which is similar to the Fayolle deposit 
returned results in the range of 1 to 5 grams of gold per tonne over 
lengths of 5 to 21 metres with some high grade intervals.  

In 2012, a $1.2 million drill program will include 7,000 metres of 
drilling with the objective of testing the lateral and down-dip 
extensions of the mineralized system. This drilling will complete the 
step-out phase initiated during the last few months of 201 1.  The 
main objective at Fayolle is to define a high quality resource with 
favourable geometry and grade.

Updated Mineral Resource Estimate
 
The Company expects to generate a mineral resource estimate 
from the 2011 drill activity in the second quarter 2012.
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EXPLORATION
EARLY STAGE PROJECTS 

Rex South Property 

REX SOUTH  
Option Agreement with Azimut Explorations Inc.

Aurizon signed an option agreement with Azimut Exploration 
Inc. (“Azimut”) in May 2010 on the Rex South property which is 
located 145 kilometres east of Puvirnituq in the Nunavik region of 
northern Quebec.  The property comprises 2,138 mining claims 
covering a surface area of 931 km 2.  The property hosts strong 
exploration potential based on extensive geochemical anomalies, 
geophysical signatures, and the presence of several mineralized 
prospects including high-grade gold and copper values obtained 
in grab samples. 

Aurizon may earn up to an initial 50% interest in the property by 
incurring exploration expenditures of $5.0 million over a five (5)-
year period, and an additiona l 15% interest upon delivery of a 
bankable feasibility study and making additional payments and 
expenditures.

An extensive program was conducted in 2011 with the objective 
of expanding the prospecting coverage across the property and 
to initiate a drill program on the Augossan Zone.  As a result, 

a number of new mineralized structures extending along the 30 
kilometre long Qualluviartuq corridor, were identified.

Drilling on Augossan was performed on widely spaced sections 
and covered a 5 kilometre long continuous geophysical anomaly.  
In addition, field investigations performed on Augossan, indentified 
a well defined altered shear zone, a few hundred metres east of 
the main Augossan Zone, which returned positive gold results 
along a kilometric sector.  Prospecting work also identified 
additional quality targets in other sectors.

Drilling and prospecting results of the summer 2011 program are 
currently under review.

The program for 2012 will include a step by step exploration 
process including mapping, channel-sampling and focused 
prospecting programs to properly evaluate and prioritize the 
numerous prospects for future drilling.

Rex South Property 
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Opinaca-Wildcat Property 
Aurizon`s 2011 student 
employee, Renaud Morin, 
and consultant geologist, 
Fanny Tortiget

OPINACA – WILDCAT PROPERTY 
Option Agreements with Azimut Explorations Inc. and Everton 
Resources Inc.

Aurizon signed option agreements with Azimut Exploration Inc. 
(“Azimut”) and Everton Resources (“Everton”) in September 2010 
on the Opinaca and Wildcat properties which comprises groups of 
claims blocks controlled by Azimut and Everton and cover 56,791 
hectares.  The property is situated in the James Bay area, 350 
kilometres north of Matagami, Quebec and borders the Eleonore 
project owned by Goldcorp.

Aurizon may earn up to 60% interest in the Opinaca property and 
65% interest in the Wildcat property.

During 2011, an extensive exploration program was conducted 
at both properties.  At the Opinaca property, approximately $2.4 
million was incurred, including 5,000 metres of drilling, and at the 
Wildcat property, approximately $1.0 million was incurred, which 
included 2,000 metres of drilling.

The objectives of the 201 1 program were to test, by drilling, the 
two showings located in the southern part of the joint venture 
claims holding, and to sample systematically the arsenic anomaly 
in the lakes surrounding the drilling areas.

The Company’s approach for 2012 will be to review the data 
gathered in 2011 in order to optimize future work.

DUVERNY PROPERTY
Aurizon may earn a 100% interest in 44 mineral claims covering 
2,100 hectares, 25 kilometres northeast of Amos, Quebec, subject 
to underlying royalties.  The Duverny Property covers part of a 
mafic volcanic belt associated with the Chicobi fault corridor.  Gold 
mineralization in this area is characterized by a strong carbonate 
alteration and the presence of an extensive veins system.

The exploration program in 201 1 included geophysics, 
prospecting and soil surveys.  The MMI survey revealed three 
large gold anomalies inside a 10 km² area.  Two of the anomalies 
are located within in the area of historical showings and the other 
is in an unexplored area. 

The 2012 exploration program will include 6,000 metres of drilling 
using shallow holes to test gold in soil anomalies.  

DUVAY PROPERTY 
Option agreement with Tres-Or Resources Ltd.

The Duvay property is comprised of 132 mineral claims covering 
4,999 hectares and is adjacen t to the Duverny project located 
in the Chicobi deformation system in an area characterized  by 
a higher densi ty of felsic intrusions.  Historical trenching and 
bulk sampling had identified an extensive quartz vein network 
presenting a potential for large targets.

Aurizon may earn an initial 50% interest in the Duvay property 
by making cash payments of $1.5 million and incurring work 

expenditures totalling $6.5 million, over the next four years, of 
which firm commitments totalling $2.5 million must be incurred in 
the first 18 months of the agreement.  An additional 15% interest 
may be earned by either delivering a pre-feasibility study on 
the property or by incurring $13 million of additional exploration 
expenditures within a three year period of achieving the 50% 
initial interest.  

The exploration program commenced with the excavation of five 
small bulk samples on the main gold bearing structure.  A total of 
13 drill holes totalling 1,262 metres were completed.  Diamond 
drilling conducted by Tres-Or identified several shallow anomalies 
grading between 0.4 and 83.2 grams of gold per tonne over 1.0 to 
7.0 metres, confirming the strong nugget effect on the project.  To 
date, $900,000 has been invested.

PATRIS PROPERTY 
Option agreement Midland Exploration Inc.

Aurizon signed an option agreement with Midland Exploration 
Inc. in Decemb er 2010 to increase the number of accretive 
opportunities near the Joanna project for a strategic regional 
approach.  The first phase has demonstrated the presence of gold 
anomalies in a favourable context which justifies further follow up. 

KIPAWA PROPERTY
The Kipawa gold project covers an area of 240 km2 located in 
the Temiscamingue region, about 100 kilometres south of Rouyn-
Noranda.  This project was initially identified by Aurizon for its gold 
potential, however it delivered strong REE (rare earth elements)  
results, culminating with the discovery in 2010 of boulder trains 
which returned between 1.3 and 16.7% REE, including up to 57% 
of heavy rare earths elements originating from the western limb of 
the Kipawa alkaline complex. 

The rare earth elements prospecting produced sufficiently 
encouraging enough results to warrant the Company farming 
out the REE rare earth discovery to Forum Uranium Corp in July, 
2011.  Forum can earn a 50% interest in the property by incurring 
expenditures of $350,000 within 2 years and an additional 15% 
interest when they complete a resource report within 4 years of 
the agreement date.
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Global Development

Our goal is to present a complete picture of the 2011 fiscal year by reporting on our financial performance and our non-financial 
performance (environmental and social) for our diverse range of stakeholders. This reflects our belief that reporting on our 
non-financial performance should be a part of our mainstream reporting, as a logical outcome of the integration into our daily 
activities. This integration is also reflected in the terminology that we use. The expression “Global Development” was coined to 
reflect the consolidation of economic, environmental and social considerations, in accordance with the specific nature of our 
operations, namely the extraction of a non-renewable resource.

WHY AN INTEGRATED REPORT?

The Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) presents a voluntary and generally accepted framework for reporting on our economic, 
social and environmental performance. By choosing the GRI, we are supporting the world’s most widely used framework and 
adding rigor to our reporting processes. It also encourages us to report on specific economic, social and environmental indicators 
that are material for Aurizon and our stakeholders.

WHY GRI?

 VALUES IN ACTION 
Investors are increasingly asking for information with respect to global development.  At 
Aurizon, it is important that we show our investors and shareholders that we conduct 
ourselves with a high level of integrity which includes our approach to sustainability. 
Our hope is that this report will serve as a yardstick for measuring our accountability, 
our reporting progress, and will attempt to demonstrate that we honour our Global 
Development Mission statement and key principles.  This report will also allow for a 
critical review of Aurizon’s financial and non-financial performance, with respect to 
global development.  

This important initiative shows that the actions we are taking will establish concrete 
criteria for measuring our progress going forward and toward the attainment of our 
sustainability goals.

Working together with our Quebec office on this initiative has been educational and 
reinforces my personal opinion that Aurizon is definitely a company that sincerely cares 
about the communities in which we operate and is investing in a sustainable future.

CONCRETE ACTIONS AND PROGRESS MEASUREMENT

Jennifer North
Manager, 

Investor Relations

Geese at Rex South 
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OUR REPORTING PROCESS  

REPORT BOUNDARIES

The report covers the overall performance of Casa Berardi, as it 
is Aurizon’ flagship property and the only underground gold mine 
currently in production. W e also included the entities for which 
Aurizon exercises control or significant influence when the data 
was available, such as Joanna, Duverny, Opinaca & Wildcat and 
South Rex.

As this is our first GRI report, we could not obtain complete 
global development data about all of our explorations properties. 
In 2012, we will start to capture specific operational data such 
as Greenhouse Gas Emissions (GHG) emissions and water 
consumption for our feasibility stage development project Joanna 
in order to establish a baseline for our future reports. We will also 
include our early stage exploration projects, as they become 
material for our stakeholders. 

The social and environmental performances of our joint venture 
exploration projects Marban and Fayolle have not been included 
in this report because these early stage exploration properties 
are not under our immediate control. W e are aware that it is our 
responsibility to raise awareness and encourage our partners to 
adopt practices taking into account social, environmental and 
economic dimensions. All of our exploration projects have been 
included in our economic performance indicators.  

DEVELOPING THE MATERIALITY OF TOPICS & INDICATORS

Before selecting the indicators presented in the report, we 
held various meetings with a selection of internal and external 
stakeholders in order to identify the topics and issues that were 
the most important and relevant for them. This allowed us to 
develop a materiality chart including global development issues 
important for our stakeholders and for the Company.

The second step was to review all the indicators proposed by the 
GRI, including those of the Mining & Metal Sector Supplement. 
We held meetings with a smaller number of internal and external 
stakeholders in order to identify the indicators for which they would 
like Aurizon to disclose information. We then compared ourselves 
with our peers located in Canada and outside of Canada in order 
to further our analysis. Conscious of the fact that it was our first 
GRI report, we assessed existing data in order to propose a list of 
10 indicators for which data was readily available. We have made 
the correlation between the issues raised during the consultations 
with the larger groups and the indicators selected in the current 
report. The GRI Index, presented on page 102, shows the various 
indicators that we selected for our first GRI report.

Additional indicators were deemed significant but could not be 
included in the current report as internal reporting systems are 

currently being coordinated in order to collect relevant data. We will 
continue to work towards the inclusion of other relevant indicators 
in future reports. Upon receipt of a positive feasibility study, the 
Joanna project will have to go through a public consultation 
process as part of the environmental and social impact study . 
Aurizon’s next GRI reports will include the comments received 
from our stakeholders. We believe that the indicators that we 
have reported on represent significant social, socio economic and 
environmental risks and challenges.

In compiling the data presented in this report, we have measured our performance using the Sustainability Reporting 
Guidelines (G3) developed by the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) (www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework). The global 
development section covers the 2011 calendar year, which corresponds to Aurizon’s financial year. 

APPLICATION LEVEL

For its first implementation of the Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI) framework, Aurizon attained Application Level C. Ten 
indicators related to Aurizon’s social, environmental and economic 
performances are covered in the report. The GRI performance 
indicators are identified with the following symbol:

Our reporting is a continuous improvement process. Stakeholders 
are invited to contact Aurizon for questions and feedback 
regarding the report or its contents.

Contact persons : 

Jacynthe Lafond, Project Manager Global Development
Email: jacynthe.lafond@aurizon.qc.ca
Phone: +1 (819) 874-4511

Jennifer North, Manager, Investor Relations
Email: jennifer.north@aurizon.com
Phone: +1 (604) 687-6600
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ENGAGING OUR STAKEHOLDERS

WE IDENTIFIED 6 KEY STAKEHOLDER GROUPS WHO 
GUIDE US TOWARDS IMPROVED PRACTICES: 

 
One of Aurizon’s priorities is to be a mining company that is conscientious of its stakeholders. Our stakeholders are those who 
are directly or indirectly affected by our projects, as well as those who may have interests and/or the ability to influence the 
outcome of our projects. 

Although each site has its specific set of stakeholders, a core list 
of stakeholders was developed.  As projects evolve, the list of 
stakeholders will continually be adjusted. Since our stakeholders 
have very specific needs and expectations, a wide range of 
information and participation tools, tailored to each category of 
stakeholders, has been introduced.

 VALUES IN ACTION 

1. Our employees located in British Columbia and Québec, 
including Aurizon’s contractual employees, as well as our 
Board of Directors

2. Civil society including municipalities located near our 
operations, local residents, mining associations, universities 
and research institutes, and non-governmental organizations;

3. First Nations councils and members that can be affected by 
our activities;

4. Our financial partners including our investors;

5. Our business partners including our suppliers, service 
providers and companies from other industries; and

6. Governments and local authorities

Even if hard to quantify and intangible, I’m convinced that collaboration and 
openness are key ingredients to maintain our social license to operate. We need to 
gain and maintain the support of the people that live and work in the area of impact 
and influence of our projects.  

When dealing with First Nations, collaboration and openness are imperative. I 
quickly realized that sharing information was not sufficient. One needs to be ready 
to dedicate time to develop and maintain solid relationships in order to truly 
understand the preoccupations but also the interests. Taking the time to learn from 
each other’s competencies is the only way to go. 

In 2011, Aurizon decided to rethink the way it was connecting with First Nations. 
Realizing that we needed help, we opted to work with a collaborator. We organized 
workgroups with members of a few Anishinabe communities. We mutually invested 
time to get to know each other. Our first common goal will consist of introducing 
Aurizon, its projects and its intentions to the members of the communities. 

We are aware that our work is not over and we have much more to learn. It is with 
great respect that we will continue to solidify our relationships in 2012.

COLLABORATION AND OPENNESS

Jacynthe Lafond
Project Manager, 

Global Development

Jane Visitor, a Cree elder with our Project geologist, Patrice Barbe, showing a 
yellow sturgeon, a “normal size” catch on her ancestral territory at Opinaca.
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OUR EMPLOYEES
 
Attracting, retaining and motivating a qualified workforce remains one of our key challenges. Creating a work environment 
where more than 600 employees and contractors take pride in their success is a daily pursuit.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY PERFORMANCE 
AND INITIATIVES

The occupational health and safety (OHS) of our employees and 
contractors is very important to Aurizon. This is true for both our 
operation and exploration sites. The policy defining the general 
guideline in health and safety ensures that all measures are in place 
to reach the corporate objectives.

In order to improve our OHS performance at our exploration projects, 
a number of initiatives were implemented. This constitutes an effort 
to standardize processes, procedures, information gathering and 
management for all of our exploration sites and will be harmonized 
with current the OHS management system in place at the Casa 
Berardi mine in 2012. 

For example, we conducted a health and safety risk assessment 
with the collaboration of our employees and contractors for all our 
exploration projects. One of the key risks identified was the difficulty 

of reaching our employees working in remote exploration projects in 
case of accident or health issues. Several actions were introduced in 
order to mitigate this risk. We offered a specialized First Aid training 
for wilderness and remote areas to allow our employees to respond 
to emergencies when advanced care is not immediately available. 
This training is mandatory for our employees and contractors prior 
to being deployed on exploration projects. In addition, all exploration 
teams working in remote locations are equipped with a SPOT system. 
This allows for the exact GPS positioning of exploration teams in 
the case of an emergency. It is also our intention that employees 
and contractors’ employees will undergo a medical exam prior to 
deployment in remote areas.

Noémi Soulard, contractor at Casa Berardi
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Health and safety initiatives are also on-going at our Casa Berardi 
mine. Among the initiatives established in 2011, we intensified our 
efforts to build awareness amongst our employees and contractors 
by the introduction of the “Observe, Control and Act” program.  
Despite continuous efforts, we noted an increase in the injury rate at 
Casa Berardi over the last 3 years. Our objective is to improve our 
performance to be better than the Quebec mining industry average. 

 VALUES IN ACTION 
As part of building an Occupational Health & Safety (OHS) culture, we encourage 
our employees to take an active role in identifying and solving issues. Numerous 
innovative initiatives have been introduced by our employees in 2011 and recognized 
by the Commission de la Santé et sécurité au travail. With simple yet clever ideas like 
these, we reduce our risk of occupational diseases and injuries:

• A highly effective ergonomic handle was designed in partnership with Dumas 
Contracting Ltd to adapt underground ore trucks to suit employees of different 
heights. The handle can be adjusted to match the operator’s height and thus 
reduce elbow, shoulder and wrist pains.

• A second contractor at the mine, LJL Mechanics was recognized for an innovative 
initiative that allowed for the safe removal of tires from the rims. 

We will always support our teams in implementing OHS innovation.

INNOVATION

Michel Turmel
Health & Safety and 
Global Development

Regional Coordinator

Injury rate - Casa Berardi mine vs. Quebec mining industry average

Safety awards received in 2011
Five Casa Berardi supervisors were 
recognized by the Quebec Mining 
Association as their teams achieved 
a total of 100,000 and 50,000 hours 
without lost time accidents. 0
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Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, absenteeism, and 
number of work-related fatalities by region1 

Casa Berardi Exploration4 Head Office

The total workforce (total employees plus supervised workers) by region2 530     77     10
Injury rate by region3 6.5 0 0
Occupational diseases rate by region 0 0 0
Lost day rate by region 66.6 0 0
Absolute number of fatalities 0 0 0

1 We use the ILO Code of Practice on Recording and Notification of Occupational Accidents and Diseases to report on this performance indicator. We cannot report on absentee rate as  
   it is currently not being tracked. 

2 The data presented includes our independent contractors working on-site as we do not distinguish between our employees and those of our contractors. When working at our sites, 
   we are liable for the general safety of the working environment.

3 This excludes minor injuries.

4 Included in the exploration projects are Joanna, Duverny, Opinaca & Wildcat and South Rex. The employees working in our Val d’Or office are also included in this category.

Noémi Soulard, contractor at Casa Berardi
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Professional development opportunities are an important benefit 
provided to our employees. Since 2010, the Casa Berardi mine site 
has had its own internal training service coordinated by Aurizon 
employees. The initiative, recognized by the « Commission des 
partenaires du marché du travail du Québec », emphasises on-the-
job training with the main focus on production practices and health 
and safety.
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Average hours of training per employee1 Casa Berardi Exploration

1) Total hours per employee category
         Senior management 0 20
         Middle management 1318 539
         Production employees 8193 0
         Administrative, technical and clerical employees 2018 241

2) Total employees per category
         Senior management 1 6
         Middle management 33 13
         Production employees 484 0
         Administrative, technical and clerical employees 53 13

3) Average hours of training per employee (1/2=3)
         Senior management 0 3
         Middle management 40 41
         Production employees 17 0
         Administrative, technical and clerical employees 38 19

1 Excluded from this performance indicator are training and development hours for our employees working at the Head Office in  Vancouver as such hours are currently not being tracked. Our Casa 
   Berardi employees and contractors are included as well as our administrative office in Val d’Or.

Aurizon introduced a scholarship program for employees’  children 
in Quebec. The objective of the program is to provide support for 
their education. Aware of the fact that our workforce is composed 
mainly of external contractors, we extended our program in 2011 to 
include our contractors’ children. A separate scholarship fund has 
also been created for students who wish to apply for an internship 
position in the Company. Every year we offer scholarships totaling 
approximately $125,000. This program is one way in which Aurizon 
can support our employees and encourage internships. 

Average hours of training per employee

Jocelyn Raymond from Aurizon and Noémi Soulard, contractor at Casa Berardi

Senior 
Management

Middle 
management 
(professional & 
engineering)

Production 
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OUR ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
 
One of our priorities is to control and minimize the environmental impact of all of our activities. When discussing with our 
stakeholders, it became apparent that they were concerned by a number of environmental issues, including water management, 
greenhouse gas emissions and biodiversity. The first step required to achieve our objective is to understand our environmental 
impact.  By selecting these topics, we established the baseline for comparison in the future. It is also our intention to start 
collecting data for our exploration projects in order to include them in our next report.

WATER MANAGEMENT

Water is essential to our mining operations, both during the 
exploration and the production phases.  As indicated in the following 
table, the total volume of water withdrawn at Casa Berardi mine in 
2011 was 2,755,146 m3. 

Total water withdrawal by source Casa Berardi

Total volume of water withdrawn from surface water, including 
water from wetlands, rivers, lakes and oceans by Aurizon (m3)

              0 

Total volume of ground water withdrawn by Aurizon (m3)    981,491 (1)

Total volume of rainwater collected and stored by Aurizon (m3) 1,773,655 (2)

Total volume of waste water from other organizations (m3)               0 

Total volume of Municipal water supplies (m3)               0 

Total volume of all freshwater collected by Aurizon (m3) 2,755,146 

(1) This represents the ground water withdrawn directly by the Company. 
(2) This represents water collected indirectly by our tailings ponds.

The volume of 981,491 m 3 represents the quantity of ground water 
withdrawn directly by Aurizon. From this volume, 92% of the water 
withdrawn originates from underground dewatering. 

In 2011, a total volume of 1,773,655 m3 of rainwater was collected by 
the tailings ponds over the total area of 210 hectares. The quantity 
of water collected by our tailings impoundments varies from year 
to year depending on the annual rainfall, snowfall and evaporation 
rate. 

At the mine site, water is mainly used in the treatment of ore. Instead 
of pumping freshwater, 87% of the process water is recycled water 
from tailings ponds. In 2011, we reused 853,274 m3 which represents 
31% of the total volume of all water withdrawn.

Our stakeholders are concerned about water-pollution problems that 
can be caused by mining. We are attentive to this issue which is why 
we chose to include data on water discharge in our first GRI report.

Casa Berardi mine is located in the Harricana drainage basin, 
north of the 49e parallel in western Quebec. The water discharge is 
directed towards the Kaackakosig stream which then connects to 
the Theo River, the Turgeon and finally the Harricana River1. This 
main route is used for water discharge until the effluent is ultimately 
discharged into the receiving water of the James Bay.

As presented in the following table, a total volume of 1,470,215 m3 of 
tailings water was discharged at the final effluent point in 2011. Each 
year, we monitor and declare our discharges in accordance with the 
National Pollutant Release Inventory (NPRI)2 . Parameters presented 
in the report are those used in the organization’ s sector. The ionic 
cyanide originates from the processing of ore by cyanidation leach. 

Percentage & total volume of water recycled & 
reused 

Casa Berardi

Total volume of water recycled/reused by Aurizon (m3) 853,274 

Percentage of water recycled and reused based on total water 
collected (m3)

     31% (1)

Percentage of water recycled and reused based on water 
directly withdrawn by Aurizon (m3)

     87% (2)

(1) The percentage was calculated using the total volume of all freshwater presented in the 
      previous table.

(2) The percentage excludes the water collected indirectly by our tailings ponds.

Total water discharge by quality and destination Casa Berardi

Total water discharge through a defined discharge point1 (m3) 1,470,215

Total water discharge by quality in terms of total volume of effluent2 

                                    Arsenic (kg) 0.216

                                   Copper (tonnes) 0.033

                                   Ionic cyanide (tonnes) 0.037

                                   Lead (kg) 0.001

                                   Manganese (tonnes) 0.019

                                   Nickel (tonnes) 0.026

                                   Zinc (tonnes)   0.012

1 Water discharges from the tailings pounds

2 Water discharge quality depending upon a gold production of 163,845 ounces,  
  processing of 698,123 tonnes of ore at an average grade of 8.0 grams of gold per ton.

The final effluent quality will vary annually depending on a range 
of parameters, including changing production levels, facility 
expansions and process modifications. Aurizon did not receive 
any environmental infractions during 2011 as the effluent quality 
standards were met before discharge.  

 

1		An	exhaustive	water	portrait	covering	the	Casa	Berardi	region	is	presented	by	the	Ministère	du	Développement	durable	de	l’Environnement	et	des	Parcs	du	Québec	web	site		(http://www.mddep.gouv.qc.ca/eau/regions/region10/index.htm.).	
2	The	National	Pollutant	Release	Inventory	(NPRI)	is	Canada's	legislated,	publicly	accessible	inventory	of	pollutant	releases	(to	air,	water	and	land),	disposals	and	transfers	for	recycling	(http://www.ec.gc.ca/inrp-npri/).Jocelyn Raymond from Aurizon and Noémi Soulard, contractor at Casa Berardi
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GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS (GHG)

We monitor our direct and indirect GHG emissions both in tonnes of 
GHG and intensity. While the data presented in the following table 
applies only to Casa Berardi, collection of GHG emissions for our 
exploration projects has started.

Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight Casa Berardi

Total direct GHG emissions (tonnes CO2e) 12,195 (1)

Total indirect GHG emissions (tonnes CO2e)      190 (2)

Total GHG emissions (tonnes CO2e) 12,385 

(1) Calculation of direct emissions is based on default standard emissions factors 
     from the Mining Association of Canada - GHG Inventory Worksheet 

(2) Represents the total hydroelectricity purchased

In 2011, we did not have specific objectives to reduce our GHG 
emissions. However we will evaluate options to reduce our propane 
consumption as well as our carbon footprint in 2012. The sources of 
direct GHG emissions are presented in the following figure. 

BIODIVERSITY

Biodiversity is an important concern among our stakeholders and 
a growing focus for the Company . The Casa Berardi mine is not 
adjacent to protected areas and doesn’t directly impact areas of high 
biodiversity importance. On the other hand, the Joanna project is 
adjacent to the Biodiversity Reserve of the Vaudray-Joannès Lakes. 

As Joanna’s main sector of interest is partly located on a wetland, 
a number of our exploration drilling campaigns were only carried 
out during winter in order to prevent our equipment from damaging 
surrounding peatland and microfauna. Following the receipt of a 
certificate of authorization from the Quebec province environmental 
authorities, we can now conduct drilling at all times using roads 
that meet specific conditions of minimal impact. These roads are 
covering a total land disturbed and not yet rehabilitated of 23.64 
hectares.

Amount of land (owned or leased, & managed for 
production activities or extractive use) disturbed 
or rehabilitated in 2011

Casa Berardi Joanna

1)  Total amount of land disturbed and not yet 
      rehabilitated (in hectares)

260 23.17

2)   Total amount of land newly disturbed within the 
       reporting period (in hectares)

0 0.47

3)   Total amount of land newly rehabilitated within the         
       reporting period to the agreed end use (in hectares)

0 0

Total land disturbed and not yet rehabilitated (1+2-3) 260 23.64

 VALUES IN ACTION 
In 2011, the closure plan for the Casa Berardi mine was updated and reapproved by 
the governmental authorities. This was an important milestone for the Company. 
Aurizon acquired the mine in 1998 and by doing so we also became accountable for 
the environmental liabilities of the mine.

Our group at the Mill worked in close collaboration with the research institute of 
Université du Québec en Abitibi-Témiscamingue, a local university, and consulting 
companies in order to study the behavior of Casa Berardi’s tailings. We worked on a 
number of pilot projects in order to reduce the cost associated with the closure plan 
but also to minimize the impact of our tailings pond on the surrounding ecosystems 
post-closure. This is a concrete example of applying a life cycle approach by looking 
at the long-term impacts of our activities.

As part of my graduate degree, I am currently studying the results obtained in these 
pilot projects. By doing so, I want to improve our understanding of the results in 
order to make better informed decisions.

Our work makes sense from an economic standpoint because we were able to reduce 
the financial liabilities but it also makes sense on an environmental standpoint.

LIFE CYCLE APPROACH

Lucienne Anctil, 
Environmental 

Coordinator, 
Casa Berardi

Breakdown of direct GHG emissions

Diesel (Compressors, 
underground & 

mobile equipment)
62%

Blasting agents
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Fuel (light trucks)
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Propane (for 
underground
heating purposes
32%
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OUR COMMUNITIES
Aurizon contributes to the economic and social development of communities and municipalities where it operates. Our 
contribution is multifaceted; it includes supporting local employment opportunities, promoting the well-being of local 
communities through direct investments, encouraging the development of local suppliers and by carefully planning our mine 
closure in order to minimize negative impacts. 

One way in which we measure our economic performance is through the direct economic value generated and distributed by 
the Company.

Direct economic value generated and distributed Casa Berardi Exploration Head Office Consolidated

1) Economic value generated1 $ 260,016,359 $ 0 $   1,927,615 $ 261,943,974

2) Economic value distributed2 $ 149,731,576 $ 5,526,590 $ 42,435,591 $ 196,693,757

3) Economic value retained (1-2 = 3) $ 111,284,783 ($5,526,590) ($40,507,976) $   65,250,217

1 Aurizon’s economic value generated represents the Company’s revenues

2 Aurizon’s economic value distributed includes employees’ wages and benefits, taxes and royalties paid to governments purchases of goods and services from local and 
   regional suppliers, donations and sponsorship. Excluded from the total are Research & Development expenses.

Left to right:
Front: Renée Jacob, Josée Plouffe, Nathalie St-Amant
Second row: Martin Bergeron, Robert Boutin, Danielle Morin, Eric St-Onge, Michel Turmel
Back: Patrick Lavoie 

Community Support - Annual Centraide Golf Tournament
Centraide - United Way is a worldwide organization that aims “to improve lives by mobilizing the caring power of communities around the world 
to advance the common good.” For the past two years, Mr. Martin Bergeron, Vice President of Operations, has been the honorary Chairman 
of the annual Centraide golf tournament
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 VALUES IN ACTION 
Ensuring the longevity of our mining operations while contributing to the development 
of the regions in which we operate is deeply embedded in the way we operate. Whether 
it is by working with local suppliers or by investing in the communities, I take pride in 
the way Aurizon contributes to the economic development of Abitibi-Témiscamingue. 
Our approach has always been gradual. We take our time to do things the right way. 
In the case of the Marban project, jointly with our partner, we decided to rethink our 
approach and take a fresh look at the deposit. The objective is to ensure that we can 
maximize the resource in order to ensure the longevity of our projects and our presence 
in the region. I appreciate that we take a long-term view at our projects rather than a 
short-term “in-and-out” view.

We believe in what our predecessors built almost 100 years ago when they first mined 
the prolific Abitibi greenstone gold belt. It is our duty to pursue what they started.

LONGEVITY

Martin Demers, P.geo
General Manager 

-Exploration

OUR MARKET PRESENCE

In addition to hiring regionally whenever possible, we also try to 
encourage purchasing from local suppliers of goods and services. 
Our engagement has not yet been formalized in a policy. 

We are proud to report that from our $135 million purchasing budget, 
we spent 77.6% in Quebec, where 62.6% was spent in the Abitibi 
region where our Casa Berardi mine and our exploration projects are 
located. 2% of our purchasing budget is spent in British Columbia 
where our head office is located.

Province of 
Ontario
20.5%

Province of 
Quebec
15.1%

Temiscaming 
(Kipawa)
1.0%

Canada
1.8%

Amos (Duverny)
2.2%

La Sarre 
(Casa Berardi Mine)

21.6%

Rouyn-Noranda 
(Joanna Project)

11.2%

Val-d'Or (admin
 o�ce, development & 
exploration expenses)

26.7%

SPONSORSHIPS AND DONATIONS

Aurizon supports the local communities through sponsorship and 
donations to non-profit organizations, events and activities and 
also encourages its employees to become actively involved in their 
community. In 2011, Aurizon adopted a formal sponsorships and 
donations policy with the objective of supporting one community 
program for every thousand ounces of gold produced in a fiscal 
year. This represents more than 160 organizations located in the 
provinces of Quebec and British Columbia.

CLOSURE PLANS

Casa Berardi is currently our only mine in production. The cost of 
its closure plan is estimated at $10.8M and is funded in accordance 
with provincial regulations. We carefully plan operations in order to 
mitigate the environmental impact and to leave behind lands that will 
support productive post-mining land uses. 

Sport
15%

Health
13%

Business development 
(associations, 
local businesses, etc.)
6%

Community Projects
23%

Culture
9%

Education
36%

Operations with closure plans Casa Berardi

Total number of company operations that have closure 
plans

                     1

The company's operations that have closure plans as a 
percentage of the company’s total number of operations

        100%

The overall financial provision for closure    $10,768,125

ACTIVE MEMBER IN THE MINING SECTOR

Aurizon is participating in the BNQ 21000 pilot project intended 
to guide the Quebec mining sector in integrating sustainable 
development into their business practices. Through its participation, 
Aurizon actively contributes to the development of the Quebec 
industry standards regarding sustainability.

 

Percentage of the 2011 procurement budget used for 
significant locations of operations

 

Breakdown of sponsorships and donations
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AURIZON MINES LTD. 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

 

Introduction 
 
Management’s discussion and analysis is intended to help the reader understand the significant factors that have 
affected Aurizon Mines Ltd.’s performance and such factors that may affect its future performance.  This discussion 
also provides an indication of future developments along with issues and risks that can be expected to impact future 
operations (see “Forward Looking Statements” on page 19).  This report has been prepared on the basis of available 
information up to March 12, 2012 and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the related 
notes thereto which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
All prior period information has been restated or reclassified for comparative purposes in accordance with IFRS.  All 
dollar amounts referred to in this discussion and analysis are expressed in Canadian dollars except where indicated 
otherwise. 
 
Overview and strategy 
 
Aurizon is a Canadian based gold producer with operations and development activities in the Abitibi region of north-
western Quebec.  Aurizon owns and operates 100% of the Casa Berardi gold mine and the Joanna gold project 
which is at the feasibility stage.  In addition, Aurizon has entered into earn-in joint venture agreements with several 
companies on six projects in Quebec. 
 
Gold production from Casa Berardi re-commenced in November 2006, ten years following the previous operating 
period from 1988 to 1996, during which approximately 690,000 ounces of gold were produced. Since 2006, Casa 
Berardi has produced 803,000 ounces of gold, and cumulatively has produced 1.5 million ounces of gold since 1988.   
 
In 2011, gold production from Casa Berardi totalled 163,845 ounces compared to 141,116 ounces and 159,261 
ounces, in 2010 and 2009, respectively.  It is estimated that Casa Berardi will produce approximately 155,000 – 
160,000 ounces of gold in 2012 at an estimated total cash cost of US$600(1) per ounce, assuming a Cad/US dollar 
exchange rate at parity.  The following chart shows Aurizon’s gold production profile from Casa Berardi since 2006. 
 

 
 
Aurizon’s mission is to become an intermediate sized gold mining company operating multiple mines in politically 
stable jurisdictions.  In order to achieve this objective, Aurizon’s growth strategy is to extend the mine life of its 
existing gold production base at Casa Berardi and to increase gold production by developing its existing projects in 
Quebec and by acquisition of, or merger with, companies having either production or advanced development stage 
gold projects.  In order to execute this strategy, Aurizon is building a team of mining professionals with experience 
and technical knowledge in exploration, development, construction, mine operations, environmental compliance and 
financial disciplines to allow the Company to advance a project from discovery through to feasibility, construction and 
development, and operations.        

                                                 
1 See “Non-GAAP measures” on pages 50 and 51 
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Financial review 
 
The following financial information has been extracted or derived from the Company’s audited financial statements 
for the years noted: 
 

Key Financial Data 2011 2010 2009 

(in $ thousands, except per share amounts)   Note 1 

Revenues $259,999 $178,742 $175,560

Net profit for the year 43,931 17,240 36,706

Earnings - per share  
(Basic and Diluted) 0.27 0.10 0.23

Cash flow from operating activities 121,297 51,020 71,822

Cash and cash equivalents 213,486 139,341 113,098

Working capital 197,810 152,550 101,666

Total assets 418,381 336,543 323,293

Long-term obligations - - 705

Shareholders’ equity 321,184 268,390 235,637

Note 1 – Data for 2009 is presented in accordance with previous Canadian GAAP and was not required 
to be restated to IFRS. 

Financial review of the year ended December 31, 2011 
 
Net profit in 2011 totalled $43.9 million, or $0.27 per share, compared to net profit of $17.2 million, or $0.10 per 
share in 2010.  Results were positively impacted by a significant increase in realized gold prices, higher gold 
production resulting from expected higher ore grades, and reduced by increased exploration activities and a 
significant increase in income taxes.  As a result of the enactment of new Quebec resource tax legislation in 2011 
and higher taxable profits in 2011, income and resource taxes totalled $42.6 million, up significantly from $13.9 
million in 2010.  
 
EBITDA (3) rose 91% to $125 million, compared to $65.4 million in 2010, driven by higher gold prices, increased gold 
production, and lower cash costs per ounce, partially reduced by higher exploration and general administrative 
costs.  
 
Cash flows from operating activities increased 138% in 2011 to $121.3 million compared to cash flows of $51.0 
million in 2010.  Cash flow in 2011 was positively impacted by higher net profits and decreases in non-cash working 
capital items.  A significant increase in income and resource tax liabilities totalling $18.3 million, together with a 
reduction of tax credits receivable totalling $7.2 million, are the primary factors resulting in the decrease in non-cash 
working capital items. Lower cash operating costs and rising gold prices in 2011 has allowed operating profit 
margins(3) to increase significantly to US$1,041 per ounce compared to US$604 per ounce in 2010.   
 
  

                                                 
3 See “Non-GAAP measures” on pages 50 and 51 
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Financial review of the fourth quarter 2011 
 
Net profit of $21.8 million, or $0.13 per share, was achieved in the fourth quarter of 2011, compared to net profit of 
$7.0 million, or $0.04 per share in the same period of 2010.  Fourth quarter 2011 results were positively impacted by 
higher realized gold prices, and higher gold sales.  
 
EBITDA (3) rose 181% to $51.1 million, compared to $18.2 million in 2010, driven by higher gold prices, increased 
gold production, and lower cash costs per ounce, partially reduced by higher exploration and general administrative 
costs.  
 
Operating profit margins increased dramatically in the fourth quarter of 2011 to US$1,157 per ounce from US$845 
per ounce in the same period of 2010. Fourth quarter 2011 total cash costs were US$498 per ounce, similar to the 
third quarter costs of US$497 per ounce and lower than the $531 per ounce costs realized in the fourth quarter of 
2010 as a result of the significantly higher grades in 2011.  The average ore grade in the fourth quarter was 9.1 
grams per tonne, 33% higher than the 6.9 grams per tonne achieved in the same quarter of 2010. Daily ore 
throughput of 1,851 tonnes per day was achieved in the fourth quarter of 2011, resulting in unit operating costs on a 
Canadian dollar basis of $142 per tonne compared to $127 per tonne for the full year.  Additional stope development 
and ground support, as well as general inflationary pressures resulted in the higher unit costs. 
 
Cash flow from operating activities in the fourth quarter of 2011 increased 169% to $49 million, compared to $18.2 
million in 2010. Cash flow was positively impacted by increased revenues from gold sales as well as a decrease of 
$19.0 million in non-cash working capital items compared to the same quarter of 2010. A significant increase in 
income and resource tax liabilities totalling $12.7 million, together with a reduction of tax credits receivable totalling 
$5.7 million, account for most of the decrease in non-cash working capital items in the fourth quarter of 2011. The 
Company’s aggregate operating, investing and financing activities during the fourth quarter of 2011 resulted in net 
cash inflows of $35.5 million.  
 
Revenue 
 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
 

2011 
 

2010 

Gold sales – ounces 34,306 39,900 40,257 50,787 165,250 139,950

Per ounce data, except 
exchange rate   

Realized gold price4 – US$ $1,392 $1,521 $1,695 $1,655 $1,578 $1,145

Exchange rate – US/Cad 
dollar 0.984 0.968 0.991 1.016 0.993 1.030

Realized gold price – Cad$ $1,369 $1,473 $1,680 $1,681 $1,567 $1,180
 

(4) Realized gold prices net of derivative gains or losses divided by ounces sold. (See “Non-GAAP measures”) 
 
Revenues from Casa Berardi operations rose 45% to $260 million in 2011 from the sale of 165,250 ounces of gold, 
compared to $178.7 million from the sale of 139,950 ounces of gold in 2010.  The average realized gold price was 
US$1,578 per ounce and the average US/Cad exchange rate was 0.99, compared to realized prices of US$1,145 
per ounce and an exchange rate of 1.03 in 2010.  The gold average London afternoon fixing in 2011 was US$1,572 
per ounce. 
 
As at December 31, 2011, the Company has no gold hedges.  During 2010, 65,814 ounces of gold, representing 
47% of gold sales, were delivered against gold call options at an average price of US$908 per ounce, 26% lower 
than the average London afternoon fixing price of US$1,225 per ounce.  Partially offsetting this opportunity cost, the 
Company exercised 16,614 ounces of gold call options at US$863 per ounce that were purchased in 2009 and then 
sold the gold at an average price of US$1,178 per ounce.  In 2010, the average realized gold price was US$1,145 
per ounce. 
 
                                                 
4 See “Non-GAAP measures” on pages 50 and 51 
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Casa Berardi Operations 

Summary of Key Operational Statistics    

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2011 2010 

Operating results   

Tonnes milled 161,036 178,233 188,571 170,283 698,123 722,745 

Grade – grams/tonne 6.85 8.00 7.95 9.13 8.00 6.75 

Mill recoveries - % 90.2% 90.4% 92.2% 92.0% 91.2% 89.8% 

Gold production – ounces 31,976 41,417 44,457 45,995 163,845

 

141,116 

Gold sold – ounces 34,306 39,900 40,257 50,787 165,250
 

139,950 

Per ounce data – US$   

Average realized gold price1 $1,392 $1,521 $1,695 $1,655 $1,578 $1,145 

Total cash costs 2 $621 $544 $497 $498 $537 $541 

Amortization 3 238 225 250 238 238 245 

Total production costs 4 $859 $769 $747 $736 $775 $786 

 
Table footnotes (See “Non-GAAP measures”): 
1  Realized gold prices net of derivative gains or losses divided by ounces sold. 
2 Operating costs net of by-product credits, divided by ounces sold, and divided by average Bank of Canada Cad$/US$ rate. 
3 Depreciation and amortization expenses. 
4 Total cash costs plus depreciation and amortization expenses. 

 
Operating review of the year 
 
Record gold production totalling 163,845 ounces was achieved at Casa Berardi in 2011, in line with guidance of 
approximately 165,000 ounces and 16% higher than 2010. Higher ore grades and improved mill recoveries account 
for the improvement over 2010.  The average ore grade of 8.0 grams per tonne achieved in 2011 matched 
expectations.  Daily ore throughput of 1,913 tonnes per day was achieved in 2011, 3% lower than plan, and 
compared to 1,980 tonnes per day in 2010.  
 
Total cash costs(5) in 2011 were US$537 per ounce, 9% higher than plan, and 1% lower than the US$541 per ounce 
costs achieved in 2010. The anticipated higher ore grades in 2011 compared to 2010, offset higher unit operating 
costs(5) on a Canadian dollar per tonne basis.  Unit operating costs(5) in 2011 were 9% higher than plan at $127 per 
tonne as a result of additional stope development and ground support, as well as general inflationary pressures.  
Unit operating costs(5) in 2010 were $108 per tonne.  
 
Lower cash operating costs and rising gold prices in 2011 has allowed profit margins(5) to increase significantly to 
$1,041 per ounce compared to $604 per ounce in 2010.   
  

                                                 
5 See “Non-GAAP measures” on pages 50 and 51 
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Expenses 
 
Cost of sales in 2011, comprising operating costs of $88.8 million, and depreciation and amortization of $38.9 
million, totalled $127.7 million in 2011, 13% higher than the prior year’s costs of $112.7 million, primarily as a result 
of higher mining costs associated with smaller stopes, additional stope development and ground support, and higher 
labour costs resulting from a shortage of skilled labour. An 18% increase in gold sales over 2010 resulted in 14% 
higher depreciation and amortization costs.  On a unit cost basis, total cash costs per ounce of gold sold were 
US$537 and amortization costs were US$238, for a total production cost of US$775 per ounce compared to US$786 
per ounce in 2010.  
 
Gross profit in 2011 doubled to $132.3 million compared to $66.0 million in 2010.  Higher realized gold prices and 
moderately lower operating cash costs per ounce in 2011 allowed operating profit margins to increase significantly to 
US$1,041 per ounce compared to US$604 per ounce in 2010.   
 
Exploration expenditures on Quebec mineral properties outside of Casa Berardi rose 69% in 2011 to $26.5 million 
compared to $15.6 million in 2010.  The increase in exploration activities is attributable to new properties that were 
optioned in 2010, together with continued exploration and feasibility work at Joanna.  The following table 
summarizes the exploration expenditures incurred in 2011: 
 

Exploration & feasibility expenditures 
 
(expressed in millions of Canadian dollars) 

 
2011 

Joanna exploration  $6.0  

Joanna feasibility work 4.3 

Fayolle Property 5.7  

Rex South Property 5.0  

Marban Property 4.8  

Opinaca-Wildcat Properties 3.7  

Duverny-Duvay Property 1.1  

Patris Property 0.5 

General exploration 0.9  

Less exploration tax credits (1)  (5.5) 

Total $26.5  
(1) Exploration tax credits include both refundable and non-refundable tax credits. 

 
General and administrative costs in 2011 rose to $19.5 million compared to $17.0 million in 2010.  Included in 
these costs are non-cash stock based compensation charges totalling $6.5 million, compared to $7.6 million in 2010.  
Excluding the non-cash stock based compensation charges, costs rose to $13.0 million in 2011 compared to $9.4 
million in 2010.  These costs reflect the head office costs in Vancouver, B.C. as well as the administrative and 
technical group in Val d’Or, Quebec.  Increased staffing to support the continued studies at Joanna as well as 
managing the six new earn-in properties has impacted costs.  
 
Income and resource taxes in 2011 totalled $42.7 million, or 49.3% of pre-tax profits, compared to $13.9 million, or 
44.7% of pre-tax profits.   The increase in the effective tax rate in 2011 is largely attributable to the substantive 
enactment of new Quebec resource tax legislation that retroactively increased the tax from 12% to 14% for nine 
months of 2010 and to 15% for 2011.  Current income and resource tax expense total $41.1 million in 2011 
compared to $6.7 million in 2010.     
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Summary of quarterly results  
 
Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share data 
 

2011 4th Quarter 3rd Quarter 2nd Quarter 1st Quarter 2011 

Revenue $85,683 $68,144 $58,960 $47,212 $259,999 

Cost of sales (38,914) (29,736) (29,847) (29,228) (127,725) 

Gross profit 46,769 38,408  29,113  17,984 132,274 

General and 
administrative costs 4,268 5,025 4,168 6,086 19,547 

Exploration costs 6,229 7,037 6,098     7,104 26,468 

Derivative (gains) losses (3,243) 3,401 (323) - (165) 

Net profit  21,810 13,071 6,604    2,446 43,931 

Earnings per share  – 
basic and diluted 0.13 0.08      0.04      0.02 0.27 

2010 4th Quarter 3rd Quarter 2nd Quarter 1st Quarter 2010 

Revenue $48,558  $39,882 $50,471 $39,831 $178,742 

Cost of sales (27,843) (27,223) (30,382) (27,274) (112,722) 

Gross profit  20,715   12,659  20,089  12,557 66,020 

General and 
administrative costs 5,659 2,918 3,199 5,175 16,950 

Exploration costs     5,372      5,471    2,830     1,969 15,643 

Derivative (gains) losses 85     (158)    4,317       158 4,402 

Net profit      7,004     2,307    5,537     2,392 17,240 

Earnings per share  – 
basic and diluted      0.04      0.01     0.03      0.02 0.10 

 
 
Financial results for the last eight quarters reflect higher trending gold production, higher realized Canadian dollar 
gold prices, partially reduced by rising production costs.  The average realized Canadian dollar gold price in 2011 
was $1,567 per ounce, 33% higher than the $1,180 per ounce in 2010.  
 
Significant increases in exploration activities at Casa Berardi and Aurizon’s newly optioned properties in 2010, 
together with continued exploration and feasibility work at Joanna, have resulted in higher exploration costs being 
charged to earnings compared to 2010. 
 
Derivative gains and losses have been impacted by volatile gold and currency fluctuations. The Company delivered 
into the last of its obligations to deliver gold into call options at below market prices in the third quarter of 2010. 
During 2011 the Company entered into currency forward contracts only. 
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Liquidity and capital resources 
 
Operating Activities   
 
Cash flows from operating activities increased 138% in 2011 to $121.3 million compared to cash flows of $51.0 
million in 2010.  Cash flow in 2011 was positively impacted by higher net profits and decreases in non-cash working 
capital items. A significant increase in income and resource tax liabilities totalling $18.3 million, together with a 
reduction of tax credits receivable totalling $7.2 million, are the primary factors resulting in the decrease in non-cash 
working capital items. Operating profit margins increased 72% to US$1,041 per ounce from US$604 per ounce in 
2010 together with an 18% increase in ounces of gold sold in 2011 compared to the prior year.  
 
Investing Activities 
Aggregate investing activities resulted in cash outflows of $49.0 million, compared to $34.0 million in 2010.  Capital 
expenditures at Casa Berardi totalled $46.9 million in 2011, of which $33.2 million was for sustaining capital and 
exploration at Casa Berardi and $13.7 million was mining equipment and other infrastructure costs.   
 

(in $ thousands) 2011 2010 

Capital expenditures:   

Casa Berardi:   

  Sustaining capital and exploration $33,191 $21,596 

  Property, plant and equipment 13,709 10,633 

Casa Berardi property, plant and equipment 46,900 32,229 

Other investing activities:   

  Mineral property option payments 800 258 

  Property, plant and equipment 371 147 

  Other 918 1,364 

Total $48,989 $33,998 

Represented by:   

Property, plant and equipment 47,271 32,376 

Mineral properties  800 258 

Other 918 1,364 

Total $48,989 $33,998 

 

In 2011, capital expenditures at Casa Berardi totalling $46.9 million included: 

 1,161 metres of ramping, 2,938 metres of drifting and 426 metres of raising which have resulted in: 

 Extension of the mine workings from level 490 to 410 on Zone Upper 113. 

 Extension of mine workings from level 830 to 880 on Zone Lower 113. 

 Extension eastward of the mine workings on Zone 115 on levels 610,570 and 550. 

 Completion of the remaining deferred development on LI Zone. 

 93,953 metres of exploration and infill drilling, including 57,974 metres of underground drilling and 35,979 
metres of surface drilling. 

 New underground mobile equipment acquired to renew our fleet of scooptrams (3), trucks (1) and service 
equipment (9) including a scissor lift, boom truck, grader and tractor. 

 Shaft sinking initiated in the second quarter of 2011 resulting in 184 metres of vertical development, 464 
metres of lateral development and 20 metres of shaft development. 
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 Underground infrastructure to sustain operations, including ore/waste passes, lunchroom, electrical 
substations, fuel bays, backfill system and drainage on upper 113 and 115 Zones.  

 Surface infrastructure improvements including a new sewage system and trailer additions. 

 Tailing ponds walls heightening. 
 
In 2010 capital expenditures at Casa Berardi totalling $32.2 million included:  

 2,800 metres of drifting, 700 metres of ramping and 100 metres of raising. 

 Extension of the 550 level exploration drift by 700 metres.  

 98,700 metres of exploration and infill drilling, including 70,700 metres of underground drilling and 28,000 
metres of surface drilling. 

 New underground mobile equipment acquired to replace older equipment and improve rock handling 
capacity.  

 Underground infrastructure to sustain operations, including ore/waste passes, electrical substations, 
equipment repair and maintenance facility, fuel bays, backfill system and drainage for Zones 113 and 115.  

 Construction of the # 4 tailings cell and heightening of the existing tailing pond walls. 

 Upgrades to the mill recirculation pumps. 
 
Other investing activities in 2011 include $0.8 million for mineral property option payments; $0.4 million for capital 
additions to the offices in Val d’Or and Vancouver; $0.4 million for reclamation deposits for Casa Berardi; and $0.5 
million to acquire marketable securities of companies under the terms of a property option agreement.  In 2010, 
other investing activities include $0.3 million for mineral property option payments; $0.1 million for capital additions to 
the offices in Val d’Or and Vancouver; $0.3 million for reclamation deposits for Casa Berardi; $0.8 million to acquire 
marketable securities of companies under the terms of a property option agreement; and $0.3 million for security 
deposits.   
 
Financing Activities 
 
Financing activities in 2011 resulted in a net cash inflow of $1.8 million as proceeds of $3.1 million from the exercise 
of incentive stock options were partially offset by a repayment of a $0.8 million government assistance obligation and 
deferred finance costs totalling $0.5 million associated with the revolving credit facility.   
 
Financing activities in 2010 provided net cash inflows of $9.2 million as a result of incentive stock option exercises 
totalling $9.9 million, reduced by the repayment of government assistance of $0.7 million 
 
Aurizon’s aggregate operating, investing and financing activities during 2011 resulted in a net $74.1 million increase 
in its cash balances compared to a net increase of $26.2 million in 2010.  
 
Balance Sheet 
 
As at December 31, 2011, cash and cash equivalents increased to $213.5 million compared to $139.3 million as at 
December 31, 2010.  At the end of 2011, Aurizon had working capital of $197.8 million compared to $152.6 million at 
the end of 2010.  The increase in cash and working capital was primarily attributable to cash flows generated from 
Casa Berardi’s mining operations. 
 
Aurizon continued to have no debt as at December 31, 2011. 
 
As at the date of this report, Aurizon had 163,280,952 common shares issued and outstanding.  In addition, 10.8 
million incentive stock options are outstanding that are exercisable into common shares at an average price of $5.45 
per share. 
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Credit facility 
 
On January 31, 2011, Aurizon established a US$50 million revolving credit facility having an initial three year term 
and is secured by a charge over the assets of Aurizon.  Funds drawn on the facility may be used to finance 
working capital requirements, acquisitions, and for general corporate purposes.  There are no hedging 
requirements under the terms of the credit facility. The credit facility documentation has been negotiated on normal 
commercial and customary terms for such finance arrangements. The facility has three financial covenants 
including a leverage ratio, a tangible net worth calculation, and a mine coverage ratio. For the year ended 
December 31, 2011 these covenants were met. 
 
Related party transactions and off-balance sheet arrangements 
 
The Company has no related party or off-balance sheet arrangements to report. 
 
Contractual and other obligations 
 
The Company’s contractual and other obligations as at December 31, 2011 are summarized as follows: 
 

(in $ thousands) Total 
Less than 1 

year 
2 - 3 

years  
4 – 5 

 years 
More than 

5 years 

      

Asset retirement obligations(1) $ 19,002 $         - $1,213 $         - $17,789

Equipment purchase and supply  commitments 13,518 7,256 3,131 3,131 -

Mineral properties commitments 2,222 650 1,572 - -

Employee incentives 1,821 588 1,034 199 -

Head office lease 822 253 506 63 -

 $ 37,385 $ 8,747 $ 7,456 $ 3,393 $ 17,789
 

(1) Asset retirement obligations represent the undiscounted risk-adjusted future payments.   
 

Financial instruments 
 
The Company may, from time to time, use foreign exchange contracts to protect exchange rates for a portion of its 
future foreign exchange transactions.  Gold is quoted and sold in U.S. dollars on world markets whereas the 
Company’s operating and capital expenditures are denominated in Canadian dollars.  As a result, the Company’s 
future revenue streams and its profitability are subject to foreign exchange risk.  By protecting rates to convert U.S. 
dollars to Canadian dollars at fixed prices, the Company reduces its exposure to currency fluctuations.  
 
The Company's results are also highly sensitive to changes in the price of gold.  Gold prices fluctuate and are 
affected by numerous factors, including expectations with respect to the rate of inflation, exchange rates, interest 
rates, global and regional political and economic crises and governmental policies with respect to gold holdings by 
central banks.  Other than short dated (less than three months) contracts, the Company is not using forward sale 
contracts, or other derivative products, to protect the price level of its future gold sales, thereby providing exposure 
to commodity price risk. 
 
Foreign exchange and commodity risk management described above provide more certainty as to the prices the 
Company will receive for its products in Canadian dollars.  Accordingly, to the extent outlined by the aforementioned 
contracts, the Company may not participate fully in rising commodity prices and may not achieve average market 
prices.  The Company limits its counterparties in these transactions to major financial institutions, but cannot 
completely eliminate counterparty risk associated with these transactions.  
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Credit facility 
 
On January 31, 2011, Aurizon established a US$50 million revolving credit facility having an initial three year term 
and is secured by a charge over the assets of Aurizon.  Funds drawn on the facility may be used to finance 
working capital requirements, acquisitions, and for general corporate purposes.  There are no hedging 
requirements under the terms of the credit facility. The credit facility documentation has been negotiated on normal 
commercial and customary terms for such finance arrangements. The facility has three financial covenants 
including a leverage ratio, a tangible net worth calculation, and a mine coverage ratio. For the year ended 
December 31, 2011 these covenants were met. 
 
Related party transactions and off-balance sheet arrangements 
 
The Company has no related party or off-balance sheet arrangements to report. 
 
Contractual and other obligations 
 
The Company’s contractual and other obligations as at December 31, 2011 are summarized as follows: 
 

(in $ thousands) Total 
Less than 1 

year 
2 - 3 

years  
4 – 5 

 years 
More than 

5 years 

      

Asset retirement obligations(1) $ 19,002 $         - $1,213 $         - $17,789

Equipment purchase and supply  commitments 13,518 7,256 3,131 3,131 -

Mineral properties commitments 2,222 650 1,572 - -

Employee incentives 1,821 588 1,034 199 -

Head office lease 822 253 506 63 -

 $ 37,385 $ 8,747 $ 7,456 $ 3,393 $ 17,789
 

(1) Asset retirement obligations represent the undiscounted risk-adjusted future payments.   
 

Financial instruments 
 
The Company may, from time to time, use foreign exchange contracts to protect exchange rates for a portion of its 
future foreign exchange transactions.  Gold is quoted and sold in U.S. dollars on world markets whereas the 
Company’s operating and capital expenditures are denominated in Canadian dollars.  As a result, the Company’s 
future revenue streams and its profitability are subject to foreign exchange risk.  By protecting rates to convert U.S. 
dollars to Canadian dollars at fixed prices, the Company reduces its exposure to currency fluctuations.  
 
The Company's results are also highly sensitive to changes in the price of gold.  Gold prices fluctuate and are 
affected by numerous factors, including expectations with respect to the rate of inflation, exchange rates, interest 
rates, global and regional political and economic crises and governmental policies with respect to gold holdings by 
central banks.  Other than short dated (less than three months) contracts, the Company is not using forward sale 
contracts, or other derivative products, to protect the price level of its future gold sales, thereby providing exposure 
to commodity price risk. 
 
Foreign exchange and commodity risk management described above provide more certainty as to the prices the 
Company will receive for its products in Canadian dollars.  Accordingly, to the extent outlined by the aforementioned 
contracts, the Company may not participate fully in rising commodity prices and may not achieve average market 
prices.  The Company limits its counterparties in these transactions to major financial institutions, but cannot 
completely eliminate counterparty risk associated with these transactions.  
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Outlook 
 
With cash balances of $213 million and no debt as at December 31, 2011, Aurizon intends to utilize its strong 
operating cash flows and balance sheet to continue upgrading its mineral resources to mineral reserves; 
systematically explore its portfolio of exploration properties in Quebec; and pursue accretive opportunities. 
 
The long-term fundamentals for gold remain very strong if the US continues its policy of central bank monetary 
easing to combat uncertainties regarding the sustainability of their economic recovery. These measures have 
allowed US real interest rates to remain low, which is supportive of gold prices.  Continued sovereign debt issues in 
Europe remain and against this backdrop of uncertainty, central bank and investment buying of gold bullion appears 
to be strong.  Looking at the currency risks, the Canadian dollar remains close to parity against the US dollar as 
strong commodity prices and Canada’s sound fiscal and economic fundamentals attract foreign capital flows. 
However, further strengthening of the Canadian dollar should be more than compensated by higher gold prices that 
reflect a weaker US dollar.  In an environment of rising mining industry inflationary cost pressures, cost containment 
will be a primary focus of the Company in 2012. 
 
Casa Berardi enters its sixth year of commercial operations in 2012 following the re-commencement of operations in 
November 2006. Based upon the updated reserves estimate as at December 31, 2011, Casa Berardi’s estimated 
remaining mine life is nine years. 
 
Operating outlook for 2012 
 
It is estimated that Casa Berardi will produce approximately 155,000 - 160,000 ounces of gold in 2012 at an average 
grade of 7.5 grams of gold per tonne.  Average daily ore throughput is estimated at 2,000 tonnes per day, similar to 
2011.  Mine sequencing in 2012 will result in ore grades that are expected to be approximately 6% lower than those 
achieved in 2011.  Approximately 42% of production will come from Zone 113, 41% from the Lower Inter Zone, and 
the residual 17% from smaller zones and development material.  
 
Assuming a Canadian/U.S. dollar exchange rate at parity, total cash costs per ounce for the year are anticipated to 
approximate US$600 per ounce in 2012.  Onsite mining, milling and administration costs are expected to average 
$134 per tonne, up approximately 6% from 2011 costs as a result of higher stope preparation costs and smaller 
stopes. 
 
As quarterly operating results are expected to fluctuate throughout the year, they will not necessarily be reflective of 
these full year averages.  
 

The following key parameters form the basis of the 2012 production guidance and operating cost estimate: 

• Ore grade of 7.5 grams per tonne 
• Ore throughput of 2,000 tonnes per day 
• Mill recoveries of 91% 
• Canadian dollar at par against the U.S. dollar 
• Operating costs of $134 per tonne 

Based upon 157,500 ounces of gold production for 2012 and using the gold price and exchange rates as at 
December 31, 2011, the sensitivity of the Company’s cash flow to a 10% movement in either component is as 
follows:  
 

 

Dec 31, 2011 
price & 

exchange rates 
10% 

Variance 

Impact on 
Cash Flow 

($ thousands) 

 
Gold price  

 
US$1,575 

 
$158 

 
$13,900  

US/Cad dollar exchange rates: 1.02 0.10 $13,900 

 

As of March 12, 2012, gold prices were $1,698 per ounce and the US/Cad exchange rate was 0.99.  
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Casa Berardi Gold Mine, Quebec 
 
Capital expenditures at Casa Berardi, funded from operating cash flow, are estimated to total $80 million in 2012, as 
a result of three major capital projects: shaft sinking, construction of a paste backfill plant to maximize the extraction 
of high grade ore from Zone 113 and to allow greater mining flexibility, and continued replacement of mobile 
equipment.  These expenditures are comprised of the following: 
 
 

 
Capital expenditures 

2012 Budget
(in millions)

Sustaining capital $29.2 
Shaft deepening 16.7 
Property, plant and equipment 10.4 
Paste backfill plant 12.0 
Tailings pond 2.3 
Exploration 9.4 
Total $80.0 

 

Sustaining capital expenditures at Casa Berardi are budgeted to be $29.2 million and will include continued 
development of the lower portions of Zone 118 and 123.   
 
In 2012, $16.7 million is budgeted for the deepening of the West Mine production shaft a further 285 metres to 
provide access to the lower portion of the 113, 118 and 123 Zones.  The shaft, currently at a depth of 795 metres, 
will be extended to approximately 1,080 metres below surface, which will provide access at the 1,010 metre level to 
develop a drift from the shaft to Zones 118 and 123.  The shaft deepening is expected to be completed in the first 
quarter of 2013 and commissioned by the second quarter of 2013. 
 
Mining equipment replacement and fleet expansion to support the expanded development activities is budgeted at 
$10.4 million.  A further $12.0 million will be invested in the construction of a paste backfill plant and $2.3 million will 
be invested on raising the tailings pond walls to increase capacity. 
 
Casa Berardi Exploration 
 
In 2012, $9.4 million will be invested on exploration at Casa Berardi which will include approximately 88,000 metres 
of surface and underground diamond drilling.  Up to 3 surface and 5 - 7 underground drill rigs will be active during 
the course of 2012.  The Company expects to capitalize these costs as the primary objective of the drilling will be to 
improve the quality of the known reserves and resources as well as exploring for extensions of these structures. 
 

Surface exploration will include testing of the following: 

• Eastern extension of the Principal zone 
• Northwest extension of the Lower Inter Zone in the West mine 
• Extension of Zones 118-123 at depth 
• Southern area of Zone 118-123 at depth 
• Potential of the southern area between the Principal and the East Mine 
• Extension of Zone 160.   
 

Underground rigs will primarily focus on definition drilling of the Lower Inter, and Zones 109, 113, 118, and 123.  In 
addition, exploration drilling will be performed on the Principal, 118 and 140 Zones. 
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Joanna Gold Development Property, Quebec 
 
Feasibility study work on the Hosco deposit continues with completion of the study anticipated by midyear.  
Additional studies and cost-optimization plans that were initiated in August 2011, including a review of the mining 
sequence and layout of the surface infrastructure and further detailed environmental work, as well as studies on 
waste and tailings characterization for potential metal leaching, optimization of civil works, and selection of the 
optimal daily processing rate, are in various stages of progress. The results of the various studies will be 
incorporated into the feasibility study. 
 
The feasibility study will incorporate a reserve update based on the increased mineral resource estimate of 
2,245,000 ounces of gold (or 54.1 million tonnes at an average grade of 1.29 grams of gold per tonne) reported in 
the Company’s news release dated June 13, 2011, up from the 1,286,000 ounces of gold (or 30.1 million tonnes at 
an average grade of 1.33 grams of gold per tonne) on which the Pre-Feasibility Study (December 2009) for the 
Hosco deposit was based.  It will also be based on the selection of the autoclave recovery process and processing 
of the ore on-site at Joanna, both of which are expected to significantly reduce project risk.   
 
While some studies are still in progress, based on its review of information currently available the Company believes 
that the feasibility study is sufficiently advanced to conclude that the projected capital and unit operating costs will be 
significantly higher than estimated in the December 2009 Pre-Feasibility Study, due in part to the change in the 
scope of the project, the expanded mineral resource base, the selection of an autoclave process and a decision to 
process the ore on site. Readers are cautioned, however, that the Company's expectations are based on available 
information concerning feasibility study work that is not complete and has not been the subject of third party review.  
See further information under "Forward-Looking Information".  
 
In addition, the Company has initiated a $3.6 million exploration program, comprising 24,500 metres of drilling in the 
area of the Heva deposit which contains 270,000 ounces in measured and indicated resources, (4.4 million tonnes at 
an average grade of 1.9 grams per tonne) and 421,000 ounces in inferred ounces (7.7 million tonnes with an 
average grade of 1.7 grams per tonne) as reported in the Company’s news release dated January 11, 2012. The 
program will evaluate the surface potential along a 2.5 kilometre stretch of the Cadillac fault west of the Hosco 
deposit. 
 
Other Properties 
 
Exploration programs are also planned at the Company’s other Quebec properties.  A total $9.7 million will be 
invested in the following properties during 2012: 
 

 
Exploration expenditures 

2012 Budget 
(in millions)

Marban $4.9 
Fayolle 1.2 
Early stage projects 1.9 
General exploration 1.7 
Total $9.7 

 

Marban Property 
 
A second phase of drilling at Marban has commenced and will be split between surface targets and the down-dip 
extension targets below 250 metres to assess the gold distribution within the deposit and extend the inventory at 
depth.  The $4.9 million budget includes 34,000 metres of drilling, updated resource estimates, which are expected 
by the second quarter of 2012, and metallurgical work, hydrological characterization and geotechnical studies. 
 
Aurizon may earn up to a 65% interest in the Marban property, which comprises forty-two mining claims and three 
mining concessions covering 976 hectares in the center of the Malartic gold mining camp in the Abitibi region of 
Quebec, subject to underlying royalties.  The Marban block covers 3 kilometres of a 1 kilometre wide favourable gold 
bearing deformation zone punctuated by historic production, current mineral resources and exploration potential.  
Underground potential can be projected by following down dip extensions, similar to other deposits in the Abitibi 
area.   
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Fayolle Property 
 
The 2011 drill program demonstrated the extension of the mineralized system at surface, approximately  
1 kilometre from the Fayolle deposit. The initial challenge to understanding the geological structures controlling 
higher grade lenses has been met by using two different drill orientations.  The Company expects to generate a 
mineral resource estimate from the 2011 drill activity.  The $1.2 million proposed drill program for 2012 consists of 
7,000 metres with the objective of testing the lateral and down-dip extensions of the mineralized system.   
Aurizon may earn up to a 65% interest in the Fayolle Property, comprising 39 mining claims covering 1,373 hectares 
across the Porcupine-Destor Break, one of the most productive gold bearing structures of the Abitibi Belt.  The 
Fayolle Property is situated 10 kilometres north of Aurizon’s Joanna Project in north-western Quebec.   
 
Rex South Property 
 
An extensive program was conducted in 2011 with the objective of expanding the prospecting coverage across the 
property and to initiate a drill program on the Augossan Zone.  As a result, a number of new mineralized structures, 
extending along the 30 kilometre long Qualluviartuq corridor, were identified. 
 
Drilling on Augossan was performed on widely spaced sections and covered a 5 kilometre long continuous 
geophysical anomaly.  In addition, field investigations performed on Augossan, identified a well-defined altered shear 
zone, a few hundred metres east of the main Augossan Zone, which returned positive gold results along a kilometric 
sector.  Prospecting work also identified additional quality targets in other sectors.  Drilling and prospecting results of 
the summer 2011 program are currently under review and will be released on a timely basis.  The approach in 2012 
will be established as soon as this phase is completed in order to optimize future drilling programs on the property. 
 
Aurizon may earn up to a 65% interest in the Rex South Property comprising 2,138 claims covering a surface area of 
931 square kilometres, about 145 kilometres southeast of the community of Puvirnituq in northern Quebec.  The Rex 
South property hosts strong exploration potential based on extensive geochemical anomalies, geophysical 
signatures, and the presence of several mineralized prospects including high-grade gold and copper values obtained 
in grab samples.  
 
Opinaca-Wildcat Properties 
 
During 2011, an extensive exploration program was conducted at the Opinaca and Wildcat properties, situated in the 
James Bay area, 350 kilometres north of Matagami, Quebec and in close proximity to Goldcorp’s Eleonore project.  
At the Opinaca property, approximately $2.4 million was incurred, including 5,000 metres of drilling, and at the 
Wildcat property, approximately $1.0 million was incurred, which included 2,000 metres of drilling.   
 
The objectives of the 2011 program were to test, by drilling, the two showings located in the southern part of the joint 
venture claims holding, and to sample systematically the arsenic anomaly in the lakes surrounding the drilling areas. 
 
The Company’s approach for 2012 will be to review the data gathered in 2011 in order to optimize future work. 
 
Duverny Property 
 
At Duverny, the 2012 exploration program will include 6,000 metres of drilling and will test an area that is 2 
kilometres by 6 kilometres in size.  The exploration program in 2011 included geophysics, prospecting and soil 
surveys and results have identified a large gold anomaly situated in the center of the property.  
 
Aurizon may earn a 100% interest in 44 mineral claims covering 2,100 hectares, 25 kilometres northeast of Amos, 
Quebec, subject to underlying royalties.  The Duverny Property covers part of a mafic volcanic belt associated with 
the Chicobi fault corridor.  Gold mineralization indicators in this area have similarities to the Timmins context, such 
as strong carbonization, porphyry injections and the presence of extensive quartz vein systems associated with 
folded structures. 
 
Duvay Property 
 
An exploration program commenced in 2011 with the excavation of five small bulk samples on the main gold bearing 
structure on the Duvay property.  The initial objective was to assess the impact of the suspected nugget effect of the 
Duvay mineralization.  Gold and sulphides from a large sample have been processed and concentrated to compare 
the grades obtained versus standard sampling methods.  Results from this work are expected in the first quarter of 
2012.  This work will evolve into a drilling program to test the potential of the main Duvay Zone.  
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The Company may earn an initial 50% interest in the Duvay property by making cash payments of $1.5 million and 
incurring work expenditures totalling $6.5 million, over the next four years, of which firm commitments totalling $2.5 
million must be incurred in the first 18 months of the agreement.  An additional 15% interest may be earned by either 
delivering a pre-feasibility study on the property or by incurring $13 million of additional exploration expenditures 
within a three year period of achieving the 50% initial interest.  
 
The Duvay property is comprised of 132 mineral claims covering 4,999 hectares and is adjacent to the Duverny 
project located in the Chicobi deformation system in an area characterized by a higher density of felsic intrusions.  
Historical trenching and bulk sampling had identified an extensive quartz vein network presenting a potential for 
large targets. 
 
Patris Property 
 
Aurizon signed an option agreement with Midland Exploration Inc. in December 2010 to earn an initial 50% interest 
in mineral claims situated near the Joanna project for a strategic regional approach.  The first phase exploration 
program was initiated in late 2011 and has demonstrated the presence of gold anomalies in a favourable geological 
context which will require further follow up exploration activities in 2012.  
 
Corporate Development 
 
The 2012 exploration strategy is a pragmatic approach that will target exploration projects that offer better 
opportunities to reach advanced stage development within a 1 to 3 year period.   
 
Aurizon continues to focus on its organic growth within the Abitibi area, whilst evaluating accretive opportunities 
within the Americas to enhance its reserve and production profile. 
 
Non-GAAP measures 
 
a) Realized gold price per ounce  
 
Realized gold price per ounce is a non-GAAP measure and is calculated by adjusting revenue for all gains and 
losses on gold derivative instruments and silver by-product sales and then dividing that by the gold ounces sold and 
the average Bank of Canada Cad$/US$ exchange rate.  For 2011, there were no derivative adjustments required 
and silver sales totalled $1.1 million compared to gold derivative losses of $13.0 million and silver sales totalling $0.6 
million in 2010.  
 
b) Total cash costs per ounce of gold  
 
Aurizon has included a non-GAAP performance measure, total cash costs per ounce of gold, in this report.  Aurizon 
reports total cash costs on a sales basis.  In the gold mining industry, this is a common performance measure but 
does not have any standardized meaning, and is a non-GAAP measure.  The Company believes that, in addition to 
conventional measures prepared in accordance with GAAP, certain investors use this information to evaluate the 
Company’s performance and ability to generate cash flow.  Accordingly, it is intended to provide additional 
information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in 
accordance with GAAP.  Total cash costs per gold ounce are derived from amounts included in the statements of 
earnings and include mine site operating costs such as mining, processing and administration, but exclude 
amortization, reclamation costs, financing costs and capital development costs.  The costs included in the calculation 
of total cash costs per ounce of gold are reduced by silver by-product sales and then divided by gold ounces sold 
and the average Bank of Canada Cad$/US$ exchange rate.  
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c) Unit mining costs per tonne 
 
Unit mining costs per tonne is a non-GAAP measure and may not be comparable to data prepared by other gold 
producers.  The Company believes that this generally accepted industry measure is a realistic indication of operating 
performance and is useful in allowing year over year comparisons.  Unit mining costs per tonne are calculated by 
adjusting operating costs as shown in the Statements of Earnings for inventory adjustments and then dividing that by 
the tonnes processed through the mill.  For 2011, operating costs were increased by inventory adjustments of $2.0 
million compared to an operating cost increase of $0.4 million in 2010 resulting from inventory adjustments.  
 
d) Operating profit margin per ounce 
 
Operating profit margin per ounce is a non-GAAP measure, and is calculated by subtracting the total cash costs per 
ounce from the average realized gold price.  For 2011, the average realized gold price was US$1,578 less total cash 
costs of US$537 for an operating profit margin of US$1,041, compared to an average realized gold price of 
US$1,145 less total cash costs of US$541 for an operating profit margin of US$604 in 2010. 
 
For the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2011, the average realized gold price was US$1,655 less total cash 
costs of US$498 for an operating profit margin of US$1,157 compared to an average realized gold price of 
US$1,376 less total cash costs of $531 for an operating profit margin of US$845 in 2010. 
 
e) Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) 
 
EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure and is calculated by adjusting the net profit or loss to exclude depreciation and 
amortization charges, finance expense, finance income, and income tax expense.  The following table provides a 
reconciliation of net profit to EBITDA for the fourth quarter and twelve months ended December 31: 

     
 Fourth Quarter  Year ended 
 2011 2010  2011 2010 

  
Net profit for the period $21,810 $7,004 $43,931 $17,240

Depreciation and amortization 12,566 8,465 39,131 34,249
Finance income (503) (228) (1,538) (719)
Finance costs 230 176 921 750
Income tax expense 16,968 2,756 42,653 13,911

EBITDA $51,071 $18,173 $125,098 $65,431

 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
 
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to use estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, as well as revenues and expenses.   
 
Reserves and Resources 
 
The most critical accounting estimates, upon which the Company’s financial statements depend, are those requiring 
estimates of proven and probable reserves and resources, recoverable ounces there from, and assumptions of 
operating costs and future gold prices.  Such estimates and assumptions affect the potential impairment of long-lived 
assets and the rate at which depreciation and amortization are charged to earnings.  
  
The Company records mineral property acquisition costs and mine development costs at cost.   A significant portion 
of the Company’s property, plant and equipment and mine development costs will be depreciated and amortized on 
a unit-of-production basis.  Under the unit-of-production method, the calculation of depreciation and amortization of 
property, plant and equipment and mine development costs is based on the amount of reserves expected to be 
recovered from each location. 
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The estimate of mineral reserves is prepared by qualified persons in accordance with industry standards defined 
under NI 43-101 of the Canadian Securities regulatory authorities.  The process of estimating quantities of gold 
reserves is complex, requiring significant decisions in the evaluation of all available geological, geophysical, 
engineering and economic data.  The data for a given ore body may also change substantially over time as a result 
of numerous factors, including, but not limited to, additional development activity, production history and the 
continual reassessment of the viability of ore bodies under various economic conditions.  A material revision to 
existing reserve estimates could occur because of, among other things: revisions to geological data or assumptions; 
a change in the assumed gold prices; and the results of drilling and exploration activities.   
 
Recoverable Values 
 
Carrying values of producing mining properties and the property, plant and equipment associated with those mining 
properties are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances occur that suggest possible 
impairment.  When such conditions exist, estimated future net cash flows from the property are calculated using 
estimated future prices, reserves and resources, operating and capital costs on an undiscounted basis.  If the net 
carrying value of the property exceeds the estimated future net cash flows, the property will be written down to its fair 
value based on the discounted estimated future net cash flows. 
 
Asset Retirement Obligations 
 
The Company has an obligation to reclaim its properties after the minerals have been mined from the site, and has 
estimated the costs necessary to comply with existing reclamation standards.  These estimated costs are recorded 
as a liability at their present values in the periods in which they occur, and at each reporting period, are increased to 
reflect the interest element (accretion expense) considered in the initial fair value measurement of the liabilities.  If 
the estimate of reclamation costs proves to be inaccurate, the Company could be required to increase or decrease 
the provision for site closure and reclamation costs, which would increase or decrease the amount of future 
reclamation expense per ounce, resulting in a reduction or increase in the Company’s earnings and net assets. 
 
Assumptions used in determining the Company’s asset retirement obligation at December 31, 2011 include pre-tax 
discount rates ranging from 0.99% to 2.49% based upon expected timing of retirement of asset. 
 
Stock Based Compensation 
 
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of awards for stock options 
granted to employees, officers and directors.  The primary estimates impacting fair value of stock options are the 
volatility of the share price and the expected life of the stock options. These estimates are based on historical 
information and accordingly cannot be relied upon to predict future behaviour. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
The estimation of the Company’s future tax liabilities and assets involves significant judgment on a number of 
assumptions.  Judgment must be used to determine the Company’s future earnings potential and the expected 
timing of the reversal of future tax assets and liabilities.  Further uncertainties are the result of interpretation of 
provincial and federal tax legislation which might differ from the ultimate assessment of the tax authorities.  These 
differences may affect the final amount or the timing of the payment of taxes.  
    
Risks and uncertainties 
 
The following is a brief discussion of those distinctive or special characteristics of Aurizon’s operations and industry, 
which may have a material impact on, or constitute risk factors in respect of Aurizon’s financial performance. 
 
Mining Risks and Insurance 
 
The business of gold mining is subject to certain types of risks and hazards, including environmental hazards, 
industrial accidents, unusual or unexpected changes to rock formations, changes in the regulatory environment, 
cave-ins and flooding and gold bullion losses.  Such occurrences could result in damage to, or destruction of, 
mineral properties or production facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage, delays in mining, 
monetary losses and possible legal liability.  Any payments made with regards to such liabilities may have a material 
adverse effect on Aurizon’s financial performance and results of operations.  The Company carries insurance to 
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protect itself against certain risks of mining and processing to the extent that is economically feasible but which may 
not provide adequate coverage in all circumstances. 
 
Uncertainty of Mineral Reserves 
 
Mineral reserves and mineral resources are estimates of the size and grade of deposits based on limited sampling 
and on certain assumptions and parameters.  No assurance can be given that the anticipated tonnages and grades 
will be achieved or that the indicated level of recovery of gold will be realized.  The ore grade actually recovered by 
the Company may differ from the estimated grades of the mineral reserves and mineral resources.  Prolonged 
declines in the market price of gold may render mineral reserves containing relatively lower grades of gold 
mineralization uneconomic to exploit and could materially reduce the Company’s reserves. Should such reductions 
occur, the Company could be required to take a material write-down of its investment in mining properties or delay or 
discontinue production or the development of new projects, resulting in increased net losses and reduced cash flow. 
Market price fluctuations of gold, as well as increased production costs or reduced recovery rates, may render 
mineral reserves containing relatively lower grades of mineralization uneconomical to recover and may ultimately 
result in a restatement of mineral resources.  Short-term factors relating to mineral reserves, such as the need for 
orderly development of ore bodies or the processing of new or different grades, may impair the profitability of a mine 
in any particular accounting period. 
 
The Company adjusts its mineral reserves annually by the amount extracted in the previous year, by the additions 
and reductions resulting from new geological information and interpretation, actual mining experience, and from 
changes in operating costs and metal prices.  Mineral reserves are not revised in response to short-term cyclical 
price variations in metal markets.   
 
Replacement of Mineral Reserves 
 
There are a number of uncertainties inherent in any program relating to the location of economic mineral reserves, 
the development of appropriate metallurgical processes, the receipt of necessary governmental permits and the 
construction of mining and processing facilities and the appropriate financing thereof.  Accordingly, there can be no 
assurance that the Company’s programs will yield new mineral reserves to replace mined reserves and to expand 
current mineral reserves.  
  
Government Permits 
 
Continuation of production at Casa Berardi and the development of the Joanna project will require additional 
approvals, permits and certificates of authorization from different government agencies on an on-going basis.  
Obtaining the necessary governmental permits is a complex and time-consuming process involving numerous 
jurisdictions and may involve public hearings and costly undertakings on the part of the Company.  The duration and 
success of permitting efforts are contingent upon many variables not within the Company’s control.  Environmental 
protection permitting, including the approval of reclamation plans, could increase costs depending on the nature of 
the activity to be permitted and the interpretation of applicable requirements implemented by the permitting authority.  
There can be no assurance that all necessary permits will be obtained and, if obtained, that the costs involved will 
not exceed those previously estimated by the Company.  To date, the Company has been successful in obtaining 
the necessary permits. 
 
Labour Markets 
 
Aurizon employs a number of technical personnel with a variety of relevant experience, education and professional 
designations and acquires other specialized skills and knowledge by engaging, on a contract basis, professionals in 
the geological, metallurgical, engineering, environmental and other relevant disciplines.  The Company endeavours 
to maintain attractive remuneration and compensation packages in order to attract and retain the required skilled, 
experienced personnel. 
 
Contractors, under the supervision of Aurizon’s staff, are engaged to carry out the construction, underground mine 
development and diamond drill activities.  Significant and increasing competition for skilled miners exists and the 
loss of a mining contractor would be challenging for the Company.  However, as the Company engages several 
contractors for different mining disciplines, the Company believes that it is not dependent upon any one mining 
contractor, the loss of which would have a material adverse effect on the business of the Company. 
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Reclamation Obligations 
 
Reclamation requirements may change and do vary depending on the location and the government regulatory body, 
but they are similar in that they aim to minimize long term effects of exploration and mining disturbance by requiring 
the operating company to control possible deleterious effluents and to re-establish to some degree pre-disturbance 
land forms and vegetation.  All of the Company’s operations are subject to reclamation, site restoration and closure 
requirements.  The Company calculates its estimates of the ultimate reclamation liability based on current laws and 
regulations and the expected future costs to be incurred in reclaiming, restoring and closing its operating mine sites.  
It is possible that the Company’s estimate of its ultimate reclamation liability could change in the near term due to 
possible changes in laws and regulations and changes in cost estimates. 
 
Gold Price Volatility 
 
The Company's results are highly sensitive to changes in the price of gold.  Gold prices fluctuate and are affected by 
numerous factors, including expectations with respect to the rate of inflation, exchange rates, interest rates, global 
and regional political and economic crises and governmental policies with respect to gold holdings by central banks.  
The demand for and supply of gold affects gold prices but not necessarily in the same manner as demand and 
supply affect the prices of other commodities.  The supply of gold consists of a combination of mine production and 
existing stocks of bullion and fabricated gold held by governments, public and private financial institutions, industrial 
organizations and private individuals.  The demand for gold consists primarily of jewelry and investment demand. 
 
Financing of Exploration Programs 
 
Mineral reserves have been estimated on the Company’s Casa Berardi and Joanna properties; however Aurizon 
intends to carry out further exploration on these properties with the objective of establishing additional economic 
mineral reserves.  Exploration for minerals is a speculative business necessarily involving a high degree of risk.  It is 
not known if the expenditures to be made by the Company on its mineral properties will result in discoveries of 
additional commercial mineral reserves.  If the Company’s efforts are not successful at individual properties, the 
expenditures at those properties will be written off.  If the Company’s exploration programs are successful, additional 
funds may be required for the development of economic mineral reserves in order to achieve commercial production.  
In addition, the exploration and development of the Company's properties may depend upon its ability to obtain 
financing through the joint venturing of projects, sale of property interests, debt financing, equity financing or other 
means.  There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in obtaining the required financing on 
commercially reasonable terms, or at all.  The inability of the Company to obtain necessary financing could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to explore and develop its properties. 
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Forward-looking statements   
 
This report contains “forward-looking statements” and “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable 
securities regulations in Canada and the United States (collectively, “forward-looking information”).  The forward-
looking information contained in this report is made as of the date of this report.  Except as required under applicable 
securities legislation, the Company does not intend, and does not assume any obligation, to update this forward-
looking information.   
 
Forward-looking information relating to the Company's Casa Berardi project includes 2012 production estimates, 
anticipated average daily ore throughput, total cash costs per ounce, and milling and administration costs.  This 
information is based on assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable, including but not limited to that that 
the Company’s current mine plan can be achieved, general business and economic conditions will not change in a 
material adverse manner, material, equipment and labour costs and currency exchange rates will remain stable, and 
that the Company will not experience any material accident, labour dispute, or failure of plant or equipment.  
Forward-looking information relating to the Joanna project includes statements regarding the Company’s 
expectations as to timing of completion of the feasibility study, the impact on previously estimated capital and unit 
operating costs of changes in the scope of the project including but not limited to the impact of the increased mineral 
resource base and selection of an autoclave recovery process and processing of ore on-site, the anticipated effect of 
the latter in mitigating risks associated with the project, and plans and budgets for exploration activities in the area of 
the Heva deposit.   
 
Forward-looking information is by its nature uncertain and involves foreseeable and unforeseeable risks and other 
factors which may cause the actual outcomes, costs, timing, and performance to be materially different from those 
anticipated by such information.  In relation to the Casa Berardi forward-looking information, such factors include, 
among others, the risk that some or all of the assumptions on which such information is based prove to be invalid 
including that the cost of labour, equipment or materials, including power, will increase more than expected, that the 
price of gold will decline, that the Canadian dollar will strengthen against the U.S. dollar, that mineral reserves or 
mineral resources are not as estimated, unexpected occurrences that affect rates of production, including failure or 
disruption to plant, process or equipment, labour unrest, unexpected variations in ore reserves, grade or recovery 
rates, or accidents, that actual costs or actual results of reclamation activities are greater than expected.  In relation 
to the forward-looking information on the Joanna project, factors and risks that could materially affect such 
expectations and information include the possibility that changes in project parameters as plans continue to be 
refined, including as a result of third party review and the results of studies remaining to be completed, could have a 
material negative or positive impact on capital and operating costs, resource and reserves calculations, and timing of 
completion of the feasibility study and the impact could be material, that any of the information available to the 
Company to date proves to be inaccurate, that mineral resource and reserves are not as estimated, or that changes 
in laws relating to permitting, construction, environmental and other matters occur that affect timing, costs, and 
economics of the project as presently conceived.   
 
There are a number of other risks and uncertainties associated with exploration, development and mining activities 
that may affect the reliability of such forward-looking information including those described in Aurizon’s Annual 
Information Form ("AIF") filed with the securities commission of all of the provinces and territories of Canada and in 
Aurizon’s Annual Report on Form 40-F filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("40-F"), 
which are available on Sedar at www.sedar.com and on Edgar at www.sec.gov.   
 
There may be factors in addition to those described herein or on the AIF and 40-F that cause actions, events or 
results to not be as anticipated, estimated or intended. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on 
forward-looking information due to the inherent uncertainty thereof. 
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International financial reporting standards (“IFRS”)  
 
The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles as set out in the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA Handbook”). In 
2010, the CICA Handbook was revised to incorporate International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), and 
require publicly accountable enterprises to apply such standards effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 
2011.  Accordingly, the financial statements prepared for the year ended December 31, 2011 are the Company’s first 
set of annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. Due to the requirement to present comparative 
financial information, the effective transition date was January 1, 2010. 
 
Transitional financial impact 
 
Note 26 in the annual financial statements for the year ended December 31 2011 provides detailed explanations of 
the optional transitional exemptions selected, financial statement presentation changes, and the key Canadian 
GAAP to IFRS differences for the Company on transition. It should be read in conjunction with this MD&A and the 
first annual financial statements under IFRS filed for the Company for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 
Significant accounting differences 
 
The following is a discussion of the significant accounting differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS that 
impacted the Company’s financial statements. 
 
IFRS 2 adjustment 
 
Share options issued by the Company have a specific vesting schedule which is treated differently under IFRS 
compared to Canadian GAAP.  The Company reviewed the Canadian GAAP share-based compensation calculation 
methods and adjusted the methods to take into account the required IFRS compliant changes. The Company also 
elected to use the transition exemption available under IFRS 1 to not retrospectively apply the new calculation 
method to any share option tranche that was granted after November 7, 2002 and which vested before January 1, 
2010.  
 
Asset retirement obligation (“ARO”) adjustment 
 
Canadian GAAP calculates ARO using current credit-adjusted, risk-free rates for upward adjustments, and the 
original credit-adjusted, risk free rate for downward revisions. The original liability was not adjusted for changes in 
current discount rates. IFRS however, calculates ARO using a current pre-tax discount rate, (which reflects current 
market assessment of the time value of money and the risk specific to liability) and is revised every reporting period 
to reflect changes in assumptions or discount rates.  
 
To calculate the ARO liability and long-lived asset under IFRS, the Company elected to apply the exemption 
available from full retrospective application as allowed under IFRS 1. As such, the Company re-measured the 
rehabilitation liability as at January 1, 2010 and subsequent change in obligations under IAS 37 Provisions, 
contingent liabilities and contingent assets, estimating the amount to be included in the related asset by discounting 
the liability to the date of first disturbance in which the liability arose, using best estimates of the historical risk-free 
discount rates, and recalculating the accumulated depreciation and amortization under IFRS. 
 
In addition, under Canadian GAAP, the unwinding of the discount was presented within the depreciation and 
amortization expense, and has now been reclassified to finance costs as required under IFRS. 
 
Deferred tax 
 
Under Canadian GAAP, deferred taxation assets were classified between current and non-current based on the 
classification of the underlying asset and liabilities that gave rise to the differences. IAS 12 Income taxes requires 
that all deferred taxation amounts be classified as non-current. 
 
Deferred taxes have also been adjusted for the changes to accounting base values arising as a result of the 
adjustments for first time adoption of IFRS. 
 
 
  



Aurizon Mines Ltd. Annual Report 2011  | Page 57

AURIZON MINES LTD. 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

 

Flow-through shares 
 
Flow-through shares are a unique Canadian income tax incentive which were subject to specific guidance under 
Canadian GAAP and US GAAP; however, there is no equivalent IFRS guidance. In the absence of specific 
guidance, the Company has adopted the approach to account for flow-through shares such that amounts resulting 
from the renunciation of flow-through expenditures will no longer be reflected as a reduction of share capital. 
 
Share issuance costs  
 
Under IFRS, any private placements undertaken require the amount credited to share capital to be the net amount of 
cash that has been raised, plus the value of any tax benefit. The Company reviewed all prior private placements, 
share issuance costs and effective annual tax rates, and calculated an IFRS adjustment for the value of the tax 
benefit previously recorded to deficit under Canadian GAAP. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
 
Upon transition to IFRS, producing mineral properties are now presented in property, plant and equipment in 
accordance with IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment. Exploration and evaluation assets continue to be classified 
as mineral properties as per the requirements of IFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources. 
 
Presentation changes 
 
The transition to IFRS resulted in numerous financial statement presentation changes (‘reclassifications’), most 
noticeably on the statement of comprehensive income when compared to the previous Canadian GAAP statement of 
earnings. These reclassifications have been identified in the reconciliations contained within this note and have no 
impact on the final equity position of the Company. To help our shareholders understand these presentation 
changes easily we have provided an additional analysis below: 
 

• Expenses by function – the statement of comprehensive income now presents expenses by function. 
Accordingly, depreciation and amortization is no longer presented as a separate line item but is included in cost 
of sales; 

• Cost of sales – is presented above the line with revenue to show a gross profit for operations; 
• Other losses (gains) – includes items the Company considers part of the operations of our business such as 

loss (gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment, foreign exchange gains, capital taxes and royalty income; 
• Finance income – as required by IFRS, includes interest received from investments and is now presented after 

operating profit; 
• Finance expenses – as required by IFRS, includes accretion, amortization of deferred finance costs, and 

finance charges; 
• Other derivative gains -  realized and non-cash derivative gains and losses are now presented after operating 

profit; 
• Income tax expense – is now presented as one line item. Disclosure of the individual components is made in 

note 17 of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 
Control activities 
 
All accounting policy statements and transitional financial position impacts were subject to review and approval by 
senior management and the Audit Committee. The Company applied its existing control framework to the IFRS 
changeover process and noted that no significant changes were required for the transition to IFRS.  
 
Business activities and key performance measures 
 
The Company assessed the impact of transition to IFRS on business activities and key performance measures and 
found no significant impact. 
 
Information technology systems 
 
The IFRS transition project did not have a significant impact on our information technology systems for the 
convergence periods. We do not expect any significant changes in the post-convergence period either.
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Disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting 
 
Disclosure controls and procedures 
 
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that material information is 
gathered and reported to senior management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as 
appropriate to permit timely decisions regarding public disclosure. 
Management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of 
the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in the rules of the US Securities and 
Exchange Commission and Canadian Securities Administration, as at December 31, 2011.  Based on this 
evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or 
submitted by the Company under United States and Canadian securities legislation is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in those rules. 
 
Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting 
 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.  
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures, may 
deteriorate. 
 
Management has used the criteria established in “Internal Control – Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) to evaluate the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  Based on this assessment, management has concluded that as at 
December 31, 2011, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective. 
 
The effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting as at December 31, 2011 has been 
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm. 
 
Changes in internal control over financial reporting 
 
There have been no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting during the year ended 
December 31, 2011 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal controls 
over financial reporting. 
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Management’s responsibility for financial reporting 
 
Management is responsible for the integrity and fair presentation of the financial information contained in this annual 
report. Where appropriate, the financial information, including financial statements, reflects amounts based on the 
best estimates and judgments of management. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in Canada. Financial information presented elsewhere in the annual report 
is consistent with that disclosed in the financial statements. 
 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Any 
system of internal control over financial reporting, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations. Therefore, 
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial 
statement preparation and presentation.  
 
The Board of Directors oversees management’s responsibility for financial reporting and internal control systems 
through an Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent directors. The Audit Committee meets 
periodically with management and the independent auditors to review the scope and results of the annual audit and 
to review the financial statements and related financial reporting and internal control matters before the financial 
statements are approved by the Board of Directors and submitted to the shareholders. 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, appointed by the shareholders, 
have audited our financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and have 
expressed their opinion in the auditors’ report.  
 

             

George Paspalas     Ian S. Walton 
President and     Executive Vice-President 
Chief Executive Officer    and Chief Financial Officer 

Vancouver, B.C., Canada 
March 16, 2012 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Shareholders of Aurizon Mines Ltd.  
 
We have completed an integrated audit of Aurizon Mines Ltd.’s December 31, 2011 financial statements and its internal 
control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2011 and an audit of its December 31, 2010 financial statements. 
Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.  
 
Report on the financial statements  
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Aurizon Mines Ltd., which comprise the balance sheets as 
at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010 and the statements of comprehensive income, changes 
in equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related notes, which comprise a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards require that we comply with ethical requirements. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence, on a test basis, about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles and policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion on the financial statements. 
 
 

 
 
 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Accountants 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place, 250 Howe Street, Suite 700, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada  V6C 3S7 
T: +1 604 806 7000, F: +1 604 806 7806, www.pwc.com/ca 
 
 
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership, which is a member firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited, each member firm of which is a 
separate legal entity. 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Aurizon Mines 
Ltd. as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
 
Report on internal control over financial reporting  
 
We have also audited Aurizon Mines Ltd.’s internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2011, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  
 
Management’s responsibility for internal control over financial reporting 
Management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of 
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in Management’s 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations.  
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained 
in all material respects. 
 
An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control, based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we consider 
necessary in the circumstances. 
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our audit opinion on the company’s internal control over 
financial reporting.  

Definition of internal control over financial reporting 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance 
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have 
a material effect on the financial statements.  
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Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Aurizon Mines 
Ltd. as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
 
Report on internal control over financial reporting  
 
We have also audited Aurizon Mines Ltd.’s internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2011, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  
 
Management’s responsibility for internal control over financial reporting 
Management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of 
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in Management’s 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations.  
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained 
in all material respects. 
 
An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control, based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we consider 
necessary in the circumstances. 
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our audit opinion on the company’s internal control over 
financial reporting.  

Definition of internal control over financial reporting 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance 
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have 
a material effect on the financial statements.  
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Inherent limitations 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, Aurizon Mines Ltd. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as at December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by 
COSO. 
 
 

 
 
Chartered Accountants 
 
Vancouver, British Columbia 
March 16, 2012 
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Aurizon Mines Ltd.  
Balance Sheets 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
 

As at, Notes 
December 31, 2011

 
December 31, 2010 

 (Note 26) 
January 1, 2010

 (Note 26) 
ASSETS     
Current assets     
 Cash and cash equivalents 5 $ 213,486 $ 139,341  $ 113,098
 Marketable securities 6 864  1,129  -     
 Inventories  7 12,545  12,085  11,897  
 Accounts receivable and other  8 9,474  7,258  4,825  
 Derivative instrument assets 14b 357  -     5,274  
 Tax credits receivable 9 5,210  12,398  2,587  
Total current assets  241,936  172,211  137,681  
Non-current assets     
 Property, plant and equipment 10 164,783  152,012  163,976  
 Mineral properties 11 4,995  4,220  2,362  
 Deferred finance costs 12 343  -     -     
 Other assets  13 6,324  8,100  14,551  
Total non-current assets  176,445  164,332  180,889  

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 418,381  $ 336,543  $ 318,570  

      
LIABILITIES     
Current liabilities     
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 15 $  25,788  $ 18,905  $ 16,451  
 Derivative instrument liabilities  14b -     -     13,885  
 Current income and resource tax liabilities 17b 18,338  -     3,752  
 Current portion of long-term obligations   -     756  652  
Total current liabilities  44,126  19,661  34,740  
Non-current liabilities      
 Long-term obligations  -     -     705  
 Provisions  16 16,153  13,114  23,255  
 Deferred tax liabilities  17c 36,918  35,378  28,150  
Total non-current liabilities  53,071  48,492  52,110  
Total liabilities  97,197  68,153  86,850  
     
EQUITY     
Shareholders’ equity     
      Issued capital 18 274,165  269,677  253,874  
 Contributed surplus  1,170  1,022  979  
 Stock based compensation 18 18,711  13,719  10,514  
 Accumulated other comprehensive gains (losses)  (386) 379  -    
 Retained earnings (Deficit)  27,524  (16,407) (33,647) 
Total shareholders’ equity  321,184  268,390  231,720  
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  $ 418,381  $ 336,543  $ 318,570  

The attached notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
These financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on March 14, 2012. They are signed on the Company’s behalf by: 
 
 
 
       
Andre Falzon, Chairman of the Audit Committee  George Paspalas, President and Chief Executive Officer 
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 Aurizon Mines Ltd. 
Statements of Comprehensive Income 
(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated) 

 
 

For the years ended Notes December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
(Note 26)

    
Revenue  $ 259,999  $ 178,743  
Less cost of sales 19 (127,725) (112,723) 
Gross profit  132,274  66,020  
    
Other operating expenses    
Exploration costs 19 (26,468) (15,643) 
General and administration costs 19 (19,547) (16,950) 
Other net gains (losses)  (457) 2,157  
Operating profit  85,802  35,584  
    
Finance income 20 1,538  719  
Finance costs 20 (921) (750) 
Other derivative gains (losses) 20 165  (4,402) 
Profit before income tax  86,584  31,151  
    
Income tax expense 17a (42,653) (13,911) 
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  43,931  17,240  
    
Other comprehensive income (loss)    
Non-cash gain (loss) on marketable securities   (765) 379  
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  $  43,166  $  17,619  

    

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – Basic  162,623 160,250 

Earnings per share (excluding OCI) – Basic – expressed in cents per share  $ 0.27 $ 0.10 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – Diluted  164,374 162,149 

Earnings per share (excluding OCI) – Diluted– expressed in cents per share  $ 0.27 $ 0.10 

The attached notes form an integral part of these financial statements.    
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Aurizon Mines Ltd. 
Statements of Changes in Equity 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated) 

 
 

For the years ended 
December 31, 2011 

 
December 31, 2010

(Note 26)   
Share capital   
 Balance at beginning of year $ 269,677  $ 253,874  
      Share issuances for cash 3,102  9,887  
      Fair value of share options exercised 1,386  4,316  
      Mineral properties payments -    1,600  
 Balance at end of year  274,165  269,677  
Contributed surplus 
 Balance at beginning of year 1,022  979  
      Forfeitures of vested share options 148  43  
 Balance at end of year  1,170  1,022  
Stock based compensation 
 Balance at beginning of year 13,719  10,514  
      Stock based compensation 6,526  7,564  

      Forfeitures of share options  
          Value of vested options transferred to contributed surplus          

 
(148) 

 
(43) 

      Share options exercised, transferred to share capital (1,386) (4,316) 
 Balance at end of year  18,711  13,719  
Accumulated other comprehensive income   
 Balance at beginning of year 379    -    
  Non-cash gains (losses) on marketable securities (765) 379  
 Balance at end of year  (386) 379  
Retained earnings (Deficit) 
 Balance at beginning of year (16,407) (33,647) 
     Net profit for the year 43,931  17,240  
 Balance at end of year  27,524  (16,407) 
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 321,184 $ 268,390 
The attached notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Aurizon Mines Ltd. 
 Statements of Cash Flows 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated) 

 
 

For the years ended 
Notes December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

(Note 26) 
    
Operating activities    
Net profit for the year  $  43,931  $  17,240  
Adjustment for non-cash items:    

 Depreciation and amortization   39,131  34,249  

 Share-based compensation  6,526  7,564  

 Deferred income taxes  1,540  7,227  

 Refundable and non-refundable taxes  2,077  6,904  

 Derivative losses gains  (357) (8,611) 

 Other 23a 1,077  907  

   93,925  65,480  
 Decrease (increase) in non-cash working capital items 23b 27,372  (14,460) 

Net cash provided by operating activities  121,297  51,020  
    
Investing activities    
 Property, plant and equipment  (47,270) (32,376) 

 Mineral properties  (800) (258) 

 Other investing activities 23c (918) (1,364) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (48,988) (33,998) 
     
Financing activities    
 Issuance of shares  3,102  9,887  

 Deferred finance costs  (493) -    

 Long-term obligations  (773) (666) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  1,836  9,221  
     
NET INCREASE  IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  74,145  26,243  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  – BEGINNING OF YEAR  139,341  113,098  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – END OF YEAR   $ 213,486  $ 139,341  
The attached notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
Supplemental cash flow information is disclosed in Note 23. 
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Aurizon Mines Ltd. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2011 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
 
 

 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
  

Aurizon Mines Ltd (“Aurizon” or “the Company”) is a Canadian based gold producer with operations, development and exploration 
activities in Quebec, Canada.  Aurizon is incorporated and domiciled in Canada, and has no subsidiaries. The address of the Company’s 
registered office is Suite 1120 Cathedral Place, 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. 

 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF IFRS   
 

Basis of presentation  
 

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) as set 
out in the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA Handbook”). In 2010, the CICA Handbook was revised to 
incorporate International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and 
require publicly accountable enterprises to apply such standards effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Accordingly, 
these are the Company’s first annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB. In these financial 
statements, the term “Canadian GAAP” (“CGAAP”) refers to Canadian GAAP before the adoption of IFRS. 

 
Statement of compliance  

 
These financial statements have been prepared in compliance with IFRS. Subject to certain transition elections and exceptions disclosed 
in note 26, the Company has consistently applied the accounting policies used in the preparation of its opening IFRS balance sheet as at 
January 1, 2010 throughout all periods presented, as if these policies had always been in effect. Note 26 discloses the impact of the 
transition to IFRS on the Company’s reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows, including the nature and effect of 
significant changes in accounting policies from those used in the Company’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 
prepared under Canadian GAAP. 

 
3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
  
 The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are described below: 
 

Principles of consolidation 
 

The Company had no subsidiaries for the periods presented. 
 
Functional currency and foreign currency translation 
 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 
 
Items included in these financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company 
operates (the “functional currency”). These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars (Cad$), which is the Company’s 
functional and presentation currency. 
 
(ii) Transactions and balances 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars at the rates prevailing on the date of the transactions. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated into Canadian dollars at rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet 
date. Non-monetary assets, liabilities and other items are translated at historical rates. Revenue and expenses are translated at average 
exchange rates prevailing during the year, except for depreciation and amortization which are translated at historical rates. The resulting 
gains and losses are included in the determination of earnings. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  

Property, plant and equipment 
 

Mining properties 
 

Producing mining properties are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation, amortization, and write-downs. Amortization is provided 
over the estimated life of the asset using proven and probable mineral reserves net of estimated mill recovery rates. 
 
Carrying values of producing and non-producing mining properties and the property, plant and equipment associated with those mining 
properties are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. An impairment loss 
is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The Company evaluates impairment 
losses (other than goodwill impairment), for potential reversals when events or circumstances warrant such consideration. 

 
Acquisition and development costs associated with a non-producing mining property where proven and probable reserves exist are 
capitalized until the property is producing, abandoned, impaired in value or placed for sale, provided the conditions set out below in 
‘development costs relating to mineral properties’ are met.  The costs are transferred to producing mining properties in the case of a 
property placed into production. 
 
The recoverability of the amounts capitalized in respect of non-producing mining properties is dependent upon the existence of 
economically recoverable reserves and resources, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the 
exploration and development of the properties, and upon future profitable production or proceeds from the disposition of the properties.  
 
Development costs relating to mineral properties 
 
Drilling and related development costs incurred to define the shape of proven and probable reserves for production planning are included 
in operations if they are expected to be mined within the same period. Drilling and related development costs incurred to prepare areas 
that will be mined in future years are capitalized and amortized over the life of the ore body.  Drilling and related costs incurred to convert 
measured, indicated and inferred resources to reserves at production stage properties and development stage properties that have proven 
and probable reserves are capitalized provided that the following conditions have been met: 

 
• There is a probable future benefit arising from these costs that will contribute to future net cash inflows; 
• The Company can obtain the benefit and control access to it; and 
• The transaction or event giving rise to the benefit has already occurred. 
 

The following criteria are used by management in its assessment of determining whether there is sufficient evidence that the expenditure 
will result in a future economic benefit to the Company: 

 
Geology:   There is sufficient certainty that the geologic data together with other factors, such as a history of 

converting resources to reserves will support the likelihood of conversion of mineral resources to 
proven and probable reserves. 

Infrastructure:   The mineral deposit can be extracted and processed utilizing existing or planned infrastructure that is 
within proximate access to the deposit. 

Life of mine plans:   A life of mine plan, supporting geologic models, and historical costs provide inputs in the 
determination of additional drilling and development work required to expand or further define the 
mineral deposit. 

Authorizations:   Operating and environmental permits exist or there is reasonable assurance that they are obtainable. 
Stage of mine 
development:    

A production stage property provides greater certainty that a future economic benefit is probable than 
a development stage property. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

Exploration properties, exploration and evaluation expenditure 
 
Acquisition costs of exploration properties are capitalized.  Exploration expenditures on exploration properties are charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred.  If studies performed on an exploration property demonstrate 
future economic benefits and the Company has secured the exploration rights to the property, the subsequent costs relating to further 
exploring or developing the property for eventual production are capitalized, provided the conditions discussed above are met.  Acquisition 
costs of abandoned properties are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the project is abandoned. 

 
Land, buildings, plant and equipment 

 
General land, buildings, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost 
includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Company and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of a replaced asset is derecognized when replaced. 
Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the period in which they are incurred. 
 
The Company allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item of land and buildings, plant and equipment to its significant 
parts and depreciates separately each such part. Residual values, methods of amortization and useful lives of the assets are reviewed 
annually and adjusted if appropriate. 
 
Depreciation rates 
 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment begins when assets are available for use and is calculated as follows: 

 
Asset category Depreciation method Useful Life Estimates 
Mine site infrastructure and tailings  Unit of production Life of mine 
Machinery, equipment and furniture 20% declining balance 5-10 years 
Computers and software 50% declining balance 2-4 years 
Office buildings and warehouse  10% declining balance 10+ years 

 
Impairment of long lived assets 

Carrying values of capitalized exploration properties are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances suggest 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
Company evaluates impairment losses (other than goodwill impairment), for potential reversals when events or circumstances warrant 
such consideration. Any reversal is limited to the amount originally recognized. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held with banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
Financial instruments 

 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 
At initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories depending on their nature and the purpose 
for which the instruments were acquired: 
 
(i) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: A financial asset or liability is classified in this category if acquired 

principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short-term. Derivatives are also included in this category unless they are 
designated as hedges.  

 
Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially and subsequently at fair value. Transaction costs are expensed in the 
statement of comprehensive income. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are presented in the statement of 
comprehensive income within other gains and losses in the period in which they arise. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are classified as current except for any position expected to be realized or paid beyond twelve months of the 
balance sheet date, which is then classified as non-current. 

 
(ii) Available-for-sale investments: Available-for-sale investments are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category, or not 

classified in any of the other financial instrument categories. The Company’s available-for-sale assets comprise marketable 
securities. 

 
Available-for-sale investments are recognized initially at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently carried at fair value, 
with gains or losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income. Available-for-sale investments 
are classified as non-current, unless the investment matures within twelve months, or management expects to dispose of them 
within twelve months. 
 
Interest on available-for-sale investments, calculated using the effective interest method, is recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income as part of finance income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognized in the 
statement of comprehensive income as part of other gains and losses when the Company’s right to receive payment is established.  
When an available-for-sale investment is sold or impaired, the accumulated gains or losses are moved from other comprehensive 
income to other gains and losses. 

 
(iii) Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets, with fixed or determinable payments, that are not 

quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected to be received less, when 
material, a discount to reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at an 
amortized cost using the effective interest method less a provision for impairment. 

 
(iv) Financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost and include trade payables, 

accrued liabilities, bank debt and long-term obligations. Trade payables and accrued liabilities are initially recognized at the amount 
required to be paid less, when material, a discount to reduce the payables to fair value. Subsequently, trade payables are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Bank debt and long-term debt are recognized initially at fair value, net of any 
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

 
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within twelve months. Otherwise, they are presented as non-
current liabilities. 

 
(v) Derivative financial instruments: The Company has used gold and currency derivative instruments to manage its exposure to the 

fluctuating price of gold and foreign exchange movements. Such derivatives are revalued at each reporting period and any gains or 
losses arising from the use of derivative instruments, both realized and unrealized, are charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

 
All derivatives recorded on the balance sheet are reflected at fair value. Revaluation adjustments on these instruments are reflected 
in the statement of comprehensive income, because the Company does not follow hedge accounting. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
Impairment of financial assets 

 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. An evaluation is 
made as to whether a decline in fair value is based on indicators such as adverse changes in the market, economic or legal environments. 
If such evidence exists, the Company recognizes an impairment loss as follows: 

 
(i) Financial assets carried at amortized cost: the loss is the difference between the amortized cost of the loan or receivable, and the 

present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted using the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced by this amount through the use of an allowance account. 

 
(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets: the impairment loss is the difference between the original cost of the asset and its fair value at the 

measurement date, less any impairment losses previously recognized in the statement of income. This amount represents the 
cumulative loss in other comprehensive income that is reclassified to net income. 
 
Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost are reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the loss 
decreases, and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized. Impairment 
losses on available-for-sale equity instruments are not reversed. 

 
Inventories 
 
Inventory is comprised of gold bullion, in-process inventory and mine supplies.   
 
In-process inventory and gold bullion is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and costs of selling final product.  
 
Costs consist of direct costs related to production such as mining, milling, and refining costs, as well as a portion of indirect costs, which 
include depreciation of capital assets and amortization of mining assets.  Inventory unit costs are calculated based on ounces of gold 
produced, resulting in an imputed cost per unit produced which is subsequently attributed to the cost of the ounces of gold sold. 
 
Mine supplies are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Any provision for obsolescence is determined by reference to 
specific items. 
 

Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are added to the cost of those assets, until 
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. All other borrowing costs are recognized as finance costs in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Share-based compensation 
 
The Company grants stock options to key employees, directors, and officers. Each tranche is treated as a separate award with its own 
vesting period and grant date fair value. Fair value of each tranche is measured at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model. Compensation expense is recognized over the tranche’s vesting period based on the number of awards expected to vest, by 
increasing the stock based compensation equity account. The number of awards expected to vest is periodically reviewed, and the 
estimated option forfeiture rate is adjusted as required throughout the life of the option, with the final adjustment to expense occurring 
when the vesting period of each tranche expires. 

  
 
  



Aurizon Mines Ltd. Annual Report 2011 |  Page 72

 

Aurizon Mines Ltd. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2011 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
 
 

 

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Provisions 
 
General 
 
Provisions are recognized when (i) the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and (ii), it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate 
that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognized as a finance cost. 
 
Asset retirement obligation provision 
 
The Company records the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations to restore operating locations in the 
period in which the obligation is incurred. The nature of these restoration activities includes dismantling and removing structures, 
rehabilitating mines and tailings dams, dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant and waste sites, and restoration, reclamation and 
re-vegetation of affected areas. The obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the 
production location. When the liability is initially recognized, the present value of the estimated restoration cost is capitalized by increasing 
the carrying amount of the related mining assets. Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on 
a risk-free discount rate. The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as a finance 
cost. At each reporting date the rehabilitation liability is re-measured to reflect changes in discount rates, and timing or amount of the costs 
to be incurred. Additional disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized as additions or charges to the corresponding 
assets and rehabilitation liability when they occur. For closed sites, changes to estimated costs are recognized immediately in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
 

Income tax 
 
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case the income tax is also recognized directly in equity. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted, or substantively enacted, at the end of 
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
In general, deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset or liability is 
settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current in the balance sheet.  
 
Tax on income in interim periods is accrued using the tax rate that would be applicable to expected total annual earnings of the Company. 
 
Royalties, resource taxes and revenue-based taxes are accounted for under IAS 12 Income taxes when they have the characteristics of 
an income tax. This is considered to be the case when they are imposed under government authority, and the amount payable is based on 
taxable income – rather than based on quantity produced or as a percentage of revenue – after adjustment for temporary differences. For 
such arrangements, current and deferred tax is provided on the same basis as described above for the other forms of taxation.  
 
The Company is entitled to a refundable tax credit on qualified exploration expenditures incurred in the province of Quebec. The 
refundable tax credits total 15% of qualified exploration expenditure incurred. In accordance with IAS 20, the exploration tax credits have 
been applied against the costs incurred. The Company is also entitled to non-refundable tax credits on qualified exploration expenditures 
which are deductible against Federal and B.C. income taxes due. The non-refundable tax credits are 10% of qualified exploration 
expenditure incurred. In accordance with IAS 20, the exploration tax credits have been applied against the costs incurred.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Revenue recognition 
 
Bullion sales 
Revenue from the sale of gold bullion is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred. This is 
considered to occur when title passes to a counterparty pursuant to a purchase arrangement from which collectability is reasonably 
assured. This generally occurs on the date the refinery has been instructed by the Company to transfer the bullion to a counterparty. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
 
Royalty income 
Royalty income is recognized on an accrual basis when the Company has reasonable assurance with respect to measurement and 
collectability. 
 
Interest revenue 
Interest revenue is recognized as it accrues, using the effective interest method.  
 
Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the net profit (loss) for the year attributable to equity owners of the Company by 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding for dilutive instruments and is computed using the treasury stock method. The Company’s 
potentially dilutive instruments comprise stock options granted to employees and directors. 
 
Segment reporting 
 
Operating segment disclosure is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. 
The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (the “CEO”). The Company has 
identified one reportable segment. 

  
Accounting standards and amendments issued but not yet adopted 
 
Unless otherwise noted, the following revised standards and amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2013 with earlier application permitted. The Company has not yet assessed the full impact of these standards and amendments or 
determined whether it will early adopt them. 

(i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, was issued in November 2009, effective years beginning on or after January 1, 2015, and addresses 
classification and measurement of financial assets. It replaces the multiple category and measurement models in IAS 39 for debt 
instruments with a new mixed measurement model having only 2 categories: amortized cost and fair value through profit or loss. 
IFRS 9 also replaces the models for measuring equity instruments. Such instruments are either recognized at fair value through 
profit or loss or at fair value through other comprehensive income. Where equity instruments are measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, dividends are recognized in profit or loss to the extent that they do not clearly represent a return of 
investment; however, other gains and losses (including impairments) associated with such instruments remain in accumulated 
comprehensive income indefinitely. In addition, this new standard has been updated to include guidance on financial liabilities and 
derecognition of financial instruments. 

(ii) IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it has power over the investee, is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose 
Entities and parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial statements 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Accounting standards and amendments issued but not yet adopted (continued) 

(iii) IFRS 11Joint Arrangements requires a venture to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint operation. Joint 
ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas for a joint operation the venture will recognize its 
share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have a choice to 
proportionately consolidate or equity account for interests in joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures 
and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers 

(iv) IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates, and unconsolidated structured entities. The standard carries forward existing 
disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure that addresses the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s 
interests in other entities. 

(v) IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure for use across all IFRS 
standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the measurement date. Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and 
disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and does not always reflect a 
clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures. 

(vi) IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements has been amended to require entities to separate items presented in OCI into two 
groups, based on whether or not items may be recycled in the future. Entities that choose to present OCI items before tax will be 
required to show the amount of tax related to the two groups separately. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after July 1, 2012 with earlier application permitted.  

(vii) IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine sets out the accounting for overburden waste removal 
(stripping) costs in the production phase of a mine. Stripping activity may create two types of benefit i) inventory produced and ii) 
improved access to ore. Stripping costs associated with the former should be accounted for as a current production cost in 
accordance with IAS 2, Inventories. The latter should be accounted for as an addition to or enhancement of an existing asset. 

 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 
  

The preparation of financial statements requires management to use judgment in applying its accounting policies and estimates and 
assumptions about the future.  
 
Estimates and other judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including 
expectations about future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.  
 
The Company has identified the following accounting policies under which significant judgments, estimates and assumptions are made, 
where actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions, and may materially affect financial 
results or the Company’s balance sheet reported in future periods.  
 
• Share-based compensation - the fair value of share-based compensation is computed using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 

which requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions in relation to the expected life of options, expected 
volatility, the risk-free interest rate, and the number of options expected to vest (see note 18c for key assumptions used in 
determining the value of share-based payments). 

• Asset retirement obligation provision – the Company’s provision for reclamation and closure cost obligations represents 
management’s best estimate of the present value of the future cash outflows required to settle the liability which reflects estimates of 
future costs, inflation, market risks and the applicable risk-free interest rates for discounting the future cash outflows. These factors 
are reviewed each reporting period, and changes in the above factors can result in a change to the provision recognized by the 
Company. 
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5.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 December 31, 

2011
December 31, 

2010 
January 1,  

2010
     
Cash at bank and on hand $129,539 $53,060 $49,605
Short-term investments  83,947 86,281 63,493
Cash and cash equivalents $213,486 $139,341 $113,098

 
Interest earned on cash is dependent on the type of bank account it is deposited in.  Some accounts earn interest at floating rates 
based on daily bank deposit rates while others earn rates that fluctuate from time to time based on changes in the prime rate or bond 
rates.  Short-term investments are comprised of Canadian chartered banks bankers acceptances and treasury bills having maturities 
at the date of acquisition of less than three months, bearing interest at rates between 0.765% and 1.13% (2010 – Bankers’ acceptance 
notes bearing interest between 0.91% and 1.08%). 

 
 
6.  MARKETABLE SECURITIES 

    
Opening Balance – January 1, 2010  $      -
Additions – at cost   750
Unrealized gain   379
Fair value – available for sale – December 31, 2010  $1,129
Additions – at cost  500
Unrealized loss  (765)
Fair value – available for sale – December 31, 2011  $ 864

 
The Company acquired marketable securities in accordance with the requirements of property agreements that were entered into 
during 2010 and 2011. Unrealized gains or losses resulting from the change in fair value of the marketable securities are recorded in 
the comprehensive income statement as other comprehensive income or loss. 

 
 
7.  INVENTORIES 

 December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010 

January 1,  
2010

     
Supplies and materials $   5,290 $  4,292 $   3,692
Stockpile ore 218 162 440
Gold bullion and in-process 7,037 7,631 7,765
Inventories  $ 12,545 $ 12,085 $ 11,897

 
During 2011, the Company charged $0.5 million to earnings in respect of write-downs for obsolete supplies inventories (2010 - $0.1 
million). 
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8.  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER  

 December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010 

January 1,  
2010

     
Accounts receivable $ 5,157 $ 3,707 $ 3,262
Prepaid expenses 3,584 3,107 1,563
Exploration advances 733 444 -
Accounts Receivable and other  $9,474 $ 7,258 $4,825

 
In accordance with property option agreements, the Company advances funds to its counterparts for the undertaking of exploration 
programs on the properties. The advances are drawn down and expensed as the exploration work progresses. As at December 31, 
2011, advances totalling $0.7 million are expected to be expensed within the next twelve months (2010 - $0.4 million). 

 
 
9.  TAX CREDITS RECEIVABLE 

 
 

December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010 

January 1,  
2010

     
Quebec refundable tax credits (Note 13b) $  2,490 $      709 $     709
Quebec refundable resource credits       -          -         862
Non-refundable tax credits 2,720 11,689 1,016
Tax credits receivable $  5,210 $ 12,398 $  2,587

 
 

a) Quebec refundable tax credits 
 
During the year, the Company received a refund of $0.7 million in respect of eligible exploration expenditures incurred in 2009.  In 
addition, the Company expects to receive a refund of $2.5 million in 2012 relating to eligible exploration expenditures incurred in 2010. 
 
b) Non-refundable tax credits 
 
Non-refundable tax credits arise from certain eligible exploration expenditures.  As at December 31, 2011, the Company has recorded a 
total of $2.7 million (2010 - $15.2 million) in respect of non-refundable tax credits which may be used to reduce future income taxes.  
Based on assertions and estimates deriving from the Company’s long-term mining plan and cash-flow models, the Company expects that 
there will be sufficient future taxable earnings against which these credits can be applied.  The portion of these tax credits expected to be 
utilized within one year is $2.7 million (2010 - $11.7 million), which is expected to be applied against 2012 Quebec income taxes owed.  
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10.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
 

  Producing 
Property 

Mine 
Infrastructure 

Machinery 
and 

equipment 

Office 
buildings and 

warehouse 
Computers 

and Software 
Office 

Equipment 
and Furniture 

TOTAL 

COST     
At January 1, 2010        $ 188,837           $ 47,463         $ 31,844            $  1,219          $  1,891              $  530           271,784 

Additions            22,454               3,769              7,081                  48                 262                    -              33,614 

Disposals                   -                     -                 (341)                   -                     -                     -                 (341) 

Change in ARO estimates                      -                   999                   -                     -                     -                     -                   999 

Change in ARO Obligation (1)                   -            (11,888)                   -                     -                     -                     -            (11,888) 

At December 31, 2010           211,291             40,343            38,584              1,267              2,153                  530           294,168 

Additions 33,836   4,774 11,085 156 307 134 50,292 

Disposals                   -                     -   (479)                     -                     -                     -   (479) 

Change in ARO estimates                      -            1,477                   -                     -                     -                     -   1,477 

At December 31, 2011 245,127 46,594 49,190 1,423 2,460 664 345,458 

       

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION          

At January 1, 2010          (73,829)          (19,681)          (11,804)               (843)            (1,262)               (389)        (107,808) 

Charge for year          (22,149)            (7,404)            (4,481)            (31)               (380)               (27)          (34,472) 

Disposals                   -                     -                   124                   -                     -                     -                   124 

At December 31, 2010          (95,978)          (27,085)          (16,161)               (874)            (1,642)               (416)        (142,156) 

Charge for year          (27,881)            (4,972)            (5,435)            (43)               (341)               (44) (38,716) 

Disposals                   -                     -   292                   -                     -                     -   292 

Adjustment   (2) (95)                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -   (95) 

At December 31, 2011   (123,954)    (32,057)   (21,304)            (917)    (1,983)               (460) (180,675) 

                

NET BOOK VALUE        

At January 1, 2010          $ 115,008            $ 27,782           $ 20,040                $ 376                 $ 629                  $ 141          $ 163,976 

At December 31, 2010          $ 115,313            $ 13,258           $ 22,423                $ 393                $ 511                  $ 114          $ 152,012 

At December 31, 2011 $ 121,173 $ 14,537 $ 27,886 $ 506 $ 477 $ 204 $ 164,783 

 
(1)  The decrease of $11,888 as December 31, 2010 represents a reduction in the estimated asset retirement obligation liability at the Casa Berardi mine 
and a corresponding decrease in the carrying amount of the related asset included in property, plant and equipment. 
 
(2)  Adjustment of $95 is for reimbursement of Quebec government assistance and deferred accretion charges.  
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11. MINERAL PROPERTIES  
 

  December 31, 
2011  

December 31, 
2010  

January 1,   
2010 

     
Exploration Properties     
Joanna, Quebec  $ 3,865  $ 3,865  $ 2,262 
Kipawa, Quebec  75  75  75 
Duvay, Quebec  500  -   -  
Duverny, Quebec  95  65  -  
Rex South, Quebec  280  150  -  
Opinaca, Quebec  100  -   -  
Patris, Quebec  80  40  -  
Other  -    25  25 
  $ 4,995 $ 4,220  $ 2,362 

 
a) Joanna Property 
 
The Company holds a 100% interest in the Joanna Gold Project in the Abitibi region of Quebec.   
 
The Company has earned, subject to a 2% net smelter royalty, a 100% interest in the Feifer claims block of the Joanna Property.  An 
advance royalty of $0.5 million is payable upon completion of a feasibility study, and receipt of a decision by a financial institution to 
finance development of the property to commercial production.   

 
The Company has earned, subject to a 1% net smelter royalty, a 100% interest in two mineral claims located within the existing boundary 
of the Joanna Property.  Advance royalties are payable at certain milestones including $0.7 million at feasibility and $0.8 million upon 
achieving commercial production.   In addition, a net smelter royalty of 1.5% is payable on the 75% interest acquired from Vantex 
Resources Ltd.  The Company has an option to buy back 50% of the 1.5% royalty at any time at a cost of $0.5 million. 
 
The Company has earned, subject to a 2% net smelter royalty, a 100% interest in nineteen mineral claims (the “Alexandria claims”) 
adjacent to the Feifer claims property.  One half of the net smelter return royalty may be purchased at any time for $2.0 million. 
 
During the year, the Company incurred expenditures at Joanna totalling $10.3 million, of which $6.0 million related to exploration work, 
and $4.3 million related to feasibility work and environmental impact studies.  All expenditures were charged to earnings.  In 2010, 
expenditures incurred and charged to earnings at Joanna totalled $13.2 million, of which $9.1 million related to exploration expenditures, 
and feasibility work and environmental impact study charges totalled $4.1 million. 
 
b) Kipawa Property 
 
The Company has acquired mineral claims in Quebec by staking at a cost of $75 thousand. 
 
In July 2011, the Company signed an agreement with Forum Uranium Corp. (“Forum”), whereby Forum can earn a 50% interest in the 
Kipawa property by completing $200,000 in exploration as a firm commitment within 12 months and a further $150,000 in exploration, 
including a minimum of 1,000 metres of drilling, within 24 months of the date of the agreement. Forum has the option to earn a further 15% 
interest, totalling a 65% interest in the project by establishing an NI 43-101 resource estimate on the property within four years of the 
agreement date. Forum is Operator during the earn-in period. Upon completion of its earn-in, Forum and Aurizon may form a Joint Venture 
with Forum as Operator. 
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11. MINERAL PROPERTIES (continued) 
 
c) Duvay Property 
 
In September 2011, the Company entered into an agreement with Tres-Or Resources Ltd. (“Tres-Or”), under which the Company may 
earn an initial 50% interest in Tres-Or’s Duvay property situated in the Abitibi region of Quebec.  The Duvay property is situated adjacent 
to the Duverny property, in which the Company may earn 100% ownership in accordance with an option agreement signed in 2010.  The 
50% interest in the Duvay property may be earned by making cash payments of $1.5 million and incurring work expenditures totalling $6.5 
million, over the next four years, of which a firm commitment of $2.5 million must be incurred in the first 18 months of the agreement.  An 
additional 15% interest, bringing the total interest to 65% in the property, may be earned by either delivering a pre-feasibility study on the 
property or by incurring $13 million of additional exploration expenditures within three years of achieving the 50% participation.  
 
During 2011, the Company made an initial cash payment of $0.5 million and advanced $0.9 million to Tres-Or in respect of work 
expenditures, which have been charged to earnings. 
 
d) Duverny Property 
  
In March 2010, the Company signed a letter of intent whereby Aurizon agreed to purchase 14 mineral claims in the Duverny Township in 
the Abitibi region of north-western Quebec. Aurizon may acquire 100% ownership of the claims by making cash payments totalling 
$100,000 by the second anniversary of the agreement.  As at December 31, 2011, the Company has made total cash payments of 
$70,000 in respect of the Duverny property, and has acquired minerals claims adjacent to the property by staking at a cost of $25,000. 
 
e) Fayolle Property 
 
In May 2010, the Company entered into an option and joint venture agreement with Typhoon Exploration Inc., (“Typhoon”) whereby 
Aurizon may earn a 50% interest in Typhoon’s Fayolle property in the Abitibi region of Quebec.  The 50% interest, subject to an underlying 
2% net smelter royalty, may be earned by incurring expenditures of $10 million over four years, of which $3.5 million is a firm commitment 
to be spent over the first two years.  The Company may earn an additional 15% interest on the project by either delivering a bankable 
feasibility study, or spending an additional $15 million on the project.  During the course of the initial four year term, the Company has the 
right to subscribe for common shares of Typhoon of up to $0.5 million on each anniversary of the option agreement, for a total investment 
of $2 million.  The first two subscriptions totalling $1 million are firm commitments and are required in order for the Company to earn the 
initial 50% interest.  
 
During the year, the Company advanced $5.9 million to Typhoon for exploration expenditures, of which $5.7 million has been charged to 
earnings.  During 2010, the Company advanced $1.8 million to Typhoon for exploration expenditures, of which $1.6 million was charged to 
earnings.  
 
The first share subscription totalling $0.5 million was completed in June 2010 and consisted of 609,756 Typhoon shares at a unit price of 
$0.82 per share.  A second subscription totalling $0.5 million was completed in June 2011 and consisted of 633,905 shares at a unit price 
of $0.79.   
 
Since the beginning of the agreement, the Company has advanced a total of $7.7 million to Typhoon, which fulfils the firm commitment of 
$3.5 million required over the first two years of the agreement.  In addition, the firm commitment to subscribe to $1 million of Typhoon 
shares was fulfilled in 2011. 
 
f) Rex South Property 
 
In May 2010, the Company entered into an agreement with Azimut Exploration Inc. (“Azimut”), under which the Company may earn an 
initial 50% in Azimut’s Rex South Property situated in northern Quebec. The 50% interest may be earned by making an initial cash 
payment of $150,000 upon signing and making further cash payments for an aggregate of $580,000 over the first four years.  Minimum 
work expenditures totalling $1 million during the first year and further expenditures for an aggregate of $5 million over the next five years 
are required to earn the initial 50% interest.  An additional 15% interest may be earned by: (i) making additional cash payments of $70,000 
per year over five years for an aggregate of $350,000, (ii) incurring a minimum of $700,000 of work expenditures per year over a five year 
period for an aggregate of $3.5 million, and (iii) delivering a bankable feasibility study.   
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11. MINERAL PROPERTIES (continued) 
 
f) Rex South Property (continued) 
 
During the year, the Company made a cash payment of $130,000 and incurred $5.0 million in work expenditures.  During 2010, the 
Company made an initial cash payment of $150,000 and incurred $1.6 million of exploration costs, bringing the total cumulative work 
expenditures to $6.6 million since the agreement was signed, thus fulfilling the requirement to incur an aggregate of $5 million of work 
expenditures during the first five years of the agreement.  Further cash payments totalling $300,000 within the next three years are 
required for the Company to earn the 50% interest in the Rex South property. 
 
g) Marban Property 
 
In July 2010, the Company entered into an option and joint venture agreement with Niogold Mining Corporation (“Niogold”) with respect to 
the Marban property, located in the Malartic gold camp in the Abitibi region, Quebec.  Pursuant to the agreement, Aurizon may earn a 50% 
interest in the Marban property, subject to underlying royalties, by: (i) incurring expenditures of $20 million over three years, of which $5 
million is a firm commitment to be spent in the first year; (ii) completing an updated NI 43-101 compliant mineral resource estimate; and 
(iii) making a resource payment equal to the sum of $30 (or $40 if the price of gold is then above US$1,560) multiplied by 50% of the 
number of total gold ounces in the measured and indicated resource categories plus $20 (or $30 if the price of gold is then above 
US$1,560) multiplied by 50% of the number of total gold ounces in the inferred resource category, based on the updated resource 
estimate. Aurizon may earn an additional 10% interest, for an aggregate of 60% interest, by delivering a feasibility study.  Moreover, 
Aurizon may earn an additional 5%, for an aggregate 65% interest, by arranging project financing for capital expenditures estimated by the 
feasibility study to place the project into commercial production.  Niogold will be operator during the initial earn-in period and Aurizon will 
provide input on exploration programs and will become operator after the initial 50% interest has been earned.  
 
During the year, the Company advanced $4.8 million to Niogold for exploration expenditures, which have been charged to earnings.  
During 2010, the Company advanced $1.4 million to Niogold for exploration expenditures, which were charged to earnings.  
 
Since the beginning of the agreement, the Company has advanced a total of $5.9 million to Niogold, which fulfils the firm commitment of 
$5.0 million required over the first two years of the agreement.   
 
h) Opinaca Property 
 
In September 2010, Aurizon entered into an agreement with Azimut Exploration Inc. (“Azimut”) and Everton Resources Inc. (“Everton”), 
whereby Aurizon may acquire up to an undivided 60% ownership interest in the Opinaca property located in the James Bay area, 350 
kilometres north of Matagami, Quebec. The Opinaca property is owned by Azimut and Everton as to an undivided 50% interest each.  
Aurizon may earn a 50% interest in the project by making cash payments totalling $0.6 million and incurring expenditures of $6 million 
over four years, including 5,000 metres of drilling by the second anniversary. After earning its initial 50% interest in the project, Aurizon 
may then elect to earn an additional interest of 10%, for a total interest of 60%, by making cash payments totalling $0.3 million over three 
years from the election date, incurring expenditures totalling $3 million over three years from the election date, and delivering an 
independent pre-feasibility study on or before the fourth anniversary. In addition, in the event that prior to the end of the eighth year of the 
initial option agreement, mineral resources of at least 2,000,000 ounces of gold, at an average grade of at least 6 grams of gold per tonne, 
are discovered, Aurizon shall make a payment of $1.5 million, payable in Aurizon common shares (50% to Azimut, 50% to Everton), 
subject to regulatory approval. 
 
During 2011, the Company made a cash payment of $100,000 and incurred $2.7 million in work expenditures, which were charged to 
earnings.  During 2010, the Company incurred $0.1 in exploration expenditures on the Opinaca property.  In aggregate, work expenditures 
incurred by the Company and charged to earnings total $2.8 million since the agreement was signed. 
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11. MINERAL PROPERTIES (continued) 
 

i) Wildcat Property 
    
In September 2010, Aurizon entered into an agreement with Everton Resources Inc., (“Everton”), whereby Aurizon may acquire up to a 
65% interest in Everton’s Wildcat property located in the James Bay region, 350 kilometres north of Matagami, Quebec. The Wildcat 
property is 100% owned by Everton. Aurizon may earn a 50% interest in the project by incurring expenditures of $3.25 million over four 
years, including 3,000 metres of drilling within two years.  In addition, the agreement required Aurizon to subscribe for a private placement 
of 1,000,000 units of Everton at a price of $0.25 per unit, each unit comprising one common share and one share purchase warrant, 
exercisable to acquire one additional common share at $0.40 per share for a term of two years.   
 
After earning its initial 50% interest in the project, Aurizon may then elect to earn an additional interest of 15%, for a total interest of 65%, 
by making cash payments totalling $300,000 over three years from the election date, incurring expenditures totalling $3 million over three 
years from the election date, and delivering an independent pre-feasibility study by the end of the fourth anniversary of the election date. 
In addition, in the event that prior to the end of the eighth year of the initial option agreement, mineral resources of at least 2,000,000 
ounces of gold, at an average grade of at least 6 grams of gold per tonne, are discovered, Aurizon shall make a payment of $1.5 million, 
payable to Everton in Aurizon common shares, subject to regulatory approval. 
 
During the year, the Company incurred $0.9 million in work expenditures at the Wildcat project.  In 2010, the Company incurred a total of 
$0.1 in exploration expenditures on the Opinaca property, and subscribed to 1,000,000 Everton common shares at a cost of $250,000. 
 
j) Patris Property 
 
In December 2010, the Company entered into an agreement with Midland Exploration Inc. (“Midland”), under which the Company would 
be entitled to earn an initial 50% in Midland’s Patris Property situated in the Abitibi region of Quebec.  The 50% interest may be earned by 
making an initial cash payment of $40,000 upon signing and making further cash payments for an aggregate of $230,000 over the next 
four years.  Minimum work expenditures totalling $0.6 million during the first year and further expenditures for an aggregate of $3 million 
over the next four years are required to earn the initial 50% interest.  An additional 10% interest may be earned by delivering a pre-
feasibility study on the property within a four-year period during which it will make annual cash payments of $80,000 and complete 40,000 
metres of drilling. 
 
During 2011, the Company made a cash payment of $40,000 to Midland and advanced $0.5 million in respect of work expenditures, which 
have been charged to earnings.  During 2010, the Company made the initial cash payment of $40,000 and did not incur any work 
expenditures. 
 
k)   Beaufor Mine and Perron Property 
  
The Company retains a gold-indexed royalty on 50% of the future gold production from the Beaufor mine and Perron property.  The 
Company is entitled to receive royalties ranging from $17 per ounce to $30 per ounce at gold prices ranging from US$300 to US$500 per 
ounce.  The Company also retains a royalty on 100% of any production from the Perron property, ranging from $17 per ounce to $30 per 
ounce at gold prices ranging from US$300 to US$500 per ounce.  There has been no commercial production from the Perron property to 
date.  During 2011, the Company received royalties totalling $0.4 million in respect of the Beaufor mine (2010: $0.3 million). 
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12. DEFERRED FINANCE COSTS 
 

 December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010 

January 1,  
2010

     
Deferred finance costs $  343 $  -   $  -  

 

a) Revolving credit facility 
 
On January 31, 2011 the Company established a US$50 million revolving credit facility with Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and 
The Bank of Nova Scotia. The revolving credit facility has an initial three year term and is collateralised by a charge over the assets of 
Aurizon. The facility is available for drawdown in US dollars at a bank base rate or a LIBOR-based rate (plus 200 to 400 basis points 
depending on the type of loan and financial and operating measures), payable according to the quoted rate term. The Company has the 
ability to repay the principal in part or in its entirety at any time without penalty. Funds drawn on the facility may be used to finance 
working capital requirements, acquisitions, and for general corporate purposes. There are no hedging requirements under the terms of 
the credit facility. 
 
The facility has three financial covenants including a leverage ratio, a tangible net worth calculation, and a mine coverage ratio. For the 
year ended December 31, 2011 these covenants were met. 
 
The standby fees on undrawn amounts under the facility range between 0.75% and 1.0% per annum depending on certain financial 
measures.  As at December 31, 2011, there were no amounts outstanding under the credit facility.  
 
During the year the Company has capitalized the facility establishment costs of $493 thousand (2010 - $nil) that will be amortized over 
the initial three year term of the credit facility. For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recognized a facility establishment 
cost amortization expense of $150 thousand (2010 - $nil), and standby fees of $344 thousand (2010 - $nil). 
 

 
13. OTHER ASSETS 

 December 31, 
2011  

December 31,  
2010  

January 1,   
2010 

Reclamation deposits (a) $  1,315 $    896  $      612 
Non-refundable tax credits (Note 9) -   3,493  13,438 
Refundable tax credits (b) 4,457   3,041  -    
Workers compensation premiums (c) 222 340  501 
Deposit on long-term hydro-electric project (d) 330 330  -    
 $ 6,324 $ 8,100  $ 14,551 

 
a)   Reclamation deposits    
 
As at December 31, 2011, the Company has invested $1.3 million (2010 – $0.9 million) in restricted deposits in accordance with the 
current financial guarantee requirements set forth by the Ministère des Ressources naturelles et de la Faune of the province of Quebec for 
future site restoration costs at the Casa Berardi mine.  As updated mine closure plans are submitted to and approved by this government 
body, the related financial guarantees will be adjusted accordingly. See note 16a for further information. 
 
The future funding requirements as prescribed by the Ministère des Ressources naturelles et de la Faune are: 
 

2012 2013 2014 Total
     
Reclamation deposits required $ 1,242 $ 2,079 $ 2,902 $  6,223
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13. OTHER ASSETS (continued) 
 
b)   Refundable tax credits 
 
The Company has recorded $4.5 million of refundable tax credits relating to admissible exploration expenditures incurred in 2011 (2010 – 
$3.0 million). 
 
c)   Workers compensation premiums 
 
In 2008, the Company began participating in a retrospective workers compensation premiums program in which annual workers 
compensation premiums are retrospectively adjusted based on the Company’s overall safety records and history of incident claims.  As at 
December 31, 2011, the Company has accrued a receivable totalling $0.2 million (2010 - $0.3 million), based on the estimated refunds 
relating to the premiums paid for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, 2009 and 2008. 
 
d)   Deposit on long-term power supply project 
 
As at December 31, 2011, the Company has prepaid $0.3 million (2010 – $0.3 million) to Hydro Quebec in respect of preliminary studies 
relating to the installation of power lines to the Company’s Joanna Gold Project.   
 

14. COMMITMENTS  
 

a) Contractual obligations and commitments 
 
The Company’s significant contractual obligations and commitments as at December 31, 2011 are as follows:  

 

(all figures undiscounted) Notes Total 
Due in Less 
Than 1 Year 

Due 2 - 3 
Years 

Due 4 - 5 
Years 

Due in More 
Than 5 
Years 

As at 
December 31, 

2010 

Asset retirement obligations (i), 16a $ 19,002 $     -    $   1,213 $     -    $ 17,789 $ 19,002    
Equipment and supply contracts (ii) 13,518 7,256 3,131 3,131 -    837    
Mineral properties firm commitments (iii),11 2,222 650 1,572 -    -    6,388    
Employee incentives 16b 1,821 588 1,034 199 -    -      
Head office operating lease  822 253 506 63 -    1,052    
Reimbursable government assistance  -    -    -    -    -    773    
Total contractual obligations  $ 37,385 $ 8,747 $ 7,456 $ 3,393 $ 17,789 $  28,052    

 
(i) On a discounted basis, the asset retirement obligations total $15.0 million as at December 31, 2011 (2010 - $13.1 million). 
(ii) As at December 31, 2011, the Company has committed to purchase mobile equipment and other infrastructure requirements 

totalling $5.7 million (2010 - $0.5 million).  In addition, the Company has secured the procurement of some of its reagents used 
in the mill concentrator until the end of year 2016, resulting in an estimated commitment of $7.8 million (2010 – nil).  

(iii) Firm commitments represent exploration work expenditures and property option payments that the Company is contractually 
bound to make, whether the Company fulfills all the requirements of the agreements or not. 
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14. COMMITMENTS (continued) 
 

b) Derivative positions 
 

The Company’s derivative positions at December 31, 2011 were as follows: 
 

 Total * 

Canadian – U.S. dollars  
Forward sales contracts – US$ $11,000 
Average exchange rate US/Cad$ 1.05 
Canadian dollars to be received $11,550 

* all derivative contracts expire in 2012  
   

As at December 31, 2011, the net unrealized mark-to-market asset of the currency derivative positions totalled $357 thousand (2010 - nil).  
The US$/Cad exchange rate was 1.017 as at December 31, 2011.  There were no outstanding gold derivative contracts as at December 
31, 2011.  The Company’s derivative positions as at December 31, 2010 were nil. 
 

 
15. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABLITIES 

 December 31, 
2011  

December 31, 
2010  

January 1,   
2010 

Trade payables $ 14,598 $ 10,293 $ 9,942 
Accrued expenses 11,190 8,612 6,509 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 25,788 $ 18,905 $ 16,451 

 
 
 
16. PROVISIONS  

 December 31, 
2011  

December 31, 
2010  

January 1,    
2010 

Asset retirement obligations                                                  (a) $  15,019  $ 13,114  $ 23,255  
Non-current employee incentive provision                            (b) 1,134  -    -    
Provisions $ 16,153  $ 13,114  $ 23,255  
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16. PROVISIONS (continued) 
 

a) Asset retirement obligations 
 

 December 31,  
2011  

December 31, 
2010  

Asset retirement obligations - beginning of year  $  13,114  $  23,255  

Change in obligations during the year - (11,888) 

Change in ARO estimate  1,477  998  

Accretion expense 428 749  
Asset retirement obligations  – end of year $15,019 $  13,114  

 
Asset retirement obligations (AROs) result from the acquisition, development, construction and ordinary operation of mining property, plant 
and equipment, and from environmental regulations set by regulatory authorities. AROs include costs related to tailings pond and tailings 
dam reclamation, and/or closure (i.e. ongoing monitoring of ground water quality in tailings dam, closing of portals, shafts and tunnels, 
decontamination of soil, revegetation, etc.), and removal and/or demolition of mine and processing equipment (i.e. crushers, conveyors, 
mills, floatation tanks, etc.), buildings and other infrastructure. 
 
Asset retirement obligations decreased $11.9 million during the comparative year ended December 31, 2010.  The decrease was due to a 
revision of the reclamation plan for the Casa Berardi mine. The new reclamation plan incorporates updated studies undertaken in 2010 
regarding re-vegetation of the tailings pond. The former reclamation plan included costs for a soil and clay layer over the tailings pond 
prior to re-vegetation. The Company’s updated environmental impact studies, which have been reviewed and approved by the government 
authorities, have determined that this additional soil and clay layer is not required to meet the high standards of environmental 
rehabilitation established by both the Company and government regulations. 

 
The present value of AROs are estimated using a present value technique that is based on existing laws, contracts or other policies and 
current technology and conditions. The estimates or assumptions required to calculate the present value of AROs include, among other 
items, abandonment and reclamation amounts, inflation rates, credit-adjusted risk free rates and timing of retirement of assets. The 
following significant assumptions were made for the purpose of estimating the AROs: 

 
Assumption 2011 2010 
Undiscounted reclamation costs  $19,002 $19,002 
Pre-tax discount rates used for reclamation expenditures 
expected to be incurred in 2013 0.99% 1.67% 
Pre-tax discount rates used for reclamation expenditures 
expected to be incurred in 2022 2.49% 3.52% 
Average years to reclamation 10 11 

 
As at December 31, 2011, $1.3 million (2010 - $0.9 million) has been invested in restricted deposits for future site reclamation obligations 
at Casa Berardi (Note 13). 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011 the Company agreed to a restricted deposits investment schedule with the Minister of Natural 
Resources in Quebec. Approximately 70% of the Company’s ARO liability will be covered by restricted deposit GIC investments held in 
the name of the Minister of Natural Resources Quebec by the year 2015. For the remaining 30% of the estimated ARO liability, the 
Company is not required to fund any further restricted deposits. As a result, at the time of closure and restoration of the mine site, the 
Company will have a significant cash outlay that may affect its ability to satisfy its debt and other contractual obligations. The costs 
associated with AROs may be significant and the Company may not have sufficient or available resources to fund the costs.  
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16. PROVISIONS (continued) 
 

b) Employee incentive plans   
 
The Company has an employee incentive plan for the discovery and acquisition of Casa Berardi.  Under the terms of the plan, once a 
mineral deposit has achieved commercial production, a bonus of 0.2% of the net smelter revenues, less any advance payments, is paid to 
those participating in the plan.  During the first quarter of 2011, the Company recognized a liability of $2.2 million, of which $0.6 million 
was capitalized to property, plant and equipment, and $1.6 million was charged to earnings.  As at December 31, 2011, the fair value of 
the estimated incentive payments to be made under this plan totals $1.7 million (2010 - $nil), which includes a current portion of $0.6 
million and a non-current portion of $1.1 million. 
 
The Company also has an employee incentive plan for the discovery of other mineral deposits.  Under the terms of this plan, a bonus of 
0.08% of the value of the mineral reserves as determined in an approved pre-feasibility study, to a maximum of $0.1 million, is paid to 
those participating in the plan.  Upon approval of a feasibility study, a bonus of 0.15% of the value of the mineral reserves, to a maximum 
of $0.5 million including the payment at the pre-feasibility stage shall be paid.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, no amount in 
respect of this incentive plan has been recorded (2010 - $nil). 
 

17. INCOME TAXES 
 

a) Current and deferred income and resource tax expense is represented in the statements of comprehensive income as follows: 
 

  December 31, 
2011 

December 31, 
2010 

Current income tax expense – Federal  $  13,139  $  1,478  
Current income tax expense – Quebec  5,194  -  
Current income tax expenses – BC 920  -  
Deferred income tax expense – Federal and Provincial 2,850  5,978  
 22,103  7,456  
Current resource tax expense 21,860  5,206  
Deferred resource tax expense (recovery) (1,310) 1,249  

Total current and future income taxes $  42,653  $ 13,911  
 

The combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rate for 2011 is 28.21% (2010 – 29.9%).  

In addition to federal and provincial income taxes, Aurizon is subject to Quebec mining resource taxes.  On May 4, 2011, new resource tax 
legislation was substantively enacted which required accounting recognition in the second quarter of 2011 of changes in the Quebec 
Mining Tax Act that are retroactive to March 31, 2010. The new law increased the tax rate from 12% to 14% after March 31, 2010, 15% in 
2011, and rising to 16% in 2012.  The new resource tax legislation also impacted changes to the maximum deductibility of certain costs in 
a particular year.  

 
  
  



Aurizon Mines Ltd. Annual Report 2011  | Page 87

 

Aurizon Mines Ltd. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2011 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
 
 

 

17. INCOME TAXES (continued) 
 
 The provision for income and resource taxes is different from the amount that would have resulted from applying the combined federal and 

provincial income and resource tax rates as a result of the following:  
  December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 

Profit before taxes $  86,584 $  31,151  
Combined federal and provincial income and resource tax rates 38.98% 38.31% 
Income and resource taxes at combined federal and provincial rates 33,750 11,934  
Increase (decrease) resulting from:   

Effect of change in enacted tax rates 7,905 (1,411) 
Non-deductible costs 2,635 2,917 
Other (1,637) 471  

Income and resource tax expense $  42,653 $  13,911  
 

b)   The significant components of the Company’s current income and resource taxes payable are as follows:  
 

Current income and resource taxes payable  
 December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 

Current taxes payable – Quebec  $ 13,267 - 
Current taxes payable – Federal  4,420 - 
Current taxes payable – BC  651 - 
Current income and resource tax liabilities  $ 18,338 $ - 

 
c)   The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:  

 

Non-current deferred tax liabilities  
 December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 

Deferred income and resource tax assets    
Marketable securities  $     136 $     136 
Asset retirement obligations   (5,772)  (4,678) 
Employee incentive provision  (436) (489) 
Other  (435) (231) 
  (6,507) (5,262) 
Deferred income and resource tax liabilities    
Unrealized derivative gains  92 - 
Property, plant and equipment and mineral properties  36,848 34,178 
Refundable tax credits  1,856 1,016 
Non-refundable tax credits  4,629 5,446 
  43,425 40,640 
Deferred income tax liabilities  $ 36,918 $ 35,378 

 
  



Aurizon Mines Ltd. Annual Report 2011 |  Page 88

 

Aurizon Mines Ltd. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2011 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
 
 

 

18. SHARE CAPITAL 

a) Authorized 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value.  

Unlimited number of preferred shares without par value of which 8,050,000 are designated as series "A" convertible preferred shares 
(Issued - none) and 1,135,050 are designated as series "B" convertible preferred shares (Issued - none). 

b) Issued and fully paid   
Common Shares   Shares   Amount   
  (000’s)   
Outstanding as at January 1, 2010  159,008   $  253,874   
Exercise of share options  2,923   9,887   
Fair value of share options exercised  -    4,316   
Mineral property payments  214   1,600   
Outstanding as at December 31, 2010  162,145    269,677   
Exercise of share options 927   3,102 
Fair value of share options exercised -    1,386 
Outstanding as at December 31, 2011  163,072    $  274,165   

 
c) Share-based compensation 
 
The Company has a share-based compensation plan for key employees, directors, and officers of the Company. In accordance with the 
terms of the plan, as approved by shareholders’ resolution dated May 13, 2010 and amended by Directors’ resolutions dated November 3, 
2010, key employees, directors, and officers of the Company may be granted options to purchase ordinary shares at an exercise price to 
be determined by the Directors at the time the option is granted, provided that such price not be less than the closing price of the common 
shares for the Company on the TSX on the trading day immediately preceding the date of the grant of the option or if there was no trade of 
the Company’s common shares on such date, on the last day on which there was a trade.  Under the terms of the plan, options that are 
granted are subject to a three year vesting period, where 25% of the options vest on the grant date, and subsequent tranches of 25% of 
the options vest on each of the first, second, and third anniversaries of the grant date. The maximum term of options granted under the 
plan is five years, and may only be settled in equity. The number of options granted is determined by the Board of Directors and the total 
of the options issued may not exceed 7% of the total number of common shares then outstanding on a non-diluted basis.  As at December 
31, 2011, the maximum number of awards available to be granted under the plan is 11.4 million shares (granted: 10.9 million). The status 
of stock options granted to employees and directors as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the changes during the years ended on those 
dates is presented below: 

 
 Year ended December 31, 2011       Year ended December 31, 2010 

 Number of 
Options 

Weighted-average 
exercise price 

 Number of 
Options 

Weighted-average
exercise price 

 (000’s)       (000’s)      

Outstanding at beginning of year 9,670      $5.05  7,949      $3.75 
Granted 2,541      $6.11  4,695        6.21 
Exercised (927)     $3.35  (2,923)       3.38 
Expired or forfeited (374)     $5.31  (51)       4.13 
Outstanding at end of year 10,910      $5.43  9,670      $5.05 

Vested and exercisable at the end of the year 7,156      $5.00  5,913      $4.50 
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18. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
c) Share-based compensation (continued) 
 
During 2011, 927,325 options were exercised at an average price of $3.35 per share (2010 – 2,923,250 shares at $3.38 per share).  The 
weighted average market share price at the time of exercise during 2011 was $6.28 per share (2010 - $6.44 per share). The following 
shows the vested and exercisable share options, and total outstanding share options, by exercise price range, as at December 31, 2011: 

 
During 2011, incentive stock options were granted to officers and employees to purchase up to 2,541,500 shares at a weighted average 
exercise price of $6.11 per share.  The weighted average fair value of the options granted was estimated as $2.70 per share option using 
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.  The total estimated stock based compensation cost associated with these grants is $6.4 million, 
of which $1.7 million was expensed immediately based on the options that vested immediately on the grant dates.  The remaining cost of 
$4.7 million shall be charged to earnings over the vesting period with a corresponding credit to stock based compensation.   
 
In addition to the stock based compensation charges totalling $1.7 million (2010 - $4.5 million) relating to options granted during the year 
that vested immediately on the grant dates as detailed above, additional stock based compensation charges totalling $4.8 million (2010 - 
$3.5 million) relating to the vesting period accruals for all unexpired option grants have been charged to operations.  The total aggregate 
stock based compensation charge for the current year is $6.5 million (2010 - $7.6 million). 
 
The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant based on the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following 
weighted-average assumptions used for grants: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Black-Scholes and other option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions. The expected life of the options is 
based upon the average length of time similar option grants in the past have remained outstanding prior to exercise. Volatility was 
estimated based upon historical price observations over the expected life of the options. Changes in the subjective input can materially 
affect the fair value estimate and therefore do not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of the Company’s stock options. 
 
As at December 31, 2011, there are 0.5 million stock options available for granting (2010 – 1.7 million) in accordance with the provisions in 
the Company’s stock option plan. 

 
 

Vested and exercisable options All outstanding options 

Exercise price 
range 

Vested and 
exercisable 

options 

Remaining 
contractual 
life (years) 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

Exercise price 
range 

Outstanding 
options 

Remaining 
contractual 
life (years) 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$2.00 - $2.99 1,093 1.9 $2.95 $2.38 - $2.99 1,093 1.9 $2.95 
$3.00 - $3.99 788 0.6 $3.81 $3.00 - $3.99 788 0.6 $3.81 
$4.00 - $4.99 2,001 1.9 $4.53 $4.00 - $4.99 2,632 2.2 $4.61 
$5.00 - $5.99 1,176 1.9 $5.12 $5.00 - $5.99 1,297 2.0 $5.12 
$6.00 - $6.99 925 4.1 $6.10 $6.00 - $6.99 2,875 4.6 $6.10 
$7.00 - $7.59 1,173 3.9 $7.53 $7.00 - $7.59 2,225 3.9 $7.52 

Totals 7,156 2.4 $5.00 Totals 10,910 3.0 $5.43 

 2011 2010 
Expected volatility 60% 63% 

Risk-free interest rate 1.10% 1.96% 

Expected lives 3.7 
Years 

3.3 
Years 

Pre-vest forfeiture rate 4.8% 2.3% 

Dividend yield Nil Nil 
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19.  EXPENSES BY NATURE  
 December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010
    
Cost of sales:  
  Operating costs $   77,814 $   69,569
  Depreciation and amortization expense relating to operations 38,927 34,060
  Employee wages and benefits included in cost of sales 10,984 9,094
Total cost of sales $ 127,725 $ 112,723
 
 

 

Exploration costs (1):   
  Exploration $ 25,082 $ 14,916
  Employee wages and benefits 1,386 727
Total exploration costs: $ 26,468 $ 15,643
  
General and administrative costs:  
  Employee wages and benefits (2) $   6,577 $  4,219
  Professional and regulatory fees 1,829 1,329
  Donations 497 472
  Office and administration costs 2,500 1,592
  Marketing and corporate development 1,618 1,774
  Share-based compensation 6,526 7,564
Total general and administration costs $ 19,547 $16,950  

  
(1) Net of refundable and non-refundable tax credits; 
(2) Employee wages and benefits within general and administrative costs include charges relating to fluctuations in the fair value of 
estimated future costs associated with an employee incentive plan (note 17b) for the discovery and acquisition of Casa Berardi totalling 
$0.5 million (2010 - $nil). 
 
 

20. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS  
 

 December 31, 
2011 

December 31, 
2010

  
Finance income  
Interest income on cash and short-term investments $  1,538  $  719 
     
Finance costs      
ARO liability accretion  $ (427) $ (750)
Standby fees – revolving credit facility (150) -  
Amortization of deferred finance costs (344) -  
Total finance costs $ (921) $ (750)
  
Other derivative gains  (losses)  
Realized derivative losses $ (192) $ (13,013)
Non-cash derivative gains (losses) 357  8,611 
Total other derivative gains (losses) $ 165  $ (4,402)

 
 

Cash earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term investments comprise treasury bills and bankers’ 
acceptance notes with maturities at the date of acquisition of less than three months, bearing interest at rates between 0.74% and 1.08% 
(2010: Treasury bills and bankers’ acceptance notes bearing interest between 0.91% and 1.03%). 
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21. COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

The remuneration of directors and members of key management personnel during the year was as follows: 
 

 December 31,  
2011 

December 31, 
2010

   
Wages and short-term benefits $  2,555 $  2,040
Share-based compensation 3,565 4,730
 $  6,120 $  6,770
  

  
 
22. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

a) Basic 
 
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the net profit (loss) for the year attributable to equity owners of the Company by 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. The calculation excludes out-of-the money stock options 
that are anti-dilutive and could potentially dilute EPS calculations in the future. 
 December 31, 

2011
December 31, 

2010
   
Net profit (excluding OCI) $ 43,931 $ 17,240

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (thousands) 162,623 160,250
Basic earnings per share $ 0.27 $ 0.10
 

b) Diluted 
 

Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for dilutive instruments and is 
computed using the treasury stock method. The Company’s potentially dilutive instruments comprise stock options granted to employees. 
The calculation excludes out-of-the money stock options that are anti-dilutive and could potentially dilute EPS calculations in the future. 
 
 December 31, 

2011
December 31, 

2010
   
Net profit (excluding OCI) $ 43,931 $ 17,240

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (thousands) 162,623 160,250
Adjustments for: 

- Stock Options 1,751 1,900
Weighted average number of common shares for diluted earnings per share (thousands) 164,374 162,150
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.26 $ 0.10
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23.  CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 

a) Analysis of other operating activities 
 December 31,  

2011 
December 31,

 2010
   
Accretion charges on asset retirement obligations $    427  $   750 
Recognition of fair value of future employee incentives 506  -   
Non-cash inventory adjustments (778) 106 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 171  74 
Amortization of deferred finance costs 150  -   
Workers’ compensation adjustments 117  (140)
Mineral property write-down 25  -   
Inventory adjustment for obsolete items 459  117 
 $  1,077 $  907  
 
  

b)  Analysis of change in non-cash working capital items 
 December 31, 

 2011 
December 31,

 2010
   
Current provincial resource taxes payable $  13,267  ($  3,752)
Non-refundable tax assets 8,968  (10,673)
Current income taxes payable 5,071  -   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,379  1,422 
Refundable tax assets (1,781) 862 
Accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, and advances (1,071) (2,432)
Supplies inventory (1,230) (369)
Gold inventory 769  181 
Non-cash adjustment to workers’ compensation receivable -    301 
Decrease (increase) in non-cash working capital items $27,372  $  (14,460) 

 
 

c)  Analysis of other investing activities 
 December 31, 

 2011 
December 31,

 2010
   
Reclamation deposits ($  418) ($  284)
Marketable securities (500) (750)
Project deposit – Hydro Quebec -    (330)
 ($  918) ($  1,364)

 
 

d)  Non-cash investing activities 
 

During 2011, the Company did not incur any significant non-cash investing activities.  In 2010, the Company issued 214 thousand 
common shares at a fair market value of $1.6 million to Alexandria Minerals Corporation (“Alexandria”), in accordance with the 
provisions of the property option agreement in respect of the Alexandria claims within the Joanna property. 

 
 
  



Aurizon Mines Ltd. Annual Report 2011  | Page 93

 

Aurizon Mines Ltd. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2011 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
 
 

 

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 

Classification of Financial Instruments  
 
The Company has classified cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and other receivables, and reclamation and other deposits 
as loans and receivables which are measured at amortized cost.  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other liabilities 
which are measured at amortized cost.  Derivative instruments are classified as fair value through profit and loss and marketable 
securities are classified as available for sale, both of which are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value.    
 
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, reclamation and other deposits, accounts receivable and other receivables, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to the short periods until settlement.  
 
Fair Value Hierarchy  
 
Financial instruments recognized at fair value on the Balance Sheet must be classified in one of the following three fair value hierarchy 
levels:  
 

• Level 1 – measurement based on quoted prices (unadjusted) observed in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
• Level 2 – measurement based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly;  
• Level 3 – measurement based on inputs that are not observable (supported by little or no market activity) for the asset or liability.  

 
The only items recognized at fair value on the Balance Sheets were derivative instruments and marketable securities. The fair value of 
derivative instruments is based on quoted market prices for comparable contracts and represents the amount the Company would have 
received from, or paid to, a counterparty to unwind the contract at the market rates in effect at the balance sheet dates and therefore 
derivative instruments are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. As at December 31, 2011 derivative assets were recorded 
on the balance sheet for $357 thousand (December 31, 2010 - nil).  The fair value of marketable securities is based on quoted market 
prices of the instrument at the balance sheet date and therefore are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.  As at December 
31, 2011 marketable securities totalling $864 thousand were recorded on the balance sheet (December 31, 2010 - $1,129 thousand).  
 
Financial risk factors 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price risk, interest rate risk, and foreign currency 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the board of directors. 
Management identifies and evaluates the financial risks in co-operation with the Company’s operating units. The board provides written 
principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, 
credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity. The 
Company’s overall risk management program seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. 
 
a) Price risk 
 
The Company is subject to price risk for fluctuations in the market price of gold. Gold prices are affected by numerous factors beyond the 
Company’s control, including central bank sales, the relative exchange rate of the US dollar with other major currencies, global and 
regional demand and political and economic conditions. Worldwide gold production levels also affect prices, and the price of gold is 
occasionally subject to rapid short-term changes due to speculative activities. The Company has elected not to actively manage its 
exposure to gold price risk at this time. From time to time, the Company may use commodity price contracts to manage its exposure to 
fluctuations in the price of gold.  
 
Other price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices.  
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
Financial risk factors (continued) 
 
b) Interest rate risk 
 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents bear interest at fixed rates and have maturities as described in Note 5.  The risk of investing 
cash equivalents into fixed interest rate investments is mitigated by the short terms in which the investments mature.  This way, the 
Company can adapt its investment strategy in the event of any large fluctuations in the prevailing market rates.   
 
 
Based on the interest rates in effect on all cash and cash equivalents balances as at December 31, 2011, a decrease in interest rates of 
100 basis points, or 1%, would cause a decrease in cash flows totalling $1.8 million (2010: $1.2 million) over the next twelve months.  An 
increase in interest rates of 100 basis points, or 1%, would cause an increase in cash flows totalling $2.1 million (2010: $1.3 million) over 
the next twelve months.  The difference between the fluctuation downward and upward is due to the fact that certain cash balances held 
by the Company earned interest at a rate of less than 1% as at December 31, 2011. 
 
 
c) Foreign currency risk 

 
The Company’s revenues are received in United States dollars (USD), and as such, is subject to foreign currency risk which increases or 
decreases based on the currency exchange rate between the USD and the Canadian dollar.  The Company may, from time to time, enter 
into short-term currency forward contracts to benefit from a guaranteed exchange rate on certain portions of its revenue.   
 
As at December 31, 2011, the Company is exposed to foreign currency risk with cash held in US dollars of $14,057 (December 31, 2010: 
US dollars $10,329). Based on the exposure as at December 31, 2011, and assuming all other variables remain constant, an appreciation 
or depreciation of 10% of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar would result in a gain or loss of $1.4 million in the Company’s profit 
before income taxes (2010: $1.0 million).  
 
d) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk that a third party might fail to fulfill its performance obligations under the terms of a financial instrument.  Financial 
instruments that are potentially exposed to credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents, and accounts receivable.  The Company 
mitigates credit risk by investing its cash and cash equivalents with Schedule I banks in Canada.  Schedule I banks are domestic banks 
and are authorized under the Bank Act to accept deposits, which may be eligible for deposit insurance provided by the Canadian Deposit 
Insurance Corporation.  As at Dec 31, 2011, approximately 46% of the Company's cash and cash equivalents are held with one financial 
institution (2010: 69%). The Company considers this to be its only significant credit risk exposure.  
 
The Company sells gold via bullion traders and as such, incurs a credit risk related to a two day collection period between delivery of 
bullion and receipt of funds.  
 
e) Liquidity risk management 

 
The Company has established a liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Company’s short, medium and long-term 
funding and liquidity management requirements. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate working capital, obtaining 
borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets 
and liabilities. 
 
As at December 31, 2011 the Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities totalled $25.8 million, all of which fall due for payment 
within one year of the balance sheet date.  
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25. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company’s capital management objectives are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to pursue the operation 
of its producing property as well as the development of its other mineral properties.  Capital management consists of optimizing the debt 
and equity balances to maximize returns for stakeholders. 
   
The capital structure of the Company consists of equity components consisting of capital stock, stock based compensation and 
contributed surplus.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue new shares or enter into new debt 
arrangements. 
   
The Company is currently subject to covenants on the revolving credit facility described in Note 12.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011 there has been no change in the overall capital management strategy employed by the 
Company.   
 
 

26. TRANSITION TO IFRS   
 

For all years up to and including the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company prepared its financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“CGAAP”). These financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, are 
the first annual financial statements prepared by the Company in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB. 
 
Exemptions applied 
 
IFRS 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the general principal of retrospective restatement. The Company has elected to 
use the following exemptions: 
 
• IFRS 2 Share-based payments - The Company has elected to use the transition exemption available to not retrospectively apply the 

IFRS 2 calculation method to any share options granted after November 7, 2002 and vested before January 1, 2010. 
 
• The Company has elected to apply the exemption from full retrospective application of decommissioning provisions as allowed under 

IFRS 1. As such, the Company has re-measured the provisions as at January 1, 2010 under IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets, estimated the amount to be included in the cost of the related asset by discounting the liability to the date at which the 
liability first arose using best estimates of the historical risk-adjusted discount rates, and recalculated the accumulated depreciation, 
amortization and amortization under IFRS up to the transition date. 

 
• IAS 23 (R) ‘Borrowing Costs’ – The Company has elected to apply the exemption from full retrospective application. 

 
IFRS transition statements  
 
For comparative purposes, the Company has prepared IFRS transition statement reconciliations from CGAAP to IFRS presented in this 
note for the opening balance sheet on January 1, 2010, and the year ended December 31, 2010. There were no IFRS transition 
adjustments that affected the comparative information in the statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2010. The first, 
second and third quarter IFRS transition statement reconciliations from CGAAP to IFRS for the 2010 comparatives were presented in 
each of the respective quarterly financial statements filed throughout 2011. 
 
Following these statements are explanatory notes to the principal adjustments made by the Company in restating its previous CGAAP 
statements into IFRS.  
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26. TRANSITION TO IFRS (Continued) 
 

Transition to IFRS – Reconciliation of Balance Sheet as at January 1, 2010 
 

(Expressed in thousands of  
Canadian dollars) Note 

Previous 
CGAAP 

IFRS 
Reclassification 

IFRS 
Adjustment IFRS 

ASSETS  
Current assets  
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 113,098  $           -  $           -  $ 113,098  
 Inventories  11,897  -  -  11,897  
 Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses   4,825  -  -  4,825  
 Derivative instrument assets   5,274  -  - 5,274  
 Tax credits receivable  2,587  -  -  2,587  
Total current assets  137,681  -  - 137,681  
   
Non-current assets  
 Property, plant and equipment ii, vi 53,691  115,008  (4,723) 163,976  
 Mineral properties vi 117,370  (115,008) -  2,362  
 Other assets   14,551  -  -  14,551  

Total non-current assets  185,612  -  (4,723) 180,889  

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 323,293  $          -  ($ 4,723) $ 318,570  
   
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  
  
Current liabilities  
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 16,451  $           -  $           -  $ 16,451  
 Derivative instrument liabilities   13,885  -  -  13,885  
 Current portion of long-term obligations  652  -  -  652  
 Current provincial resource taxes payable vii 3,752  (3,752)  -  -  
 Current tax liabilities  vii -  3,752  -  3,752  
 Current portion of future income and resource tax 

liability iii 1,275  (1,275) -  -  

Total current liabilities  36,015  (1,275) - 34,740  
     
Non-current liabilities    
 Long-term obligations   705  -  -  705  
 Asset retirement obligation vii 21,816  (21,816) -  -  
 Provisions  ii -  21,816  1,439  23,255  
 Future income and resource tax liabilities iii 29,120 (29,120) - -  
 Deferred tax liabilities  iii - 30,395  (2,245) 28,150  
Total non-current liabilities  51,641  1,275  (806) 52,110  
Total liabilities  87,656  -  (806) 86,850  
  
   Shareholders’ equity  
      Issued capital iv, v 247,365  6,509  -  253,874  
 Contributed surplus  979  -  -  979  
 Stock-based compensation i 10,178  -  336  10,514  
 Deficit i, ii, iii, iv, v (22,885) (6,509) (4,253) (33,647) 
Total shareholders’ equity 235,637 -  (3,917) 231,720
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  $ 323,293  $           -  ($ 4,723) $ 318,570  
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Aurizon Mines Ltd. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2011 

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
 
 

 

26. TRANSITION TO IFRS (Continued) 
Transition to IFRS – Reconciliation of Balance Sheet as at December 31, 2010 

 
(Expressed in thousands of  
Canadian dollars) Note 

Previous 
CGAAP 

IFRS 
Reclassification 

IFRS 
Adjustment IFRS 

ASSETS  
Current assets  
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 139,341 $           -  $           -  $ 139,341  
 Marketable securities  1,129  -  -  1,129  
 Inventories  12,085  -  -  12,085  
 Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses   7,258  -  -  7,258  
 Derivative instrument assets   -  -  -  -  
 Tax credits receivable  12,398  -  -  12,398  
Total current assets  172,211  -  - 172,211  
   
Non-current assets  
 Property, plant and equipment ii, vi 40,841  115,314  (4,142)  152,012  
 Mineral properties vi 119,534  (115,314) -  4,220  
 Other assets   8,100  -  -  8,100  

Total non-current assets  168,475  -  (4,142)  164,332  

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 340,686  $          -  $ (4,142)  $ 336,543  
   
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  
  
Current liabilities  
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 18,905  $           -  $           -  $ 18,905  
 Derivative instrument liabilities   -  -  -  -  
 Current portion of long-term obligations  756  -  -  756  
 Current provincial resource taxes payable  -  -  -  -  
 Current tax liabilities   -  -  -  -  
 Current portion of future income and resource tax 

liability 
iii 
 

3,389  (3,389) -  -

Total current liabilities  23,050  (3,389) -  19,661  
      
Non-current liabilities    
 Long-term obligations   -  -  -  -  
 Asset retirement obligation ii 11,532  (11,532) -  -  
 Provisions  ii -  11,532  1,582  13,114  
 Future income and resource tax liabilities iii 34,488 (34,488) - -  
 Deferred tax liabilities  iii - 37,877  (2,499) 35,378  
Total non-current liabilities  46,020  3,389  (917)  48,492  
Total liabilities  69,069  -  (917)  68,153  
  
   Shareholders’ equity  
      Issued capital iv, v 263,168  6,509  - 269,677  
 Contributed surplus  1,022  -  - 1,022  
 Stock-based compensation i 13,800  -  (81) 13,719  
 Accumulated OCI  379  -  -  379  
 Deficit i, ii, iii, iv, v (6,752) (6,509)  (3,145) (16,407) 
Total shareholders’ equity 271,617 -  (3,226) 268,390
   
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  $ 340,686  $          -  ($ 4,142) $ 336,543  
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26. TRANSITION TO IFRS (Continued) 
 

Transition to IFRS – Reconciliation of Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended December 31, 2010  

 
(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise 
stated) 

Note Previous GAAP IFRS 
Reclassifications 

IFRS 
Adjustments IFRS 

  
       
 Revenue   $ 178,743  $          -  $          -  $ 178,743  
 Costs of sales  vii -  (112,873) 150  (112,723) 

Gross profit  178,743 (112,873) 150  66,020  
       
 Less:      
 Operating  vii 78,663  (78,663) -  -  
 Depreciation, amortization and 

accretion  
vii

35,434  (35,434) -  -  

 Other income  vii -  -  -  -  
 Exploration  vii 15,643  -  -  15,643  
 General and administration costs  i, vii 17,177  188  (415) 16,950  
 Loss on derivative financial 

instruments  
vii

4,402  (4,402) -  -  

 Foreign exchange gain/loss  vii (1,541) 1,541  -  -  
 Capital taxes  vii (343) 343  -  -  
 Non-refundable tax credits  vii -  -    -  -  
 Other gains or losses (net)   vii (991) (1,166) -  (2,157) 

Net operating income before 
finance and taxation 

  
30,299  (4,719) 565 35,584  

       
Add:       
Finance income   vii -  719  - 719  
Finance costs   ii, vii -  (5,438) 286  (5,152) 
Net income before income tax   30,299  -  851  31,151  

         
 Current provincial resource taxes  vii (6,684) 6,684  -  -  
 Future provincial resource taxes  vii (7,482) 7,482  -  -  
 Future income taxes  vii -  -  -  -  
 Income tax expense   vii -  (14,166)  256 (13,911)  

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR  $ 16,133  $          -  $ 1,107  $ 17,240  
       
Other comprehensive Income       
Unrealized gain on marketable 
securities  

 379  -  -  379  

NET COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR  

 $ 16,512  $          -  $ 1,107  $ 17,619  
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26. TRANSITION TO IFRS (Continued) 
 

Restatement Notes 
 
(i) IFRS 2 adjustment 

Share options issued by the Company have a specific vesting schedule which is treated differently under IFRS compared to Canadian 
GAAP.  The Company has reviewed the Canadian GAAP share-based compensation calculation methods and adjusted the methods 
to take into account the required IFRS compliant changes. The Company has also elected to use the transition exemption available 
under IFRS 1 to not retrospectively apply the new calculation method to any share option tranche that was granted after November 7, 
2002 and which vested before January 1, 2010.  

 
(ii) Asset retirement obligation (“ARO”) adjustment 

Canadian GAAP calculates ARO using current credit-adjusted, risk-free rates for upward adjustments, and the original credit-adjusted, 
risk free rate for downward revisions. The original liability was not adjusted for changes in current discount rates. IFRS however, 
calculates ARO using a current pre-tax discount rate, (which reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the 
risk specific to liability) and is revised every reporting year to reflect changes in assumptions or discount rates.  

To calculate the ARO liability and long-lived asset under IFRS, the Company has elected to apply the exemption available from full 
retrospective application as allowed under IFRS 1. As such, the Company has re-measured the rehabilitation liability as at January 1, 
2010 and subsequent change in obligations under IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets, estimating the 
amount to be included in the related asset by discounting the liability to the date of first disturbance in which the liability arose, using 
best estimates of the historical risk-free discount rates, and recalculating the accumulated depreciation and amortization under IFRS. 
In addition, under Canadian GAAP, the unwinding of the discount was presented within the depreciation and amortization expense, 
and has now been reclassified to finance costs as required under IFRS. 

 
(iii) Deferred tax 

Under Canadian GAAP, deferred taxation assets were classified between current and non-current based on the classification of the 
underlying asset and liabilities that gave rise to the differences. IAS 12 Income taxes requires that all deferred taxation amounts be 
classified as non-current. 

Deferred taxes have also been adjusted for the changes to accounting base values arising as a result of the adjustments for first time 
adoption of IFRS. 
 

(iv) Flow-through shares 
Flow-through shares are a unique Canadian income tax incentive which were subject to specific guidance under Canadian GAAP and 
US GAAP; however, there is no equivalent IFRS guidance. In the absence of specific guidance, the Company has adopted the 
approach to account for flow-through shares such that amounts resulting from the renunciation of flow-through expenditures will no 
longer be reflected as a reduction of share capital. 

 
(v) Share issuance costs  

Under IFRS, any private placements undertaken require the amount credited to share capital to be the net amount of cash that has 
been raised, plus the value of any tax benefit. The Company has reviewed all prior private placements, share issuance costs and 
effective annual tax rates, and calculated an IFRS adjustment for the value of the tax benefit previously recorded to deficit under 
Canadian GAAP. 
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26. TRANSITION TO IFRS (Continued) 
 

Restatement notes (continued) 
 
(vi) Property, plant and equipment 
Upon transition to IFRS, producing mineral properties are now presented in property, plant and equipment in accordance with IAS 16 
Property, plant and equipment. Exploration and evaluation assets continue to be classified as mineral properties as per the requirements 
of IFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources. 
 
(vii) Presentation changes 
The transition to IFRS resulted in numerous financial statement presentation changes (‘reclassifications’), most noticeably on the 
statement of comprehensive income when compared to the previous Canadian GAAP statement of earnings. These reclassifications have 
been identified in the reconciliations contained within this note and have no impact on the final equity position of the Company. To help our 
shareholders understand these presentation changes easily we have provided an additional analysis below: 
 
• Expenses by function – the statement of comprehensive income now presents expenses by function. Accordingly, depreciation and 

amortization is no longer presented as a separate line item but is included in cost of sales; 
• Cost of sales – is presented above the line with revenue to show a gross profit for operations; 
• Other losses (gains) – includes items the Company considers part of the operations of our business such as loss (gain) on sale of 

property, plant and equipment, foreign exchange gains, capital taxes and royalty income; 
• Finance income – as required by IFRS, includes interest received from investments and is now presented after operating profit; 
• Finance expenses – as required by IFRS, includes accretion, amortization of deferred finance costs, and finance charges; 
• Other derivative gains -  realized and non-cash derivative gains and losses are now presented after operating profit; 
• Income tax expense – is now presented as one line item. Disclosure of the individual components is included in note 17. 
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INFORMATION

This	Annual	Report	contains	“forward-looking	statements”	and	“forward-looking	information”	within	the	meaning	of	applicable	securities	regulations	in	Canada	
and	the	United	States	(collectively,	“forward-looking	information”).		The	forward-looking	information	contained	in	this	Annual	Report	is	made	as	of	the	date	
of	this	report.		Except	as	required	under	applicable	securities	legislation,	the	Company	does	not	intend,	and	does	not	assume	any	obligation,	to	update	this	
forward-looking	information.		

Forward-looking	information	relating	to	the	Company's	Casa	Berardi	project	includes	2012	production	estimates,	anticipated	average	daily	ore	throughput,	
total	cash	costs	per	ounce,	and	milling	and	administration	costs.	 	This	 information	 is	based	on	assumptions	 that	 the	Company	believes	are	reasonable,	
including	but	not	 limited	 to	 that	 that	 the	Company’s	current	mine	plan	can	be	achieved,	general	business	and	economic	conditions	will	not	change	 in	a	
material	adverse	manner,	material,	equipment	and	labour	costs	and	currency	exchange	rates	will	remain	stable,	and	that	the	Company	will	not	experience	any	
material	accident,	labour	dispute,	or	failure	of	plant	or	equipment.		Forward-looking	information	relating	to	the	Joanna	project	includes	statements	regarding	
the	Company’s	expectations	as	to	timing	of	completion	of	the	feasibility	study,	the	impact	on	previously	estimated	capital	and	unit	operating	costs	of	changes	
in	the	scope	of	the	project	including	but	not	limited	to	the	impact	of	the	increased	mineral	resource	base	and	selection	of	an	autoclave	recovery	process	and	
processing	of	ore	on-site,	the	anticipated	effect	of	the	latter	in	mitigating	risks	associated	with	the	project,	and	plans	and	budgets	for	exploration	activities	in	
the	area	of	the	Heva	deposit.		

Forward-looking	 information	 is	 by	 its	 nature	uncertain	 and	 involves	 foreseeable	 and	unforeseeable	 risks	and	other	 factors	which	may	 cause	 the	actual	
outcomes,	costs,	timing,	and	performance	to	be	materially	different	from	those	anticipated	by	such	information.		In	relation	to	the	Casa	Berardi	forward-looking	
information,	such	factors	include,	among	others,	the	risk	that	some	or	all	of	the	assumptions	on	which	such	information	is	based	prove	to	be	invalid	including	
that	the	cost	of	labour,	equipment	or	materials,	including	power,	will	increase	more	than	expected,	that	the	price	of	gold	will	decline,	that	the	Canadian	dollar	
will	strengthen	against	the	U.S.	dollar,	that	mineral	reserves	or	mineral	resources	are	not	as	estimated,	unexpected	occurrences	that	affect	rates	of	production,	
including	failure	or	disruption	to	plant,	process	or	equipment,	labour	unrest,	unexpected	variations	in	ore	reserves,	grade	or	recovery	rates,	or	accidents,	that	
actual	costs	or	actual	results	of	reclamation	activities	are	greater	than	expected.	In	relation	to	the	forward-looking	information	on	the	Joanna	project,	factors	
and	risks	that	could	materially	affect	such	expectations	and	information	include	the	possibility	that	changes	in	project	parameters	as	plans	continue	to	be	
refined,	including	as	a	result	of	third	party	review	and	the	results	of	studies	remaining	to	be	completed,	could	have	a	material	negative	or	positive	impact	on	
capital	and	operating	costs,	resource	and	reserves	calculations,	and	timing	of	completion	of	the	feasibility	study	and	the	impact	could	be	material,	that	any	of	
the	information	available	to	the	Company	to	date	proves	to	be	inaccurate,	that	mineral	resource	and	reserves	are	not	as	estimated,	or	that	changes	in	laws	
relating	to	permitting,	construction,	environmental	and	other	matters	occur	that	affect	timing,	costs,	and	economics	of	the	project	as	presently	conceived.		

There	are	a	number	of	other	risks	and	uncertainties	associated	with	exploration,	development	and	mining	activities	 that	may	affect	 the	reliability	of	such	
forward-looking	information	including	those	described	in	Aurizon’s	Annual	Information	Form	("AIF")	filed	with	the	securities	commission	of	all	of	the	provinces	
and	territories	of	Canada	and	in	Aurizon’s	Annual	Report	on	Form	40-F	filed	with	the	United	States	Securities	and	Exchange	Commission	("40-F"),	which	are	
available	on	Sedar	at	www.sedar.com	and	on	Edgar	at	www.sec.gov.		

In	addition	to	the	above,	please	refer	 to	the	factors	 identified	under	Risks	and	uncertainties	on	pages	52	–	54	of	 this	report.	You	should	read	this	report	
completely	and	with	the	understanding	that	our	actual	future	results	may	be	materially	different	from	what	we	expect.			

There	may	be	factors	in	addition	to	those	described	herein	or	in	the	AIF	and	40-F	that	cause	actions,	events	or	results	to	not	be	as	anticipated,	estimated	
or	intended.	Readers	are	cautioned	not	to	place	undue	reliance	on	forward-looking	information	due	to	the	inherent	uncertainty	thereof.		We	do	not	intend	to	
update	these	forward-looking	statements	except	as	required	by	law.		We	qualify	all	of	our	forward-looking	statements	by	these	cautionary	statements.

CAUTIONARY NOTE TO US READERS AND INVESTORS 
As	a	British	Columbia	corporation,	 the	Company	 is	subject	 to	certain	 rules	and	 regulations	 issued	by	 the	British	Columbia	Securities	Commission	 (“BC	
Securities	Commission”).		The	Company	is	required	to	provide	detailed	information	regarding	its	properties	including	mineralization,	drilling,	sampling	and	
analysis,	security	of	samples	and	mineral	resource	and	mineral	reserve	estimates.		Further,	the	Company	describes	mineral	resources	associated	with	its	
properties	utilizing	terminology	such	as	“indicated”	or	“inferred”	which	terms	are	recognized	by	Canadian	regulations	but	are	not	recognized	by	the	United	
States	Securities	and	Exchange	Commission	(“SEC”).

Cautionary Note to U.S. Readers and Investors Regarding Mineral Resources 
The	SEC	allows	mining	companies,	in	their	filings	with	the	SEC,	to	disclose	only	those	mineral	deposits	they	can	economically	and	legally	extract	or	produce.		
The	Company	may	use	certain	 terms	 in	 this	Annual	Report,	such	as	“mineral	resources”,	“indicated	mineral	resources”	and	“inferred	resources”	 that	are	
recognized	and	mandated	by	Canadian	securities	regulators	but	are	not	recognized	by	the	SEC.
	
This	Annual	Report	may	use	the	term	“indicated”	resources.		U.S.	readers	and	investors	are	cautioned	that	while	that	term	is	recognized	and	required	by	
Canadian	regulations,	the	SEC	does	not	recognize	it.		 U.S. readers and investors are cautioned not to assume that any part or all of mineral 
deposits in this category will ever be converted into mineral reserves.

This	Annual	Report	may	also	use	the	term	"inferred”	resources.		U.S.	readers	are	cautioned	that	while	this	term	is	recognized	and	required	by	Canadian	
regulations,	the	SEC	does	not	recognize	it.		"Inferred	resources"	have	a	great	amount	of	uncertainty	as	to	their	existence,	and	great	uncertainty	as	to	their	
economic	and	legal	feasibility.		It	cannot	be	assumed	that	all	or	any	part	of	an	Inferred	Mineral	Resource	will	ever	be	upgraded	to	a	higher	category.		Under	
Canadian	rules,	estimates	of	Inferred	Mineral	Resources	may	not	form	the	basis	of	feasibility	or	pre-feasibility	studies,	except	in	rare	cases.		U.S. readers 
and investors are cautioned not to assume that part or all of an inferred resource exists, or is economically or legally mineable.
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Indicators Description Pages in this report/Direct answer

1.1 Statement of senior officer of organization 4

2.1 Name of organization Aurizon Mines Ltd. 

2.2 Primary brands, main products and/or services Inside Cover

2.3 Operational structure of organization 13

2.4 Location of organization’s headquarters Inside Cover, 14

2.5 Number of countries where organization is active Only in Canada

2.6 Capital structure and legal form See Aurizon's Annual Information 
Form on www.sedar.com

2.7 Markets served See Aurizon's Annual Information 
Form on www.sedar.com

2.8 Size of organization 10, 28

2.9 Significant changes in the size, structure or property There is no significant changes as 
this is Aurizon's first GRI report

2.10 Awards received during the reporting period 10, 29

3.1 Reporting period (e.g., fiscal year/calendar year) 26

3.2 Date of most recent previous report This is Aurizon`s first report

3.3 Reporting frequency (annual, biannual, etc.) 26/Annual

3.4 Contact for questions about report 26

3.5 Process for defining report content 26

3.6 Scope of report 26

3.7 Specific restrictions about the scope or extent of report 26

3.8 Basis adopted to communicate information about joint ventures, subsidiaries 26

3.10 Explanation of the impact of any restatement of information provided in previous reports This is Aurizon`s first report

3.11 Significant modifications relative to previous reports This is Aurizon`s first report

3.12 Table indicating where to find standard disclosures in report 102

4.1 Governance structure of organization www.aurizon.com

4.2 Indicate if chair of highest governance body is also an executive officer www.aurizon.com

4.3 For organizations with a unitary board structure, indicate the number of members of the highest 
governance body that are independent and/or non-executive members

www.aurizon.com

4.4 Mechanisms enabling shareholders and employees to submit recommendations to highest 
governance body

www.aurizon.com

4.14 List of stakeholder groups with whom the organization has established a dialogue 27

4.15 Basis for identification and selection of stakeholders with whom to engage in dialogue 27

Indicators Description Pages in this report

Economic performance

EC 1 Direct economic value generated and distributed, including revenues, operating costs, employee 
compensation, donations and other community investments, retained earnings, and payments to 
capital providers and governments.

33

EC 6 Policy, practices, and proportion of spending on locally-based suppliers at significant locations of 
operation.

34

Environmental performance

EN 8 Total water withdrawal by source. 31

EN 10 Percentage and total volume of water recycled and reused. 31

EN 16 Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight. 32

EN 21 Total water discharge by quality and destination. 31

MM 1 Amount of land (owned or leased, and managed for production activities or extractive use) 
disturbed or rehabilitated.

32

Social performance

LA 7 Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, and absenteeism, and number of work-related 
fatalities by region.

29

LA 10 Average hours of training per year per employee by employee category. 30

MM 10 Number and percentage of operations with closure plans. 34

GRI INDEX TABLE
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